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SUMMARY

Why Is the FASB Issuing This Statement and When Is It Effective?

The objective of this Statement is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability
of the information that a not-for-profit entity provides in its financial reports about a combination with one or
more other not-for-profit entities, businesses, or nonprofit activities. To accomplish that, this Statement estab-
lishes principles and requirements for how a not-for-profit entity:

a. Determines whether a combination is a merger or an acquisition
b. Applies the carryover method in accounting for a merger
c. Applies the acquisition method in accounting for an acquisition, including determining which of the com-

bining entities is the acquirer
d. Determines what information to disclose to enable users of financial statements to evaluate the nature and

financial effects of a merger or an acquisition.

This Statement also improves the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the infor-
mation a not-for-profit entity provides about goodwill and other intangible assets after an acquisition by
amending FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to make it fully applicable to not-
for-profit entities.

This Statement is effective for:

a. Mergers for which the merger date is on or after the beginning of an initial reporting period beginning on or
after December 15, 2009

b. Acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

It may not be applied to mergers or acquisitions before those dates.
Because the following items were not effective for not-for-profit entities upon their initial effective dates,

this Statement also provides an effective date for them:

a. Statement 142’s requirements on subsequent accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets ac-
quired in an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity (Statement 142 refers to assets acquired in a business
combination.)

b. The amendments that FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, made to ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements, and to other existing
pronouncements

c. The amendments that FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations, made to existing
pronouncements.

A not-for-profit entity shall apply those items prospectively in the first set of initial or annual financial state-
ments for a reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2009. Application before that date is
prohibited.

What Is the Scope of This Statement?

This Statement provides guidance on accounting for a combination of not-for-profit entities, which is a
transaction or other event that results in a not-for-profit entity initially recognizing another not-for-profit entity,
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a business, or a nonprofit activity in its financial statements. This Statement applies to a combination that meets
the definition of either a merger of not-for-profit entities or an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity. This State-
ment does not apply to:

a. The formation of a joint venture
b. The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute either a business or a nonprofit

activity
c. A combination between not-for-profit entities, businesses, or nonprofit activities under common control
d. A transaction or other event in which a not-for-profit entity obtains control of another entity but does not

consolidate that entity, as permitted or required by AICPA Statement of Position 94-3, Reporting of Re-
lated Entities by Not-for-Profit Organizations, or AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Health Care
Organizations.

How Will This Statement Improve Current Accounting Practice?

Until now, not-for-profit entities have accounted for mergers and acquisitions by analogizing to guidance
developed for business entities, specifically, APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations. FASB Statement
No. 141, Business Combinations, replaced Opinion 16 for business entities, and Statement 141 was itself re-
placed by Statement 141(R). However, the Board excluded not-for-profit entities from the scope of both State-
ment 141 and Statement 141(R), pending the issuance of guidance developed specifically for them. This State-
ment provides that guidance, which takes into account the unique features of not-for-profit entities and the
combinations in which they engage.

Unique Features of Not-for-Profit Entities and Their Combinations

Combinations by not-for-profit entities and combinations by business entities are similar in many ways. In
particular, acquisitions by the two types of entities are sufficiently similar that the same basic accounting
method—the acquisition method—is appropriate for both. But not-for-profit entities differ from business enti-
ties in some important ways. Thus, this project began by identifying and analyzing differences between not-
for-profit entities and business entities and the combinations in which they engage. The Board then considered
how the similarities and differences between business entities and not-for-profit entities should affect the finan-
cial accounting and reporting requirements for combinations of not-for-profit entities.

One fundamental difference between combinations of not-for-profit entities and combinations involving
only businesses has significant financial reporting implications. Because a not-for-profit entity lacks the type of
ownership interests that business entities have, negotiations in not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions generally
focus on the furtherance for the benefit of the public of the mission, governance, and programs of the entity,
rather than on maximizing returns for equity holders. Many mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit entities
do not involve a transfer of consideration. In other words, many mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit en-
tities are not fair value exchanges but rather are nonreciprocal transfers. That fundamental difference contrib-
uted significantly to this Statement’s requirement that different accounting methods apply to a merger of not-
for-profit entities and an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity. For an acquisition, those combinations result in a
contribution of the acquiree’s net assets to the acquirer, which this Statement refers to as an inherent contribu-
tion received to distinguish it from other contributions received by a not-for-profit entity.

Determining Whether a Combination Is a Merger or an Acquisition

This Statement requires use of the carryover method to account for a merger of not-for-profit entities, which
is a combination in which the governing bodies of two or more not-for-profit entities cede control of those
entities to create a new not-for-profit entity. In contrast, the acquisition method must be used to account for an
acquisition by a not-for-profit entity, which is a combination in which a not-for-profit acquirer obtains control
of one or more nonprofit activities or businesses. This Statement also provides implementation guidance on
distinguishing between a merger and an acquisition, including illustrations of how that guidance might be ap-
plied to hypothetical combinations.
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Applying the Carryover Method

Under the carryover method, the combined entity’s initial set of financial statements carry forward the as-
sets and liabilities of the combining entities, measured at their carrying amounts in the books of the combining
entities at the merger date. An entity applying the carryover method recognizes neither additional assets or li-
abilities nor changes in the fair value of recognized assets and liabilities not already recognized in the combin-
ing entities’ financial statements before the merger under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
(Exceptions are made to reflect a consistent method of accounting for the new entity if the merging entities
used different methods and to eliminate the effects of intraentity transactions.) This Statement’s guidance on
applying the carryover method improves on Opinion 16’s guidance on applying the pooling method in several
ways.

First, in Opinion 16, the measurement date—the date as of which information about the merging entities’
assets and liabilities was included in the combined entity’s financial statements—was the beginning of the pe-
riod in which the merger occurred, regardless of the actual date of the merger. The measurement date for a
merger in this Statement is the merger date—the date the combination becomes effective. The not-for-profit
entity that results from a merger is a new entity and therefore a new reporting entity. An entity’s history begins
at its inception; a new entity has no previous operations. The guidance on measurement date and related pre-
sentation issues in this Statement is consistent with the merged entity’s status as a new entity.

This Statement also provides additional guidance for the carryover method. For example, this Statement
provides guidance on how to make the classifications and designations that are required to apply other GAAP,
such as applying hedge accounting requirements. The new entity is to carry forward into the opening balances
in its financial statements the merging entities’ classifications and designations unless either:

a. The merger results in a modification of a contract in a manner that would change those previous classifica-
tions or designations; or

b. Reclassifications are necessary to conform accounting policies.

This Statement also specifies minimum disclosures to be made as of the merger date to enable users of the
new entity’s financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effect of the merger that resulted in its
formation.

Applying the Acquisition Method

The acquisition method in this Statement is the same as the acquisition method described in State-
ment 141(R), with the addition of guidance on items unique or especially significant to a not-for-profit entity
and the elimination of guidance that does not apply to a not-for-profit acquirer. For example, this Statement’s
guidance on identifying both the acquirer and the acquisition date is in substance the same as the guidance that
Statement 141(R) provides on those issues, but this Statement uses different terminology and adds a few de-
tails unique to not-for-profit entities.

Recognizing Goodwill or a Contribution Received

The area in which this Statement provides guidance that differs most in substance from that in State-
ment 141(R) is recognition of goodwill. Unlike business entities, some not-for-profit entities are solely or pre-
dominantly supported by contributions and returns on investments. Others are more “businesslike,” receiving
most, or even all, of their support from fees for services. An example of the former is a soup kitchen; an ex-
ample of the latter is a not-for-profit hospital that charges fees to cover its costs. In general, the more business-
like a not-for-profit entity, the more relevant is information about goodwill acquired to users of the entity’s
financial statements. This Statement recognizes that information about goodwill may be of limited use to do-
nors in their assessments of whether to provide resources to a not-for-profit entity. Accordingly, this Statement
requires an acquirer that expects the operations of the acquiree as part of the combined entity to be predomi-
nantly supported by contributions and returns on investments to recognize as a separate charge in its statement
of activities the amount that otherwise would be recognized as a goodwill asset as of the acquisition date. Pre-
dominantly supported by means that contributions and returns on investments are expected to be significantly
more than the total of all other sources of revenues.
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As already noted, many acquisitions by not-for-profit entities constitute an inherent contribution received
because the acquirer receives net assets without transferring consideration. This Statement requires the acquirer
to recognize such a contribution received as a separate credit in its statement of activities on the acquisition
date.

Recognizing and Measuring Noncontrolling Interests

This Statement requires that a recognized noncontrolling interest in another entity, whether a business or
another not-for-profit entity, be measured at its fair value at the acquisition date. In addition, as noted in dis-
cussing effective date, this Statement makes Statement 160’s amendments to ARB 51 effective for not-for-
profit entities. Many of those amendments deal with accounting for a noncontrolling interest after its acquisi-
tion. This Statement also provides guidance on and illustrates presentation of a noncontrolling interest in a not-
for-profit entity’s financial statements.

Other Provisions of the Acquisition Method That Are Specific to Not-for-Profit Entities

This Statement also provides other guidance on applying the acquisition method in areas that are unique or
especially significant for not-for-profit entities. For example, this Statement establishes exceptions to its recog-
nition principle for donor relationships, collections, and conditional promises to give.

This Statement also provides guidance on how to present in the statement of activities and the statement of
cash flows various items that are unique to not-for-profit entities, including the immediate charge or credit to
the statement of activities for the amount that otherwise would be recognized as goodwill or an inherent contri-
bution received, respectively. For an entity subject to the health care Guide, that guidance indicates whether
specific items are to be within the performance indicator.

Like Statement 141(R), this Statement establishes disclosure objectives for an acquisition and requires
minimum disclosures needed to meet those objectives. The disclosure objectives are the same as for a business
combination, as are many of the minimum disclosures required. But the minimum disclosures are tailored for
acquisitions by not-for-profit entities in some areas. For example, this Statement requires disclosure of the
amount of collection items acquired that are recognized in the statement of activities as a decrease in the ac-
quirer’s net assets rather than as assets in accordance with FASB Statement No. 116, Accounting for Contribu-
tions Received and Contributions Made.

How Does This Statement Affect Convergence with International Reporting Standards?

International convergence is not a consideration for financial reporting standards applicable only to not-for-
profit entities, like this one. The IASB’s standards do not deal explicitly with not-for-profit entities.
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OBJECTIVE

1. The objective of this Statement is to improve the
relevance, representational faithfulness, and compa-
rability of the information that a not-for-profit report-
ing entity provides in its financial reports about a
combination with one or more other not-for-profit
entities, businesses, or nonprofit activities. To accom-
plish that, this Statement establishes principles and
requirements for how a not-for-profit entity:

a. Determines whether a combination is a merger or
an acquisition

b. Applies the carryover method in accounting for a
merger

c. Applies the acquisition method in accounting for
an acquisition, including determining which of
the combining entities is the acquirer

d. Determines what information to disclose to en-
able users of financial statements to evaluate the
nature and financial effects of a merger or an
acquisition.

This Statement also improves the relevance, repre-
sentational faithfulness, and comparability of the in-
formation a not-for-profit entity provides about good-
will and other intangible assets after an acquisition
and changes in the noncontrolling interest in subsid-
iaries after a merger or an acquisition. To accomplish
that, it amends both FASB Statement No. 142, Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets, and ARB No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, as amended by
FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests
in Consolidated Financial Statements, to make their
provisions fully applicable to not-for-profit entities.
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All paragraphs in this Statement have equal authority.
Paragraphs in bold set out the main principles.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIALACCOUNTING
AND REPORTING

SCOPE

2. This Statement applies to a transaction or other
event that meets either the definition of a merger of
not-for-profit entities in paragraph 3(q) or the defini-
tion of an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity in
paragraph 3(c). This Statement does not apply to:

a. The formation of a joint venture
b. The acquisition of an asset or a group of assets

that does not constitute either a business or a non-
profit activity (Paragraphs A135−A140 describe
the typical accounting for an asset acquisition.)

c. A combination between not-for-profit entities,
businesses, or nonprofit activities under common
control (Paragraphs A141−A148 describe the
typical accounting for a transfer of assets or an
exchange of shares between entities under com-
mon control.)

d. A transaction or other event in which a not-for-
profit entity obtains control of another not-for-
profit entity but does not consolidate that entity,
as permitted or required by AICPA Statement of
Position 94-3, Reporting of Related Entities by
Not-for-Profit Organizations (SOP 94-3),1 or
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Health
Care Organizations (health care Guide). For ex-
ample, SOP 94-3 and the health care Guide per-
mit, but do not require, an entity to consolidate
another not-for-profit entity in which it has a con-
trolling economic interest other than a majority
ownership or voting interest, such as control
through a contract or an affiliation agreement.
Thus, if one not-for-profit entity obtains control
of another by means of a contract, for example,
but chooses not to consolidate that entity, this
Statement does not apply to the transaction in

which control was obtained. Similarly, this State-
ment does not apply if a not-for-profit entity that
obtained control in a transaction or other event in
which consolidation was permitted but not re-
quired decides in a subsequent annual reporting
period to begin consolidating a controlled entity
that it initially chose not to consolidate.

KEY TERMS

3. This Statement uses the following terms with the
specified definitions:

a. An acquiree is a business that the acquirer ob-
tains control of in a business combination or a
nonprofit activity or business that a not-for-profit
acquirer obtains control of in an acquisition.

b. The acquirer is the entity that obtains control of
the acquiree.

c. An acquisition by a not-for-profit entity is a trans-
action or other event in which a not-for-profit ac-
quirer obtains control of one or more nonprofit
activities or businesses and initially recognizes
their assets and liabilities in the acquirer’s finan-
cial statements.

d. The acquisition date is the date on which the
acquirer obtains control of the acquiree (para-
graph 3(c) of FASB Statement No. 141 (revised
2007), Business Combinations).

e. Abusiness is an integrated set of activities and as-
sets that is capable of being conducted and man-
aged for the purpose of providing a return in the
form of dividends, lower costs, or other eco-
nomic benefits directly to investors or other own-
ers, members, or participants (paragraph 3(d) of
Statement 141(R)).

f. Collections are works of art, historical treasures,
or similar assets that are all of the following:
(1) Held for public exhibition, education, or re-

search to further public service rather than fi-
nancial gain

1See paragraphs 8–14 of SOP 94-3 for related guidance.

FAS164 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS164–8



(2) Protected, kept unencumbered, cared for,
and preserved

(3) Subject to an organizational policy that re-
quires the proceeds of items that are sold to
be used to acquire other items for collections
(paragraph 209 of FASB Statement No. 116,
Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made).

g. Aconditional promise to give is a promise to give
that depends on the occurrence of a specified fu-
ture and uncertain event to bind the promisor
(paragraph 209 of Statement 116).

h. A contribution is an unconditional transfer of
cash or other assets to an entity or a settlement or
cancellation of its liabilities in a voluntary nonre-
ciprocal transfer by another entity acting other
than as an owner (paragraph 5 of Statement 116).
An inherent contribution is made if an entity vol-
untarily transfers assets (or net assets) or per-
forms services for another entity in exchange ei-
ther for no assets or for assets of substantially
lower value and unstated rights or privileges of a
commensurate value are not involved.

i. Contingent consideration usually is an obligation
of the acquirer to transfer additional assets or eq-
uity interests to the former owners or members of
an acquiree as part of the exchange for control of
the acquiree if specified future events occur or
conditions are met. However, contingent consid-
eration also may give the acquirer the right to the
return of previously transferred consideration if
specified conditions are met (paragraph 3(f) of
Statement 141(R)).

j. Control of a for-profit business has the meaning
of controlling financial interest in paragraph 2 of
ARB 51 (paragraph 3(g) of Statement 141(R)).

k. Control of a not-for-profit entity is “the direct or
indirect ability to determine the direction of man-
agement and policies through ownership, con-
tract, or otherwise” (paragraph 20 of SOP 94-3,
and paragraph 11.08 of the health care Guide).

l. The term equity interests is used broadly to mean
ownership interests of investor-owned entities;
owner, member, or participant interests of mutual
entities; and owner or member interests in the net
assets of not-for-profit entities.

m. Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an or-
derly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date (paragraph 5 of FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements).

n. Goodwill is an asset representing the future eco-
nomic benefits arising from other assets acquired

in a business combination or an acquisition by a
not-for-profit entity that are not individually iden-
tified and separately recognized (paragraph 3(j)
of Statement 141(R)).

o. An asset is identifiable if it either:
(1) Is separable, that is, capable of being sepa-

rated or divided from the entity and sold,
transferred, licensed, rented, or exchanged,
either individually or together with a related
contract, identifiable asset, or liability, re-
gardless of whether the entity intends to do
so; or

(2) Arises from contractual or other legal rights,
regardless of whether those rights are trans-
ferable or separable from the entity or from
other rights and obligations (paragraph 3(k)
of Statement 141(R)).

p. An intangible asset is an asset (not including a fi-
nancial asset) that lacks physical substance. As
used in this Statement, the term intangible asset
excludes goodwill (paragraph 3(l) of State-
ment 141(R)).

q. A merger of not-for-profit entities is a transaction
or other event in which the governing bodies of
two or more not-for-profit entities cede control of
those entities to create a new not-for-profit entity.
To cede control requires that the merging entities
not retain shared control of the new entity. To
qualify as a new entity, the combined entity must
have a newly formed governing body; a new en-
tity often is, but need not be, a new legal entity.

r. The merger date is the date on which the merger
becomes effective.

s. Noncontrolling interest is the equity in (net assets
of) a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indi-
rectly, to a parent (ARB 51, as amended).

t. A nonprofit activity is an integrated set of activi-
ties and assets that is capable of being conducted
and managed for the purpose of providing ben-
efits, other than goods or services at a profit or
profit equivalent, as a fulfillment of an entity’s
purpose or mission (for example, goods or serv-
ices to beneficiaries, customers, or members). As
with a not-for-profit entity, a nonprofit activity
possesses characteristics that distinguish it from a
business or a for-profit business entity.

u. A not-for-profit entity is an entity that possesses
the following characteristics that distinguish it
from a for-profit business entity:
(1) Contributions of significant amounts of re-

sources from resource providers who do not
expect commensurate or proportionate pecu-
niary return
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(2) Operating purposes other than to provide
goods or services at a profit

(3) Absence of ownership interests with charac-
teristics that are similar to those of a for-
profit business entity.

Not-for-profit entities have those characteristics
in varying degrees. Entities that fall outside this
definition include all investor-owned entities and
entities that provide dividends, lower costs, or
other economic benefits directly and proportion-
ately to their owners, members, or participants,
such as mutual insurance companies, credit
unions, farm and rural electric cooperatives,
and employee benefit plans (paragraph 209 of
Statement 116).

v. The term owners is used broadly to include hold-
ers of equity interests of investor-owned entities;
owners, members of, or participants in mutual
entities; and owner or member interests in the net
assets of not-for-profit entities.

w. A public entity is an entity that has issued debt or
equity securities or is a conduit bond obligor for
conduit debt securities that are traded in a public
market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or
an over-the-counter market, including local or re-
gional markets), that is required to file financial
statements with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or that provides financial state-
ments for the purpose of issuing any class of se-
curities in a public market. (That is the same as
the definition of public business enterprise in
paragraph 9 of FASB Statement No. 131, Disclo-
sures about Segments of an Enterprise and Re-
lated Information, as amended by FASB Staff
Position FAS 126-1, Applicability of Certain Dis-
closure and Interim Reporting Requirements for
Obligors for Conduit Debt Securities). The
phrase conduit debt securities used in that defini-
tion of a public entity refers to certain limited-
obligation revenue bonds, certificates of partici-
pation, or similar debt instruments issued by a
state or local governmental entity for the express
purpose of providing financing for a specific third
party (the conduit bond obligor) that is not a part
of the state or local government’s financial re-
porting entity. Although conduit debt securities
bear the name of the governmental entity that is-
sues them, the governmental entity often has no

obligation for such debt beyond the resources
provided by a lease or loan agreement with the
third party on whose behalf the securities are is-
sued. Further, the conduit bond obligor is respon-
sible for any future financial reporting require-
ments. (Paragraph 4 of FSP FAS 126-1 defines a
public entity to include a conduit bond obligor
and paragraph 5 of that FSP defines conduit bond
obligor.)

DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN A MERGER
AND AN ACQUISITION

4. A not-for-profit entity shall determine whether
a transaction or other event is a merger or an ac-
quisition by applying the definitions in this State-
ment (paragraphs 3(q) and 3(c), respectively).

5. Paragraphs A2–A28 in Appendix A provide guid-
ance on distinguishing between a merger and an
acquisition.

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR A MERGER

6. The not-for-profit entity resulting from a
merger (the new entity) shall account for the
merger by applying the carryover method de-
scribed in this Statement.

7. Applying the carryover method requires combin-
ing the assets and liabilities recognized in the sepa-
rate financial statements of the merging entities as of
the merger date (or that would be recognized if the
entities issued financial statements as of that date),2

adjusted as necessary in accordance with para-
graphs 9, 13, and 14.

Recognition Principle

8. The new entity shall recognize in its financial
statements the assets and liabilities reported in the
separate financial statements of the merging enti-
ties as of the merger date in accordance with gen-
erally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

9. The carryover method is applied by combining
the assets and liabilities recognized in the financial

2The remainder of the discussion of the carryover method refers to financial statements of the merging entities, rather than a more precise, but
longer, phrase such as assets and liabilities that would be recognized in the financial statements of the merging entities if statements are prepared.
Use of the shorter phrase is not intended to exclude, for example, a not-for-profit entity that has not prepared or issued financial statements. In that
situation, the phrase refers to the items in the entity’s financial records that would be the basis for preparing financial statements.
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statements of the merging entities as of the merger
date; the new entity does not recognize additional as-
sets or liabilities, such as internally developed intan-
gible assets, that GAAP did not require or permit the
merging entities to recognize. However, if a merging
entity’s separate financial statements are not prepared
in accordance with GAAP, those statements shall be
adjusted to GAAP before the new entity recognizes
the assets and liabilities.

Classifying or Designating Assets and Liabilities
in a Merger

10. The new entity shall carry forward at the
merger date the merging entities’ classifications
and designations of their assets and liabilities un-
less one of the exceptions in paragraph 11 applies.

11. In some situations, GAAP provides for different
accounting depending on how an entity classifies or
designates a particular asset or liability. Para-
graphs 33 and 34 provide examples of such classifi-
cations and designations. The new entity shall carry
forward into the opening balances in its financial
statements (paragraph 16(a)) the merging entities’
classifications and designations unless either:

a. The merger results in a modification of a contract
in a manner that would change those previous
classifications or designations; or

b. Reclassifications are necessary to conform
accounting policies in accordance with
paragraph 13.

In the first situation ((a) above), the new entity shall
classify or designate the asset or liability on the basis
of the contractual terms, economic conditions, its op-
erating or accounting policies, and other pertinent
conditions as they exist at the date of that modifica-
tion. In the second situation ((b) above), the new en-
tity shall classify or designate the asset or liability on
the basis of the conformed accounting policies at the
merger date.

Measurement Principle

12. The new entity shall measure the assets and
liabilities in its financial statements as of the
merger date at the amounts reported in the finan-
cial statements of the merging entities as of that
date prepared in accordance with GAAP, ad-
justed as necessary in accordance with para-
graphs 13 and 14.

13. The merging entities may have measured assets
and liabilities using different methods of accounting

in their separate financial statements. The new entity
shall adjust the amounts of those assets and liabilities
as necessary to reflect a consistent method of ac-
counting. However, because the carryover method
does not reflect a “fresh-start” measurement, a
merger is not an event that permits the election of ac-
counting options that are restricted to the entity’s ini-
tial acquisition or recognition of an item (or the rever-
sal of a previous election). Thus, for example, one
merging entity’s election of the fair value option in
FASB Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, for a par-
ticular financial asset or liability permits neither the
new entity’s election of the fair value option for other
financial assets or liabilities at the merger date nor the
reversal of the previous selection of the fair value
option.

14. The new entity shall eliminate the effects of any
intraentity transactions on its assets, liabilities, and
net assets as of the merger date.

Presentation

15. The entity resulting from a merger is a new
reporting entity, with no activities before the date
of the merger. Thus, the new entity’s initial re-
porting period begins with the merger date, and
the merger itself shall not be reported as activity
of the new entity’s initial reporting period.
Rather, the combined assets, liabilities, and net as-
sets of the merging entities are included in the
statement of financial position as of the beginning
of that initial reporting period, if presented.

16. The new entity’s statement of activities and
statement of cash flows for its initial reporting period
shall:

a. Include in the reported amounts as of the begin-
ning of the period (the opening amounts), such as
cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
period, the combined amounts of the merging en-
tities’assets, liabilities, and net assets (in total and
by classes of net assets) as of the merger date.Ac-
counting changes necessary to adjust a merging
entity’s financial statements to GAAP in accord-
ance with paragraph 9, to conform the individual
accounting policies of the merging entities in ac-
cordance with paragraph 13, or to eliminate in-
traentity balances in accordance with paragraph
14 shall be reflected in the opening amounts.

b. Report activity from the merger date through the
end of the reporting period.
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Disclosures for a Merger

17. The new entity shall disclose information that
enables users of its financial statements to evalu-
ate the nature and financial effect of the merger
that resulted in its formation.

18. To meet the objective in paragraph 17, the new
entity shall disclose the following information for the
merger that resulted in its formation:

a. The name and a description of each merging
entity

b. The merger date
c. The primary reasons for the merger
d. For each merging entity:

(1) The amounts recognized as of the merger
date for each major class of assets and li-
abilities and each class of net assets

(2) The nature and amounts, if applicable, of
any significant assets (for example, condi-
tional promises receivable or collections) or
liabilities (for example, conditional promises
payable) that GAAP does not require to be
recognized.

e. The nature and amount of any significant adjust-
ments made to conform the individual account-
ing policies of the merging entities or to eliminate
intraentity balances

f. If the new entity is a public entity, as defined in
paragraph 3(w) of this Statement, the following
supplemental pro forma information:
(1) If the merger occurs at other than the begin-

ning of an annual reporting period and the
entity’s initial financial statements thus
cover less than an annual reporting period,
the following information for the current re-
porting period as though the merger date had
been the beginning of the annual reporting
period:
(a) Revenue
(b) For an entity subject to the health care

Guide, the performance indicator
(c) Changes in unrestricted net assets,

changes in temporarily restricted net as-
sets, and changes in permanently re-
stricted net assets.

(2) If the new entity presents comparative finan-
cial information in the annual reporting pe-
riod following the year in which the merger

occurs, the entity shall disclose the supple-
mental pro forma information in para-
graph 18(f)(1)(a)–(c) for the comparable
prior reporting period as though the merger
date had been the beginning of that prior an-
nual reporting period.

If disclosure of any of the information required
by this subparagraph is impracticable, the entity
shall disclose that fact and explain why the dis-
closure is impracticable. This Statement uses the
term impracticable with the same meaning as im-
practicability in paragraph 11 of FASB Statement
No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Correc-
tions.

19. If the specific disclosures required by this State-
ment and other GAAP do not meet the objective in
paragraph 17, the entity shall disclose whatever addi-
tional information is necessary to meet that objective.

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR AN
ACQUISITION

20. A not-for-profit entity shall account for each
acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity by
applying the acquisition method as described in
this Statement.

21. A not-for-profit entity that acquires assets
that are neither a business nor a nonprofit activity
under the definitions in paragraph 3(e) or 3(t)
shall account for the transaction or other event as
an asset acquisition.

22. The acquisition method in this Statement is the
same as the acquisition method described in State-
ment 141(R). However, guidance on items unique or
especially significant to a not-for-profit entity (in-
cluding the provisions of paragraph 51 on the nonrec-
ognition of goodwill for particular acquirees) has
been added, and guidance that does not apply to a
not-for-profit acquirer has been eliminated. Applying
the acquisition method requires:

a. Identifying the acquirer
b. Determining the acquisition date
c. Recognizing and measuring the identifiable as-

sets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree
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d. Recognizing and measuring goodwill (or the im-
mediate charge to the statement of activities re-
quired by paragraph 513) or the contribution
received.

Identifying the Acquirer

23. For each acquisition, one of the combining
entities shall be identified as the acquirer.

24. The existing guidance on control and consolida-
tion of not-for-profit entities shall be used to identify
the acquirer—the entity that obtains control of the
acquiree—as follows:

a. For a not-for-profit acquirer other than a health
care entity, the guidance on related entities in
SOP 94-3

b. For a not-for-profit health care acquirer, Chap-
ter 11 of the health care Guide.

If an acquisition has occurred but applying the guid-
ance in SOP 94-3, the health care Guide, or ARB 51
does not clearly indicate which of the combining
entities is the acquirer, the factors in para-
graphs A39–A44 shall be considered in making that
determination.

Determining the Acquisition Date

25. The acquirer shall identify the acquisition
date, which is the date on which it obtains control
of the acquiree.

26. The date on which the acquirer obtains control of
the acquiree generally is the date on which the ac-
quirer legally transfers the consideration (if any), ac-
quires the assets, and assumes the liabilities of the
acquiree—the closing date. For an acquisition by a
not-for-profit entity, the date on which the acquirer
obtains control of another not-for-profit entity with
sole corporate membership generally also is the date
on which the acquirer becomes the sole corporate
member of that entity. However, the acquirer might
obtain control on a date that is either earlier or later
than the closing date. For example, the acquisition
date precedes the closing date if a written agreement
provides that the acquirer obtains control of the ac-
quiree on a date before the closing date. An acquirer
shall consider all pertinent facts and circumstances in
identifying the acquisition date.

Recognizing and Measuring the Identifiable
Assets Acquired, the Liabilities Assumed, and
Any Noncontrolling Interest in the Acquiree

Recognition Principle

27. As of the acquisition date, the acquirer shall
recognize, separately from goodwill, the identifi-
able assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and
any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree. Rec-
ognition of identifiable assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed is subject to the conditions specified
in paragraphs 28 and 29.

Recognition conditions

28. To qualify for recognition as part of applying the
acquisition method, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of
assets and liabilities in FASB Concepts Statement
No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements, at the ac-
quisition date. For example, costs the acquirer ex-
pects but is not obligated to incur in the future to ef-
fect its plan to exit an activity of an acquiree or to
terminate the employment of or relocate an ac-
quiree’s employees are not liabilities at the acquisi-
tion date. Therefore, the acquirer does not recognize
those costs as part of applying the acquisition
method. Instead, the acquirer recognizes those costs
in its postcombination financial statements in accord-
ance with other applicable GAAP.

29. In addition, to qualify for recognition as part of
applying the acquisition method, the identifiable as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed must be part of
what the acquirer and the acquiree (or its former
owners) exchanged (or what was contributed) in the
acquisition transaction rather than the result of sepa-
rate transactions. The acquirer shall apply the guid-
ance in paragraphs 67–69 to determine which assets
acquired or liabilities assumed are part of the ex-
change for the acquiree (or the inherent contribution
of the acquiree) and which, if any, are the result of
separate transactions to be accounted for in accord-
ance with their nature and the applicable GAAP.

30. The acquirer’s application of the recognition
principle and conditions may result in recognizing
some assets and liabilities that the acquiree had not

3For ease of reference and also because the immediate charge in accordance with paragraph 51 is the same amount that otherwise would
be recognized as goodwill, subsequent guidance generally refers to recognizing identifiable assets or liabilities separately from goodwill with-
out referring explicitly to the immediate charge. Those references should be understood to include the immediate charge in accordance with
paragraph 51.
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previously recognized as assets and liabilities in its fi-
nancial statements. For example, the acquirer recog-
nizes the acquired identifiable intangible assets, such
as a brand name, a patent, or a customer relationship,
that the acquiree did not recognize as assets in its fi-
nancial statements because it developed them inter-
nally and charged the related costs to expense.

31. Paragraphs A45–A85 provide guidance on rec-
ognizing operating leases and intangible assets. Para-
graphs 38–47 specify the types of identifiable assets
and liabilities that include items for which this State-
ment provides limited exceptions to the recognition
principle and conditions in paragraphs 27–29.

Classifying or designating identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition

32. At the acquisition date, the acquirer shall
classify or designate the identifiable assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed as necessary to sub-
sequently apply other GAAP. The acquirer shall
make those classifications or designations on the
basis of the contractual terms, economic condi-
tions, its operating or accounting policies, and
other pertinent conditions as they exist at the ac-
quisition date.

33. In some situations, GAAP provides for different
accounting depending on how an entity classifies or
designates a particular asset or liability. Examples of
classifications or designations that the acquirer shall
make on the basis of the pertinent conditions as they
exist at the acquisition date include but are not lim-
ited to:

a. Classification of particular investments in securi-
ties as trading or other than trading in accordance
with the health care Guide

b. Designation of a derivative instrument as a hedg-
ing instrument in accordance with FASB State-
ment No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities

c. Assessment of whether an embedded derivative
should be separated from the host contract in ac-
cordance with Statement 133 (which is a matter
of classification as paragraph 32 of this Statement
uses that term).

34. This Statement provides two exceptions to the
principle in paragraph 32:

a. Classification of a lease contract as either an op-
erating lease or a capital lease in accordance with

FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases,
as interpreted by FASB Interpretation No. 21, Ac-
counting for Leases in a Business Combination

b. Classification of a contract written by an entity
that is in the scope of FASB Statement No. 60,
Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enter-
prises, as amended, as an insurance or reinsur-
ance contract or a deposit contract.

The acquirer shall classify those contracts on the ba-
sis of the contractual terms and other factors at the in-
ception of the contract (or, if the terms of the contract
have been modified in a manner that would change
its classification, at the date of that modification,
which might be the acquisition date).

Measurement Principle

35. The acquirer shall measure the identifiable
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at their
acquisition-date fair values.

36. Paragraphs A93–A101 provide guidance on
measuring the fair value of particular identifiable as-
sets acquired, liabilities assumed, and a noncontrol-
ling interest in an acquiree.

Exceptions to the Recognition or
Measurement Principles

37. This Statement provides limited exceptions to
its recognition and measurement principles. Para-
graphs 38–49 specify the types of identifiable assets
and liabilities that include items for which this State-
ment provides limited exceptions. The acquirer shall
apply the specified GAAP or the specified require-
ments rather than the recognition and measurement
principles in paragraphs 27 and 35 to determine
when to recognize or how to measure the assets or li-
abilities identified in paragraphs 38–49. That will re-
sult in some items being either:

a. Recognized either by applying recognition condi-
tions in addition to those in paragraphs 28 and 29
or by applying the requirements of other GAAP,
with results that differ from applying the recogni-
tion principle and conditions in paragraphs 27–
29; or

b. Measured at an amount other than their acquisi-
tion-date fair values.
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Exceptions to the recognition principle

Donor relationships

38. The acquirer shall not recognize an acquired do-
nor relationship as an identifiable intangible asset
separately from goodwill. Paragraph A72 discusses
the nature of donor relationships.

Collections

39. An acquirer that has an organizational policy of
not capitalizing collections in accordance with State-
ment 116 shall not recognize as an asset those items
(works of art, historical treasures, or similar assets)
that it acquires as part of an acquisition and adds to its
collection. Rather, the acquirer shall:

a. Recognize the cost of the purchased (either by
the transfer of consideration or the assumption of
liabilities in excess of assets acquired) collection
items as a decrease in the appropriate class of net
assets in the statement of activities and as a cash
outflow for investing activities

b. Not recognize the fair value of contributed col-
lection items—either as an asset or as contribu-
tion revenue.

Paragraphs A86–A92 provide guidance on determin-
ing whether an acquired collection item is purchased
or contributed and, if purchased, the appropriate
amount of cost to attribute to them. An acquired item
that is not added to the acquirer’s collection shall be
recognized as an asset and measured at fair value in
accordance with this Statement.

Conditional promises to give

40. An acquirer shall apply the guidance in para-
graphs 22 and 23 of Statement 116 to account for
conditional promises to give, which requires the ac-
quirer to:

a. Recognize a conditional promise only if the con-
ditions on which it depends are substantially met
as of the acquisition date

b. Recognize a transfer of assets with a conditional
promise to contribute them as a refundable ad-
vance unless the conditions have been substan-
tially met as of the acquisition date.

Exceptions to both the recognition and
measurement principles

Assets and liabilities arising from contingencies

41. The acquirer shall recognize as of the acquisition
date assets acquired and liabilities assumed that
would be within the scope of FASB Statement No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies, if not acquired or as-
sumed in a business combination, except for assets or
liabilities arising from contingencies that are subject
to specific guidance in this Statement, as follows:

a. If the acquisition-date fair value of the asset or li-
ability arising from a contingency can be deter-
mined during the measurement period, that asset
or liability shall be recognized at the acquisition
date measured at fair value. For example, the
acquisition-date fair value of a warranty obliga-
tion often can be determined.

b. If the acquisition-date fair value of the asset or li-
ability arising from a contingency cannot be de-
termined during the measurement period, an as-
set or liability shall be recognized at the
acquisition date if both of the following criteria
are met:
(1) Information available before the end of the

measurement period indicates that it is prob-
able that an asset existed or that a liability
had been incurred at the acquisition date. It
is implicit in this condition that it must be
probable at the acquisition date that one or
more future events confirming the existence
of the asset or liability will occur.

(2) The amount of the asset or liability can be
reasonably estimated.

Criteria (1) and (2) shall be applied using the
guidance in Statement 5 and FASB Interpretation
No. 14, Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of
a Loss, for application of similar criteria in para-
graph 8 of Statement 5.

If neither criterion (a) nor criterion (b) is met at the
acquisition date using information that is available
during the measurement period about facts and cir-
cumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, the
acquirer shall not recognize an asset or liability as of
the acquisition date. In periods after the acquisition
date, the acquirer shall account for an asset or a liabil-
ity arising from a contingency that does not meet the
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recognition criteria at the acquisition date in accord-
ance with other applicable GAAP, including State-
ment 5, as appropriate.

42. Contingent consideration arrangements of an ac-
quiree assumed by the acquirer in an acquisition shall
be recognized initially at fair value in accordance
with the guidance for contingent consideration ar-
rangements in paragraph 58.

Income taxes

43. The acquirer shall recognize and measure a de-
ferred tax asset or liability arising from the assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition in ac-
cordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes, as amended.

44. The acquirer shall account for the potential tax
effects of temporary differences, carryforwards, and
any income tax uncertainties of an acquiree that exist
at the acquisition date or that arise as a result of the
acquisition in accordance with Statement 109, as
amended, and related interpretative guidance, includ-
ing FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Un-
certainty in Income Taxes.

Employee benefits

45. The acquirer shall recognize and measure a li-
ability (or asset, if any) related to the acquiree’s em-
ployee benefit arrangements in accordance with other
GAAP, as amended. For example, employee benefits
in the scope of the following standards would be rec-
ognized and measured in accordance with those
standards:

a. APB Opinion No. 12, Omnibus Opinion—1967
(deferred compensation contracts)

b. FASB Statement No. 43, Accounting for Com-
pensated Absences

c. FASB Statement No. 87, Employers’Accounting
for Pensions

d. FASB Statement No. 88, Employers’Accounting
for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Ben-
efit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits

e. FASB Statement No. 106, Employers’ Account-
ing for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions

f. FASB Statement No. 112, Employers’ Account-
ing for Postemployment Benefits

g. FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities (one-
time termination benefits)

h. FASB Statement No. 158, Employers’ Account-
ing for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-
retirement Plans.

Indemnification assets

46. The seller in an acquisition by a not-for-profit en-
tity may contractually indemnify the acquirer for the
outcome of a contingency or uncertainty related to all
or part of a specific asset or liability. For example, the
seller may indemnify the acquirer against losses
above a specified amount on a liability arising from a
particular contingency; in other words, the seller will
guarantee that the acquirer’s liability will not exceed
a specified amount. As a result, the acquirer obtains
an indemnification asset. The acquirer shall recog-
nize an indemnification asset at the same time that it
recognizes the indemnified item, measured on the
same basis as the indemnified item, subject to the
need for a valuation allowance for uncollectible
amounts. Therefore, if the indemnification relates to
an asset or a liability that is recognized at the acquisi-
tion date and measured at its acquisition-date fair
value, the acquirer shall recognize the indemnifica-
tion asset at the acquisition date measured at its
acquisition-date fair value. For an indemnification as-
set measured at fair value, the effects of uncertainty
about future cash flows because of collectibility con-
siderations are included in the fair value measure,
and a separate valuation allowance is not necessary
(paragraph A93).

47. In some circumstances, the indemnification may
relate to an asset or a liability that is an exception to
the recognition or measurement principles. For ex-
ample, an indemnification may relate to a contin-
gency that is not recognized at the acquisition date
because it does not satisfy the criteria for recognition
in paragraph 41 at that date. Alternatively, an indem-
nification may relate to an asset or a liability, for ex-
ample, one that results from an uncertain tax position,
that is measured on a basis other than acquisition-
date fair value (paragraphs 43 and 44). In those cir-
cumstances, the indemnification asset shall be recog-
nized and measured using assumptions consistent
with those used to measure the indemnified item,
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subject to management’s assessment of the collect-
ibility of the indemnification asset and any contrac-
tual limitations on the indemnified amount. Para-
graph 79 provides guidance on the subsequent
accounting for an indemnification asset.

Exceptions to the measurement principle

Reacquired rights

48. The acquirer shall measure the value of a reac-
quired right recognized as an intangible asset in ac-
cordance with paragraph A52 on the basis of the re-
maining contractual term of the related contract
regardless of whether market participants would con-
sider potential contractual renewals in determining
its fair value. Paragraphs A52 and A53 provide addi-
tional recognition guidance. Paragraph 77 provides
guidance on the subsequent measurement of reac-
quired rights.

Assets held for sale

49. At the acquisition date, the acquirer shall meas-
ure an acquired long-lived asset (or disposal group)
that is classified as held for sale in accordance with
FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Im-
pairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, at fair
value less cost to sell in accordance with para-
graphs 34 and 35 of that Statement.

Recognizing and Measuring Goodwill Acquired
or a Contribution Received

Goodwill acquired

50. Unless the operations of the acquiree as part
of the combined entity are expected to be pre-
dominantly supported by contributions and re-
turns on investments (paragraphs 51 and 52), the
acquirer shall recognize goodwill as of the acquisi-
tion date, measured as the excess of (a) over (b)
below:

a. The aggregate of:
(1) The consideration transferred meas-

ured at its acquisition-date fair value
(paragraph 56)

(2) The fair value of any noncontrolling in-
terest in the acquiree

(3) In an acquisition achieved in stages, the
acquisition-date fair value of the acquir-
er’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree.

b. The net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed measured in accordance with this
Statement.

51. If the operations of the acquiree as part of the
combined entity are expected to be predomi-
nantly supported by contributions and returns on
investments, the acquirer shall recognize an ex-
cess of the amount in paragraph 50(a) over the
amount in paragraph 50(b) as a separate charge
in its statement of activities as of the acquisition
date rather than as goodwill. Predominantly sup-
ported by means that contributions and returns on
investments are expected to be significantly more
than the total of all other sources of revenues.

52. An acquirer shall consider all relevant qualitative
and quantitative factors in determining the expected
nature of the predominant source of support for an
acquiree’s operations as part of the combined entity.
For example, an acquirer shall consider qualitative
and quantitative information about all forms of con-
tributed support, including contributions that are pre-
cluded from being recognized or are not required to
be recognized in the financial statements (such as cer-
tain contributed services and collection items and
conditional promises to give). Paragraph 71 provides
guidance on presenting the separate charge in the
statement of activities.

53. In some acquisitions by not-for-profit entities, no
consideration is transferred (and items 50(a)(2) and
50(a)(3) also are not present). In that situation, the re-
sult of the equation in paragraph 50 will be to meas-
ure goodwill or the separate charge to the statement
of activities as the excess of liabilities assumed over
assets acquired.

Contribution received

54. The acquirer shall recognize an excess of the
amount in paragraph 50(b) over the amount in
paragraph 50(a) as a separate credit in its state-
ment of activities as of the acquisition date.4

55. In an acquisition effected without the transfer of
consideration (and in which items 50(a)(2) and
50(a)(3) also are not present), the excess amount will

4For ease of reference in subsequent guidance and discussion, this Statement generally refers to an excess of the amount in paragraph 50(b) over
the amount in paragraph 50(a) as a contribution received, which in most situations is consistent with its nature. However, as indicated in para-
graph 72, an acquirer may choose to refer to that amount in other terms.
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be the excess of assets acquired over liabilities as-
sumed (also see paragraph 53). Paragraph 72 pro-
vides guidance on reporting the separate credit (an in-
herent contribution received) in the statement of
activities.

Consideration transferred

56. The consideration transferred in an acquisition
by a not-for-profit entity shall be measured at fair
value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the acquirer and the liabilities incurred by the ac-
quirer. The acquirer might transfer consideration to
the former owner of the acquiree or to a designee of
the former owner. The acquirer also might receive as-
sistance from an unrelated third party, which shall be
taken into account in measuring consideration trans-
ferred. (Paragraphs A107 and A108 provide an ex-
ample of assistance received from a third party.) Ex-
amples of potential forms of consideration include
cash, other assets, a business or a nonprofit activity
of the acquirer, and contingent consideration
(paragraph 58).

57. An asset transferred by the acquirer to an unre-
lated third party as a required condition of an acquisi-
tion shall be accounted for as consideration trans-
ferred for the acquiree unless the acquirer retains
control over the transferred assets. An acquirer that
retains control over the transferred assets shall meas-
ure those assets and liabilities at their carrying
amounts immediately before the acquisition date and
shall not recognize a gain or loss in the statement of
activities on assets or liabilities it controls both before
and after the acquisition. Examples of asset transfers
in which control over the future economic benefits of
the transferred assets is retained by the acquirer in-
clude the following:

a. The assets are transferred to the acquiree rather
than to its former owners or are otherwise trans-
ferred to a recipient that is controlled by the ac-
quirer. By virtue of its control over the recipient,
the acquiring entity has the ability to revoke the
transfer or to direct the use of the assets to itself or
an affiliate.

b. The asset transfer is otherwise revocable, repay-
able, or refundable.

c. The assets are transferred with the stipulation that
they be used on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the
acquiree, the acquirer, the consolidated entity, or
their affiliates. Paragraphs A100 and A101 illus-

trate an asset transfer in which the acquirer re-
tains control over the future economic benefits af-
ter the acquisition.

Contingent consideration

58. The consideration the acquirer transfers in ex-
change for the acquiree includes any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrange-
ment (paragraph 3(i)). The acquirer shall recognize
the acquisition-date fair value of contingent consider-
ation as part of the consideration transferred in ex-
change for the acquiree. Paragraph 80 provides guid-
ance on the subsequent measurement of contingent
consideration.

Additional Guidance for Applying the
Acquisition Method

An acquisition achieved in stages

59. An acquirer sometimes obtains control of an ac-
quiree in which it held an equity interest immediately
before the acquisition date. For example, on Decem-
ber 31, 20X1, Entity A holds a 35 percent noncon-
trolling equity interest in Entity B. On that date, En-
tity A purchases an additional 40 percent interest in
Entity B, which gives it control of Entity B. This
Statement refers to such a transaction as an acquisi-
tion achieved in stages, sometimes also referred to as
a step acquisition.

60. In an acquisition achieved in stages, the acquirer
shall remeasure its previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (in the example in paragraph 59, the 35
percent noncontrolling equity interest in Entity B) at
its acquisition-date fair value and recognize the re-
sulting gain or loss, if any, in the statement of activi-
ties. An entity subject to the health care Guide shall
include the gain or loss in the performance indicator.
In prior reporting periods, an acquirer that is subject
to the health care Guide may have recognized
changes in the value of its equity interest in the ac-
quiree outside the performance indicator (for ex-
ample, because the investment was classified as other
than trading). If so, the amount that was recognized
outside the performance indicator shall be reclassi-
fied and included in the calculation of gain or loss on
the previously held equity interest as of the acquisi-
tion date.

Measurement period

61. If the initial accounting for an acquisition is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
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which the acquisition occurs, the acquirer shall
report in its financial statements provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. During the measurement period, the
acquirer shall retrospectively adjust the provi-
sional amounts recognized at the acquisition date
to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisi-
tion date that, if known, would have affected the
measurement of the amounts recognized as of
that date. During the measurement period, the ac-
quirer also shall recognize additional assets or li-
abilities if new information is obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisi-
tion date that, if known, would have resulted in
the recognition of those assets and liabilities as of
that date. The measurement period ends as soon
as the acquirer receives the information it was
seeking about facts and circumstances that ex-
isted as of the acquisition date or learns that more
information is not obtainable. However, the meas-
urement period shall not exceed one year from
the acquisition date.

62. The measurement period is the period after the
acquisition date during which the acquirer may adjust
the provisional amounts recognized for the acquisi-
tion. The measurement period provides the acquirer
with a reasonable time to obtain the information nec-
essary to identify and measure the following as of the
acquisition date in accordance with the requirements
of this Statement:

a. The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities as-
sumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the
acquiree

b. The consideration transferred for the acquiree
c. In an acquisition achieved in stages, the equity

interest in the acquiree previously held by the
acquirer

d. The resulting goodwill recognized in accordance
with paragraph 50 (or the charge to the statement
of activities in accordance with paragraph 51) or
the contribution received recognized in accord-
ance with paragraph 54.

63. The acquirer shall consider all pertinent factors
in determining whether information obtained after
the acquisition date should result in an adjustment to
the provisional amounts recognized or whether that
information results from events that occurred after
the acquisition date. Pertinent factors include the time
at which additional information is obtained and
whether the acquirer can identify a reason for a

change to provisional amounts. Information that is
obtained shortly after the acquisition date is more
likely to reflect circumstances that existed at the ac-
quisition date than is information obtained several
months later. For example, unless an intervening
event that changed its fair value can be identified, the
sale of an asset to a third party shortly after the acqui-
sition date for an amount that differs significantly
from its provisional fair value determined at that date
is likely to indicate an error in the provisional
amount.

64. The acquirer recognizes an increase (decrease)
in the provisional amount recognized for an identifi-
able asset (liability) by means of a decrease (in-
crease) in goodwill or by a direct credit (charge) to
the statement of activities if goodwill is not recog-
nized as an asset in accordance with paragraph 51.
However, new information obtained during the
measurement period sometimes may result in an ad-
justment to the provisional amount of more than one
asset or liability. For example, the acquirer might
have assumed a liability to pay damages related to an
accident in one of the acquiree’s facilities, part or all
of which are covered by the acquiree’s liability insur-
ance policy. If the acquirer obtains new information
during the measurement period about the acquisition-
date fair value of that liability, the adjustment to
goodwill resulting from a change to the provisional
amount recognized for the liability would be offset
(in whole or in part) by a corresponding adjustment
to goodwill resulting from a change to the provi-
sional amount recognized for the claim receivable
from the insurer.

65. During the measurement period, the acquirer
shall recognize adjustments to the provisional
amounts as if the accounting for the acquisition had
been completed at the acquisition date. Thus, the ac-
quirer shall revise comparative information for prior
periods presented in financial statements as needed,
including making any change in depreciation, amor-
tization, or other income effects recognized in com-
pleting the initial accounting. Paragraphs A102–
A105 provide additional guidance.

66. After the measurement period ends, the acquirer
shall revise the accounting for an acquisition only to
correct an error in accordance with Statement 154.

Determining what is part of the
acquisition transaction

67. The acquirer and the acquiree may have a
preexisting relationship or other arrangement be-
fore negotiations for the acquisition began, or they
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may enter into an arrangement during the nego-
tiations that is separate from the acquisition. In ei-
ther situation, the acquirer shall identify any
amounts that are not part of what the acquirer
and the acquiree (or its former owners) ex-
changed in the acquisition, that is, amounts that
are not part of the exchange for the acquiree. The
acquirer shall recognize as part of applying the
acquisition method only the consideration trans-
ferred for the acquiree. Separate transactions
shall be accounted for in accordance with the rel-
evant GAAP.

68. A transaction entered into by or on behalf of the
acquirer or primarily for the benefit of the acquirer or
the combined entity, rather than primarily for the
benefit of the acquiree (or its former owners) before
the combination, is likely to be a separate transaction.
The following are examples of separate transactions
that are not to be included in applying the acquisition
method:

a. A transaction that in effect settles preexisting re-
lationships between the acquirer and acquiree
(paragraphs A109–A116)

b. A transaction that compensates employees or
former owners of the acquiree for future services
(paragraphs A117–A121)

c. A transaction that reimburses the acquiree or its
former owners for paying the acquirer’s
acquisition-related costs (paragraph 69)

d. A payment by a former owner of an acquired
business that is unrelated to the acquiree, such as
a contribution to fund activities of the acquirer or
its affiliates that are unrelated to those of the ac-
quiree. Those contributions made should be ac-
counted for in accordance with Statement 116.

Paragraphs A106–A108 provide additional guidance
for determining whether a transaction is separate
from the acquisition transaction.

Acquisition-related costs

69. Acquisition-related costs are costs the acquirer
incurs to effect an acquisition. Those costs include
finder’s fees; advisory, legal, accounting, valuation,
and other professional or consulting fees; general ad-
ministrative costs, including the costs of maintaining
an internal acquisitions department; and costs of reg-
istering and issuing debt securities. The acquirer shall
account for acquisition-related costs as expenses in
the periods in which the costs are incurred and the
services are received, with one exception. The costs
to issue debt securities shall be recognized in accord-
ance with other applicable GAAP.

Presentation

70. The financial statements of the acquirer (the
combined entity) shall report an acquisition as ac-
tivity of the period in which it occurs.

Statement of activities

71. The acquirer shall report the excess amount in
paragraph 51 as a separate line item on the face of its
statement of activities, appropriately described, for
example, as “excess of consideration paid over net
assets acquired in acquisition of Entity AB” (or as
“excess of liabilities assumed over assets acquired in
acquisition of Entity AB”). Paragraph A125 illus-
trates one way an acquirer might present that amount
in its statement of activities. If the acquirer is within
the scope of the health care Guide, the separate
charge recognized in accordance with paragraph 51
shall be presented within the performance indicator.

72. The acquirer shall report the excess amount in
paragraph 54 in a separate line item on the face of the
statement of activities, appropriately described, for
example, as “excess of assets acquired over liabilities
assumed in donation of Entity XY” or as “contribu-
tion received in donation of Entity XY.” In another
situation, that excess might be described as “excess
of fair value of net assets acquired over consideration
paid in acquisition of Entity XY.” If the acquirer is
within the scope of the health care Guide, whether
the recognized contribution received is presented
within or outside the performance indicator depends
on whether the contribution is unrestricted or re-
stricted. An unrestricted contribution shall be pre-
sented within the performance indicator. A contribu-
tion that is either temporarily restricted or
permanently restricted shall be presented outside the
performance indicator.

73. The acquirer shall classify an inherent contribu-
tion received presented in accordance with paragraph
72 on the basis of the type of restrictions imposed on
the related net assets. In classifying those net assets,
an acquirer shall:

a. Include restrictions imposed on the net assets of
the acquiree by a donor before the acquisition and
those imposed by the donor of the business or
nonprofit activity acquired, if any, in accordance
with paragraph 14 of Statement 116

b. Report donor-restricted contributions as restricted
support even if the restrictions are met in the
same reporting period in which the acquisition
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occurs. That is, the acquirer shall not apply the
reporting exception in paragraph 14 of State-
ment 116 to restricted net assets acquired in an
acquisition.

Thus, the contribution received may increase perma-
nently restricted net assets, temporarily restricted net
assets, unrestricted net assets, or some combination
of those items. Paragraphs A127–A130 illustrate the
application of this paragraph’s guidance on reporting
donor restrictions on a contribution received.

74. An acquirer that transfers assets as consideration
for an acquired nonprofit activity or business shall as-
sess whether that transaction satisfies a donor-
imposed restriction or otherwise results in a change
in its net asset classifications. For example:

a. Transferring consideration in an acquisition
might satisfy a donor-imposed restriction on the
acquirer’s net assets that were restricted for ac-
quisition of land, buildings, works of art, or other
long-lived assets if the acquiree has the qualify-
ing assets. If so, the acquirer may either report the
expiration of those restrictions separately or ag-
gregate and report them together with other simi-
lar expirations of donor-imposed restrictions dur-
ing the period in which the acquisition occurs.

b. The acquirer shall report other changes to its net
asset classifications separately from both any
other reclassifications and any expiration of those
restrictions during the period in which the acqui-
sition occurs. For example, an acquirer that trans-
fers as consideration its unrestricted assets and
acquires assets from the acquiree that have per-
manent or temporary donor restrictions shall
recognize a reclassification in its statement of
activities.

Statement of cash flows

75. The acquirer shall present the following cash in-
flows and outflows and noncash items related to an
acquisition in the statement of cash flows:

a. The entire amount of any net cash flow (cash
paid as consideration, if any, less acquired cash
of the acquiree) shall be reported as an investing
activity.

b. Noncash contributions received and any other
noncash amounts received or transferred shall be
reported in related disclosures as noncash activi-
ties in accordance with paragraph 32 of FASB
Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.

Paragraphs A131–A133 illustrate those requirements.

Subsequent Measurement

76. In general, an acquirer shall subsequently
measure and account for assets acquired and
liabilities assumed or incurred in an acquisition
in accordance with other applicable GAAP for
those items, depending on their nature (para-
graphs 82–84). However, this Statement provides
guidance on subsequently measuring and ac-
counting for the following assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed or incurred in an acquisition:

a. Reacquired rights
b. Assets and liabilities arising from contingen-

cies recognized as of the acquisition date
c. Indemnification assets
d. Contingent consideration
e. Contingent consideration arrangements as-

sumed by the acquirer.

Reacquired rights

77. A reacquired right recognized as an intangible
asset in accordance with paragraph A52 shall be am-
ortized over the remaining contractual period of the
contract in which the right was granted. An acquirer
that subsequently sells a reacquired right to a third
party shall include the carrying amount of the intan-
gible asset in determining the gain or loss on the sale.

Assets and liabilities arising from contingencies

78. An acquirer shall develop a systematic and ratio-
nal basis for subsequently measuring and accounting
for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies,
depending on their nature.

Indemnification assets

79. At each subsequent reporting date, the acquirer
shall measure an indemnification asset that was rec-
ognized in accordance with paragraphs 46 and 47 at
the acquisition date on the same basis as the indemni-
fied liability or asset, subject to any contractual limi-
tations on its amount and, for an indemnification as-
set that is not subsequently measured at its fair value,
management’s assessment of the collectibility of the
indemnification asset. The acquirer shall derecognize
the indemnification asset only when it collects the as-
set, sells it, or otherwise loses the right to it.
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Contingent consideration

80. Some changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration and contingent consideration arrange-
ments assumed from an acquiree that the acquirer
recognizes after the acquisition date may be the result
of additional information about facts and circum-
stances that existed at the acquisition date that the ac-
quirer obtained after that date. Such changes are
measurement period adjustments in accordance with
paragraphs 61–65. However, changes resulting from
events after the acquisition date, such as meeting an
earnings or other performance target, reaching a
specified share price, or reaching a milestone on a re-
search and development project, are not measure-
ment period adjustments. The acquirer shall account
for such changes by remeasuring the related asset or
liability to fair value at each reporting date until the
contingency is resolved and recognizing the changes
in fair value in the statement of activities. An entity
subject to the health care Guide shall recognize the
changes within the performance indicator unless the
arrangement is a hedging instrument for which State-
ment 133, in effect, requires such entities to recog-
nize the changes outside the performance indicator.

Contingent consideration arrangements
assumed by an acquirer

81. Contingent consideration arrangements of an
acquiree assumed by the acquirer shall be meas-
ured subsequently in accordance with the guidance
for contingent consideration arrangements in
paragraph 80.

Goodwill and other intangible assets
acquired in an acquisition

82. A not-for-profit entity shall apply Statement 142,
as amended, in subsequently accounting for goodwill
and other intangible assets recognized in an acquisi-
tion of a business or a nonprofit activity.5

Ownership interests in subsidiaries

83. A not-for-profit entity shall apply ARB 51, as
amended by Statement 160 and this Statement, in ac-
counting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest
in a subsidiary after control is obtained.6

Other statements that provide guidance on
subsequent measurement

84. Examples of other Statements that provide guid-
ance on subsequently measuring and accounting for
assets acquired and liabilities assumed or incurred in
an acquisition include:

a. The following Statements provide guidance on
the subsequent accounting for an insurance or re-
insurance contract acquired:
(1) Statement 60
(2) FASB Statement No. 97, Accounting and

Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Cer-
tain Long-Duration Contracts and for Real-
ized Gains and Losses from the Sale of
Investments

(3) FASB Statement No. 113, Accounting and
Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Dura-
tion and Long-Duration Contracts

(4) FASB Statement No. 120, Accounting and
Reporting by Mutual Life Insurance Enter-
prises and by Insurance Enterprises for Cer-
tain Long-Duration Participating Contracts.

b. Statement 109, as amended, prescribes the subse-
quent accounting for deferred tax assets (includ-
ing valuation allowances) and liabilities acquired.

Disclosures for an acquisition

85. The acquirer shall disclose information that
enables users of its financial statements to evalu-
ate the nature and financial effect of an acquisi-
tion that occurs either:

a. During the current reporting period; or

5Statement 141(R) amended Statement 142 to require the acquirer to (among other things):

a. Recognize intangible assets used in research and development activities, regardless of whether those assets have an alternative future use
b. Classify research and development intangible assets as indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and

development efforts.

Appendix E, which amends other existing pronouncements for the provisions of this Statement, amends Statement 142 to make applicable to
not-for-profit entities provisions for goodwill and other intangible assets acquired in an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity. In addition, para-
graph 93 of this Statement makes Statement 141(R)’s amendments to other pronouncements effective for not-for-profit entities.
6Appendix E amends ARB 51 to make Statement 160’s amendments to ARB 51 and other pronouncements apply to not-for-profit entities.
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b. After the reporting date but before the finan-
cial statements are issued or are available to
be issued.

86. To meet the objective in paragraph 85, the ac-
quirer shall disclose the following information for
each acquisition that occurs during the reporting
period:

a. The name and a description of the acquiree.
b. The acquisition date.
c. If applicable, the percentage of ownership inter-

ests, such as voting equity instruments, acquired.
d. The primary reasons for the acquisition and a de-

scription of how the acquirer obtained control of
the acquiree.

e. A qualitative description of the factors, such as
expected synergies from combining operations of
the acquiree and the acquirer, intangible assets
that do not qualify for separate recognition, or
other factors, such as the nonrecognition of col-
lections, that make up either:
(1) The goodwill recognized; or
(2) The separate charge recognized in the

statement of activities in accordance with
paragraph 51.

f. The acquisition-date fair value of the total consid-
eration transferred (or if no consideration was
transferred, that fact) and the acquisition-date fair
value of each major class of consideration,
such as:
(1) Cash
(2) Other tangible or intangible assets, including

a business or subsidiary of the acquirer
(3) Liabilities incurred, for example, a liability

for contingent consideration.
g. For contingent consideration arrangements and

indemnification assets:
(1) The amount recognized as of the acquisition

date
(2) A description of the arrangement and the

basis for determining the amount of the
payment

(3) An estimate of the range of outcomes (un-
discounted) or, if a range cannot be esti-
mated, that fact and the reasons why a range
cannot be estimated. If the maximum
amount of the payment is unlimited, the ac-
quirer shall disclose that fact.

h. For acquired receivables not subject to the re-
quirements of AICPA Statement of Position 03-3,
Accounting for Certain Loans or Debt Securities
Acquired in a Transfer:
(1) The fair value of the receivables

(2) The gross contractual amounts receivable
(3) The best estimate at the acquisition date of

the contractual cash flows not expected to be
collected.

The disclosures shall be provided by major class
of receivable, such as loans, contributions, direct
finance leases in accordance with Statement 13,
and any other class of receivables.

i. The amounts recognized as of the acquisition
date for each major class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.

j. For assets and liabilities arising from contingen-
cies recognized at the acquisition date:
(1) The amounts recognized at the acquisition

date and the measurement basis applied
(that is, at fair value or at an amount recog-
nized in accordance with Statement 5 and
Interpretation 14)

(2) The nature of the contingencies.
An acquirer may aggregate disclosures for assets
and liabilities arising from contingencies that are
similar in nature.

k. For assets and liabilities arising from contingen-
cies that have not been recognized at the acquisi-
tion date, the disclosures required by Statement 5
if the criteria for disclosures in that Statement are
met. The disclosures, if any, required by this para-
graph and by paragraph 86(j) shall be included in
the note that describes the acquisition.

l. The total amount of goodwill that is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

m. The amount of collection items acquired that are
recognized in the statement of activities as a de-
crease in the acquirer’s net assets in accordance
with paragraph 39.

n. The undiscounted amount of conditional prom-
ises to give acquired or assumed and a descrip-
tion and the amount of each group of promises
with similar characteristics, such as amounts of
promises conditioned on establishing new pro-
grams, completing a new building, or raising
matching gifts by a specified date.

o. For transactions that are recognized separately
from the acquisition of assets and assumptions of
liabilities in the acquisition (paragraph 67):
(1) A description of each transaction
(2) How the acquirer accounted for each trans-

action
(3) The amounts recognized for each transac-

tion and the line item in the financial state-
ments in which each amount is recognized

(4) If the transaction is the effective settlement
of a preexisting relationship, the method
used to determine the settlement amount.
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p. The disclosure of separately recognized transactions
required by paragraph 86(o) shall include the amount
of acquisition-related costs, the amount recognized as
anexpense, and the line itemor items in thestatement
of activities in which that expense is recognized. The
amount of any issuance costs not recognized as an
expense and how they were recognized also shall be
disclosed.

q. If the acquisition results in an inherent contribution
received, a description of the reasons that the transac-
tion resulted in a contribution received (para-
graphs 54 and 55).

r. For each acquisition in which the acquirer holds less
than 100 percent of the equity interests in the acquiree
at the acquisition date:
(1) The fair value of the noncontrolling interest in

the acquiree at the acquisition date
(2) The valuation technique(s) and significant in-

puts used to measure the fair value of the non-
controlling interest.

s. In an acquisition achieved in stages:
(1) The acquisition-date fair value of the equity in-

terest in the acquiree held by the acquirer imme-
diately before the acquisition date

(2) The amount of any gain or loss recognized as a
result of remeasuring to fair value the equity in-
terest in the acquiree held by the acquirer before
the acquisition (paragraph 60) and the line item
in the statement of activities in which that gain
or loss is recognized.

t. If the acquirer is a public entity as defined in
paragraph 3(w):
(1) Each of the following amounts attributable to

the acquiree since the acquisition date that are
included in the statement of activities for the re-
porting period:
(a) Revenues
(b) For an entity subject to the health care

Guide, the performance indicator
(c) Changes in unrestricted net assets, changes

in temporarily restricted net assets, and
changes in permanently restricted net
assets.

(2) The following supplementalpro formainforma-
tion for the current reporting period as though
the acquisition date for all acquisitions that oc-
curred during the current year had been the be-
ginning of the annual reporting period:
(a) The revenue of the combined entity
(b) For an entity subject to the health care

Guide, the performance indicator
(c) Changes in unrestricted net assets, changes

in temporarily restricted net assets, and

changes in permanently restricted net
assets.

(3) If the acquirer presents comparative financial
statements, the supplemental pro forma infor-
mation in paragraph 86(t)(2)(a)–(c) for the com-
parable prior reporting period as though the ac-
quisition date for all acquisitions that occurred
during the current year had been the beginning
of the comparable prior annual reporting period.

If disclosure of any of the information required by
this subparagraph is impracticable, the acquirer shall
disclose that fact and explain why the disclosure is
impracticable. (Paragraph 18(f) indicates that this
Statement uses the term impracticable with the
same meaning as impracticability in paragraph 11 of
Statement 154.)

87. For individually immaterial acquisitions occur-
ring during the reporting period that are material col-
lectively, the acquirer shall disclose the information
required by paragraph 86(e)–(t) in the aggregate.

88. If the date of an acquisition is after the reporting
date but before the financial statements are issued or
available for issue, the acquirer shall disclose the in-
formation required by paragraph 86 unless the initial
accounting for the acquisition is incomplete at the
time the financial statements are issued or are avail-
able to be issued. In that situation, the acquirer shall
describe which disclosures could not be made and
the reason that they could not be made.

89. The acquirer shall disclose information that
enables users of its financial statements to evalu-
ate the financial effects of adjustments recognized
in the current reporting period that relate to ac-
quisitions that occurred in the current or previous
reporting periods.

90. To meet the objective in paragraph 89, the ac-
quirer shall disclose the following information for
each material acquisition or in the aggregate for indi-
vidually immaterial acquisitions that are material
collectively:

a. If the initial accounting for an acquisition is in-
complete (paragraph 61) for particular assets, li-
abilities, noncontrolling interests, or items of con-
sideration and the amounts recognized in the
financial statements for the acquisition thus have
been determined only provisionally:
(1) The reasons that the initial accounting is in-

complete
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(2) The assets, liabilities, equity interests, or
items of consideration for which the initial
accounting is incomplete

(3) The nature and amount of any measurement
period adjustments recognized during the
reporting period in accordance with
paragraph 61.

b. For each reporting period after the acquisition
date until the entity collects, sells, or otherwise
loses the right to a contingent consideration asset,
or until the entity settles a contingent consid-
eration liability or the liability is cancelled or
expires:
(1) Any changes in the recognized amounts,

including any differences arising upon
settlement

(2) Any changes in the range of outcomes (un-
discounted) and the reasons for those
changes

(3) The disclosures required by paragraph 32 of
Statement 157.

c. A reconciliation of the carrying amount of good-
will at the beginning and end of the reporting pe-
riod as required by Statement 142, as amended.

91. If the specific disclosures required by this State-
ment and other GAAP do not meet the objectives set
out in paragraphs 85 and 89, the acquirer shall dis-
close whatever additional information is necessary to
meet those objectives.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

92. This Statement shall be applied prospectively to:

a. Mergers for which the merger date is on or after
the beginning of an initial reporting period begin-
ning on or after December 15, 2009

b. Acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

Earlier application is prohibited. This Statement shall
be applied in both annual and interim periods after its
effective date.

93. A not-for-profit entity shall apply the following
standards prospectively in the first set of initial or an-
nual financial statements for a reporting period be-
ginning on or after December 15, 2009:

a. Statement 142’s requirements on subsequent ac-
counting for goodwill and other intangible assets

acquired in an acquisition (Statement 142 refers
to assets acquired in a business combination)

b. The amendments Statement 160 made to
ARB 51 and to other existing pronouncements

c. The amendments Appendix D of this Statement
makes to ARB 51 on disclosure and presentation
of noncontrolling interests

d. The amendments Statement 141(R) made to ex-
isting pronouncements.

94. Except for goodwill as indicated in para-
graphs 95 and 97 and other intangible assets as indi-
cated in paragraph 100, assets and liabilities that
arose from mergers or acquisitions whose dates pre-
ceded the application of this Statement shall not be
adjusted upon application of this Statement.

Transition for Previously Recognized Goodwill

95. An entity that is predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments shall write
off previously recognized goodwill by a separate
charge in the statement of activities for the effect of
the accounting change. That charge shall be pre-
sented as required by paragraphs 98 and 99.

96. An entity that is not predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments shall estab-
lish its reporting units on the basis of the guidance in
paragraph 54 of Statement 142 as follows:

At the date this Statement is initially ap-
plied, an entity shall establish its reporting
units based on its reporting structure at that
date and the guidance in paragraphs 30 and
31 [of Statement 142]. Recognized net assets,
excluding goodwill, shall be assigned to those
reporting units using the guidance in para-
graphs 32 and 33 [of Statement 142]. Recog-
nized assets and liabilities that do not relate to
a reporting unit, such as an environmental li-
ability for an operation previously disposed
of, need not be assigned to a reporting unit.
All goodwill recognized in an entity’s state-
ment of financial position at the date this
Statement is initially applied shall be as-
signed to one or more reporting units. Good-
will shall be assigned in a reasonable and sup-
portable manner. The sources of previously
recognized goodwill shall be considered in
making that initial assignment as well as the
reporting units to which the related acquired
net assets were assigned. The guidance in
paragraphs 34 and 35 [of Statement 142] may
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be useful in assigning goodwill to report-
ing units upon initial application of this
Statement.

That guidance sometimes may result in a single re-
porting unit for the entire entity.

97. After establishing its reporting units, an entity
that is not predominantly supported by contributions
and returns on investments shall subject previously
recognized goodwill in each reporting unit to the
transitional impairment evaluation required by para-
graphs 55−58 of Statement 142, as follows:

Goodwill in each reporting unit shall be
tested for impairment as of the beginning of
the fiscal year in which this Statement is ini-
tially applied in its entirety (in accordance
with paragraphs 19–21 [of Statement 142]).
An entity has six months from the date it ini-
tially applies this Statement to complete the
first step of that transitional goodwill impair-
ment test. However, the amounts used in the
transitional goodwill impairment test shall be
measured as of the beginning of the year of
initial application. If the carrying amount of
the net assets of a reporting unit (including
goodwill) exceeds the fair value of that re-
porting unit, the second step of the transi-
tional goodwill impairment test must be com-
pleted as soon as possible, but no later than
the end of the year of initial application.

An impairment loss recognized as a result
of a transitional goodwill impairment test
shall be recognized as the effect of a change
in accounting principle. The effect of the ac-
counting change and related income tax ef-
fects shall be presented in the [statement of
activities] between the captions extraordinary
items and [change in net assets]. . . .

If events or changes in circumstances indi-
cate that goodwill of a reporting unit might be
impaired before completion of the transi-
tional goodwill impairment test, goodwill
shall be tested for impairment when the im-
pairment indicator arises (refer to paragraph
28 [of Statement 142]). A goodwill impair-
ment loss that does not result from a transi-
tional goodwill impairment test shall not be
recognized as the effect of a change in ac-
counting principle; rather it shall be recog-
nized in accordance with paragraph 43 [of
Statement 142].

In addition to the transitional goodwill im-
pairment test, an entity shall perform the re-

quired annual goodwill impairment test in the
year that this Statement is initially applied in
its entirety. That is, the transitional goodwill
impairment test may not be considered the
initial year’s annual test unless an entity des-
ignates the beginning of its fiscal year as the
date for its annual goodwill impairment test.

98. An entity shall present a write-off of goodwill in
accordance with paragraph 95 or an impairment loss
recognized as a result of a transitional goodwill im-
pairment evaluation, and the related income tax ef-
fects, if any, in a separate line item in the statement of
activities. A not-for-profit entity shall present that
transitional impairment loss outside a performance
indicator or any intermediate measure of operations,
if one is presented.

99. An entity that reports on an interim basis shall
recognize a write-off of goodwill or a transitional im-
pairment loss for goodwill in the first interim period
regardless of the period in which an impairment loss
is measured. Interim periods of the fiscal year that
precede the period in which the write-off of goodwill
or transitional goodwill impairment loss is measured
shall be restated to reflect the accounting change in
those periods. The aggregate amount of the account-
ing change shall be included in restated changes in
net assets of the first interim period of the year of ini-
tial application (and in any year-to-date or last-12-
months-to-date financial reports that include the first
interim period). Whenever financial information is
presented that includes the periods that precede the
period in which the transitional goodwill impairment
loss is measured, it shall be restated.

Transition for Previously Recognized Intangible
Assets Other Than Goodwill Acquired in a
Purchase Accounted for under Opinion 16

100. An entity that previously recognized intangible
assets other than goodwill in a transaction accounted
for using the purchase method in APB Opinion
No. 16, Business Combinations, shall reassess the
useful lives of those intangible assets using the guid-
ance in paragraph 11 of Statement 142 and adjust the
remaining amortization periods as necessary. For ex-
ample, the amortization period for a previously rec-
ognized intangible asset might be increased if its
original useful life was estimated to be longer than
the 40-year maximum amortization period allowed
by APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets. That re-
assessment shall be completed before the end of the
first interim period of the fiscal year in which this
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Statement is initially applied. The entity shall test
previously recognized intangible assets deemed to
have indefinite useful lives for impairment as of the
beginning of the fiscal year in which this Statement is
initially applied in accordance with paragraph 17 of
Statement 142. That transitional intangible asset im-
pairment test shall be completed in the first interim
period in which this Statement is initially applied,
and any resulting impairment loss shall be recog-
nized as the effect of a change in accounting prin-
ciple. A not-for-profit entity shall present that transi-
tional impairment loss, net of any related income tax
effects, in a separate line item outside a performance
indicator or any intermediate measure of operations,
if one is presented.

Income Taxes

101. For acquisitions of businesses or nonprofit ac-
tivities in which the acquirer is subject to taxes on

portions of its income and the acquisition date was
before the effective date of this Statement, the ac-
quirer shall apply the requirements of Statement 109,
as amended, prospectively. That is, the acquirer shall
not adjust the accounting for prior acquisitions for
previously recognized changes in acquired tax uncer-
tainties or previously recognized changes in the valu-
ation allowance for acquired deferred tax assets.
However, after the effective date of this Statement:

a. The acquirer shall recognize, as an adjustment to
income tax expense (or a direct adjustment to
contributed capital in accordance with para-
graph 26 of Statement 109), changes in the valua-
tion allowance for acquired deferred tax assets.

b. The acquirer shall recognize changes in the ac-
quired income tax positions in accordance with
Interpretation 48, as amended.

The provisions of this Statement need
not be applied to immaterial items.

This Statement was adopted by the affırmative votes of four members of the Financial Accounting
Standards Board. Mr. Siegel abstained.

Robert H. Herz
Chairman

Thomas J. Linsmeier
Leslie F. Seidman

Marc A. Siegel
Lawrence W. Smith
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Appendix A

IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE

This appendix is an integral part of this Statement.

Introduction

A1. This appendix discusses generalized situations
and provides examples that incorporate simplified as-
sumptions to illustrate how to apply some of the pro-
visions of this Statement. Application of this State-
ment’s provisions to actual situations will require the
exercise of judgment; this appendix is intended to aid
in making those judgments. Some of the examples
on application of the acquisition method are taken
from FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Busi-
ness Combinations, and some of the assumptions
used in those examples (such as the names of the en-
tities) may not be directly pertinent to not-for-profit
entities. The examples are included here because they
illustrate principles that are pertinent to not-for-profit
entities.

Distinguishing between a Merger and an
Acquisition (Application of Paragraph 4)

A2. A merger of not-for-profit entities is a transac-
tion or other event in which the governing bodies of
two or more not-for-profit entities cede control of
those entities to create a new not-for-profit entity. If
the participating entities retain shared control of the
new entity, they have not ceded control. To qualify as
a new entity, the combined entity must have a newly
formed governing body; a new entity often is, but
need not be, a new legal entity (paragraph 3(q)). Con-
trol of a not-for-profit entity is the direct or indirect
ability to determine the direction of management and
policies through ownership, contract, or otherwise
(paragraph 3(k)).

A3. An acquisition by a not-for-profit entity is a
combination in which a not-for-profit acquirer ob-
tains control of one or more nonprofit activities or
businesses (paragraph 3(c)). (The formation of a new
entity is not a significant factor in assessing whether
one entity has obtained control over another.)
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A4. Ceding control to a new entity is the sole defini-
tive criterion for identifying a merger, and one entity
obtaining control over the other is the sole definitive
criterion for an acquisition. But other transaction-
specific characteristics can help in determining
whether a particular combination is a merger, an ac-
quisition, or another form of combination, such as the
formation of a joint venture. The other characteris-
tics, discussed in paragraphs A5−A9, are indicators
that often may help in identifying a merger. The par-
ticipating entities should consider all of those charac-
teristics and any other pertinent factors. Based on the
preponderance of the evidence, the parties must
make a professional judgment about whether each of
the governing bodies has ceded control of those enti-
ties to create a new entity, whether one entity has ac-
quired the other, or whether another form of combi-
nation, such as the formation of a joint venture, has
occurred.

A5. Determining whether each of the governing
bodies of the entities participating in a combination
cedes control of those entities to a new entity requires
assessing the characteristics of the following:

a. The process leading to the combination
b. The participants to the combination
c. The combined entity.

A6. In a merger, generally no one party dominates or
is capable of dominating the negotiations and process
leading to the formation of the combined entity. In an
acquisition, on the other hand, one party—the ac-
quirer—often dominates that process, and sometimes
may, in effect, dictate the terms of the transaction, in-
cluding the date the combination occurs.

A7. The characteristics of the entities participating in
a combination and of the resulting combined entity
that can help to distinguish between a merger and an
acquisition fit into two groups:

a. Governance and related control powers
b. Financial capacity.

For example, one entity appointing significantly
more of the governing board of the newly formed en-
tity, retaining significantly more of its key senior of-
ficers, or retaining its bylaws, operating policies, and
practices substantially unchanged is more likely to be
a feature of an acquisition than of a merger. Similarly,
the relative financial strength and relative size of the
participants in the combination may help to deter-
mine whether one participant is able to dominate the

process leading to the combination. For example, if
one entity is financially strong and the other is experi-
encing financial difficulty, the stronger entity may be
able to dominate the transaction, which would indi-
cate that the transaction is an acquisition rather than a
merger. Similarly, a participant that is substantially
larger than each of the others in terms of revenues,
assets, and net assets may be able to dominate the
transaction. However, relative size, like relative fi-
nancial strength and the other indicators discussed, is
only one characteristic that may help to distinguish
between a merger and an acquisition in particular
situations—none of the indicators, by itself, is deter-
minative. As discussed in paragraph A4, ceding of
control is the sole definitive criterion for a merger.

A8. Unlike an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity, a
merger generally is accomplished by combining all
of the assets and liabilities of the merging entities into
a newly formed entity that assumes all of the assets
and liabilities of the participating entities without a
transfer of cash or other assets to those entities or any
of their owners, members, sponsors, or other desig-
nated beneficiaries. Also, unlike the formation of a
joint venture in which the venturers continue to exist
and usually hold a financial interest, the creators of
the merged entity cease to exist as autonomous enti-
ties and no one holds financial interests in the merged
entity. Moreover, the merged entity generally has a
perpetual life rather than a life that is limited by the
period of the venture or that allows for one or more
of the participating entities to opt out of the venture
or other arrangement.

A9. A particular combination of business entities
may seem similar in some aspects to a merger of not-
for-profit entities. For example, a new entity may be
formed to effect a business combination, and no con-
sideration is exchanged in some business combina-
tions. Nevertheless, the guidance in this Statement on
mergers does not apply in a business combination,
and it should not be applied by analogy.

A10. The following examples illustrate how the par-
ticipants in a combination would apply the control
criteria (ceding of control for a merger and obtaining
control for an acquisition) and the indicators in iden-
tifying the nature of the combination.

Example 1: A Combination That Is a Merger

A11. Community Foundation XYZ, a major grantor
to social service entities in its metropolitan area, be-
gins a program to encourage its grantees to consider
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opportunities to improve their services through col-
laborative arrangements, including mergers, acquisi-
tions, and joint ventures. In January 20X9, Commu-
nity Foundation XYZ convenes a meeting of the
chief officers and chairpersons of several charities
that provide complementary and, to some extent,
overlapping services within its metropolitan area.
Following that meeting, representatives of Charity A
and Charity B see fruitful opportunities for collabora-
tive efforts based on their (a) geographic proximity
and service areas, (b) similar missions, programs, and
operating practices, and (c) complementary financial
strengths with one having a much larger base of cur-
rent contributors and unpaid volunteers and the other
having a larger endowment and base of investment
income. Charity A is 30 to 40 percent larger than
Charity B in terms of most individual financial meas-
ures, including revenues and the fair value of assets
and net assets.

A12. In February 20X9, the governing boards of
Charity A and Charity B authorize the formation of
an Exploratory Committee to recommend whether
the two charities should combine and, if so, to de-
velop a plan for implementing a combination. The
Committee consists of three members from Char-
ity A and the Executive Director and one additional
member from Charity B, with administrative support
from the legal counsel of each entity. Each of the five
Committee members has one vote, and a recommen-
dation of the Committee requires at least four assent-
ing votes. Its recommendation is to be accompanied
by the reasons underlying both the recommendation
of the Committee and any dissenting votes.

A13. In July 20X9, after completing its discussions,
the Committee recommends, with the full support of
all five of its members, that Charity A and Charity B
combine under an agreement with the following key
provisions:

a. A new entity named Charity AB is to be formed;
to minimize costs, the corporate charter of Char-
ity A is to be retained. The assets and liabilities of
Charity B will be transferred to Charity AB, and
Charity B will cease to exist. Thus, in effect, both
Charity A and Charity B will cease to exist in
their precombination forms.

b. On the date the combination becomes effective
(as approved by the appropriate State official),
the corporate charter will be amended to reflect
the new entity’s name and its expanded mission,
which is to encompass Charity B’s research and
advocacy functions as well as the charitable func-
tions of both entities.

c. The CEO of Charity B will be offered the posi-
tion of CEO of Charity AB for a term of at least
two years.

d. The initial Board of CharityAB will consist of 15
members:
(1) Charity A will appoint 9 of the initial mem-

bers, preferably from the members of its ex-
isting 50-member board and its current
CEO.

(2) Charity B will appoint 6 of the initial mem-
bers, preferably from its existing 25-member
board.

(3) The charter of Charity AB will provide for a
maximum of 25 board members. The Com-
mittee recommended that a search be under-
taken to add 6 new members within a year,
with each new member requiring ap-
proval by a minimum of 10 of the 15 initial
members.

e. The headquarters of Charity A and its underlying
lease (which has eight remaining years) will be
retained.

f. A transition committee consisting of two mem-
bers each from the current boards of Charity A
and Charity B, under the authority of the CEO of
Charity AB, will be appointed to:
(1) Submit a formal plan of merger to each

of the governing boards and, if approved,
seek approval from the appropriate State
authorities.

(2) Seek opportunities to sublease the headquar-
ters space of Charity B for the remaining
two-year lease term or to utilize that space
for program activities.

(3) Interview existing staff and other candidates
for senior management positions.

(4) Make recommendations about:
(a) Eliminating program and operating re-

dundancies, including severance pack-
ages for any terminated staff

(b) Improving the current operating poli-
cies and practices of Charity A and
Charity B

(c) Revising employee benefit plans with
the objective of adopting unified plans
for Charity AB’s employees without di-
minishing the overall benefits being of-
fered to existing employees.

A14. In discussing item 4(c) above, the Exploratory
Committee report notes that the Committee inter-
viewed the current CEOs of Charity A and Charity B
and found both well-qualified to serve as the CEO of
Charity AB. However, although both CEOs are in
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their early 60s and are eager to assist Charity AB
through the initial transition period, the CEO of
Charity A had been contemplating retiring within the
next year. The Committee saw no need to open the
CEO search to other candidates.

A15. During August 20X9, each of the governing
boards of Charity A and Charity B tentatively ap-
proves the Committee recommendations and ap-
points its members to the recommended Transition
Committee. The boards also ask their respective
Nominating Committees to make recommendations
to each of their boards about the initial members to
be appointed to the board of Charity AB. During Oc-
tober, each board approves the plan for their combi-
nation, and it is submitted to the State for approval. In
November, the plan receives the required State ap-
proval, and the combination becomes effective on
January 1, 20X0, as proposed.

A16. Paragraph A5 explains that determining
whether each of the governing bodies of the partici-
pating entities in a combination cedes control of
those entities to a new entity requires assessing the
characteristics of the process leading to the combina-
tion, the participants in the combination, and the
combined entity. On the basis of the evidence, both
Charity A and Charity B participated in the process
leading to the combination. Moreover, the evidence
indicates that neither charity was experiencing finan-
cial difficulties or other circumstances that might al-
low the other entity to dominate the negotiations
leading to and through the approval of the transaction
by both charities. Neither charity appointed signifi-
cantly more of Charity AB’s initial governing board.
Although the CEO of Charity B is the only key se-
nior officer for which a retention decision has been
made, neither charity dominated the selection proc-
ess of the governing board and senior management,
collectively. Lastly, although the corporate charter
and bylaws of Charity A were retained, the stated
mission of Charity AB includes the operating objec-
tives of Charity B. In addition, the bylaws and operat-
ing policies and practices of Charity A and Charity B
were similar. Thus, on the basis of the preponderance
of the evidence, it is determined that the combination
is a merger—that the governing boards of Charity A
and Charity B each ceded control to the new entity,
Charity AB, which has a newly formed governing
body.

Example 2: A Combination That Is neither a
Merger nor an Acquisition

A17. The facts are the same as in Example 1, except
that Charity AB is established as a new legal entity
(with its own charter), and Charity A and Charity B
each:

a. Will continue to exist with its current governing
body but cease to operate its existing programs.

b. Has the power to veto nominations for future
members of Charity AB’s governing body for
two years.

c. Will retain $200,000 in operating cash and all of
the investment assets of its donor-restricted en-
dowment funds. Two years following the combi-
nation date, each charity will dissolve and trans-
fer its remaining assets to Charity AB unless
either exercises its right of withdrawal (item (d)).

d. Has the right to dissolve Charity AB, which if ex-
ercised will result in a reversion of assets, liabili-
ties, and staff. Upon reversion, all staff will be re-
tained by their respective legacy entity. In
addition, the assets and liabilities of Charity AB
will be transferred to each legacy entity in a dis-
tribution ratio equivalent to the fair value of the
net assets contributed by each (which was deter-
mined to be about 65:35 at the combination date).

A18. In this example, it appears that Charity A and
Charity B may intend to combine after the passage of
a two-year period. But neither of their governing
boards has ceded control, as defined, and neither en-
tity has obtained control of the other. Therefore, the
combination is neither a merger nor an acquisition;
rather, on the basis of the preponderance of the evi-
dence, it appears that Charity AB is a joint venture of
Charity A and Charity B.

Example 3: A Combination That Is an Acquisition

A19. Charity C provides health and human services
to residents of the City of XX and two adjoining
counties, referred to as Metro Area XX, a substantial
portion of which is provided through its support to
grantee agencies in its area. Charity D provides
health and human services to residents of County Y,
which adjoins the northern part of Metro Area XX.
The charities share a common mission and operate
under the same national brand name; that is, the
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charities operate as [Brand Name] of Metro Area XX
and [Brand Name] of County Y. Each charity re-
ceives contributions from the residents of its service
area.

A20. In 20X1, the regions served by both charities
were experiencing sharp economic declines, and
contributions to both charities were declining as a re-
sult. To create efficiencies, they entered into two joint
operating agreements. Under the first agreement,
they conduct joint annual fundraising campaigns.
Under the second, Charity C provides all information
technology and marketing services to Charity D for a
nominal fee.

A21. By January 20X4, Charity D has successfully
implemented three innovative program services, but
it has not been able to improve its declining contribu-
tion revenues. Despite some staff layoffs, it continues
to experience significant operating deficits. In March
20X4, the CEOs of the two charities encouraged their
respective Executive Committees to explore opportu-
nities to combine and restructure their operations and
governance. In July 20X4, the Executive Commit-
tees of both charities formed a joint Strategy Com-
mittee to investigate opportunities to create the best
charity for the combined service area and to develop
recommendations for accomplishing that objective.
The Strategy Committee members include the CEOs
and 6 directors from each charity and 10 community
leaders from the area. It is chaired by the CEO of a
major corporation in the area who also is a director of
Charity C. In January 20X5, although the Strategy
Committee’s work was ongoing, the Executive Com-
mittees of both charities unanimously approved and
advanced to the full governing board of each charity
the Committee’s recommendations for (a) the gover-
nance model for a new charity to be formed by con-
solidating and dissolving both of the existing chari-
ties and (b) the new charity’s name, mission, vision,
and business model. That business model is the same
as the model Charity D had adopted in 20X2, under
which it successfully implemented three new pro-
grams. Charity C wanted to leverage the experiences
of Charity D.

A22. On November 1, 20X5, the governing boards
of both charities approve the Strategy Committee’s
plan of consolidation. The CEOs of both charities ex-
ecute a joint Memorandum of Understanding (MoU),
which states:

a. The charities will create a new entity named
Charity C for Northwestern State (CCNWS)

upon completing the due diligence process and
obtaining approvals of the State authorities and
IRS qualification as a tax-exempt public charity,
which will be concluded no later than Decem-
ber 31, 20X5.

b. The bylaws of CCNWS will establish a board of
directors of up to 30 members.

c. The board of directors of Charity C will nomi-
nate 15 of the initial members of the board of
CCNWS. (All 15 nominees selected were current
members of the board of directors of which 13
were also members of the Executive Committee.)
The board of directors of Charity D will nomi-
nate five of the initial members.

d. CCNWS will have four Local Community Com-
mittees representing four geographic areas, one
of which is County Y. Each Committee will pro-
vide advice to the board of directors for local de-
cision making consistent with CCNWS’s mission
and vision. At each election after the installation
of the initial board, each Committee may nomi-
nate up to four candidates for a one-year renew-
able term on the board of CCNWS. The board
will select a minimum of two members from
each Local Community Committee, for a total of
eight additional members.

e. Amendments to the articles of incorporation or
bylaws, significant transactions (a merger, reor-
ganization, termination, or sale of substantially
all assets), and reductions in the authority and re-
sponsibilities of Local Community Committees
will require an affirmative vote of at least 60 per-
cent of the board of directors.

f. Each charity’s board of directors will appoint five
members to a joint Transition Committee, with
the charge of and authority to implement the plan
of consolidation.

g. Until the consolidation is complete, each chari-
ty’s board of directors will:
(1) Use reasonable efforts to conduct their ac-

tivities consistent with their current mission
allowing for changes consistent with mov-
ing to the business model, mission, and vi-
sion of CCNWS

(2) Preserve their tax-exempt status and rela-
tionships with contributors and grantee
agencies

(3) Not materially amend or modify their ar-
ticles of incorporation or bylaws.

h. During the first three years after the combination,
CCNWS will:
(1) Use the business model (direct-services

based) to increase its capacity for making
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sustained change to address key social
needs.

(2) Fund and maintain no less than four geo-
graphic sites, with one in County Y, to allow
for community involvement in campaign,
community impact programs, marketing,
and public policy.

(3) Fund and maintain the financial and pro-
gram commitments of both of the consoli-
dating charities to their respective grantee
agencies, subject to available funding.

(4) Strive to expand [Brand Name] program of
Charity D and its strategies throughout the
CCNWS service area. Given the success of
that program, its current staff will be given
full opportunity and consideration to lead the
[Brand Name] program for CCNWS.

(5) Not reduce significantly the current staffs of
the charities. It is understood that reassign-
ments or realignments are probable. Any re-
ductions of the staff of Charity D will be
made in consultation with its former CEO,
who will become the Vice President for Pro-
gram Services and Strategic Development of
CCNWS.

i. The obligations of Charity D, which are outlined
in the MoU, are subject to approval by its board
of directors. The obligations of Charity C, which
also are outlined in the MoU, are subject to ap-
proval by its Executive Committee.

A23. Following are certain facts for each of the
combining charities and the initial staffing of the
combined CCNWS:

A24. Some factors in this example might suggest
that the combination is a merger. For example, the
evidence indicates that each charity participated in
the process leading to the combination. That is, their
governing boards both approved the formation of the
Strategy Committee, both were represented on that
Committee, and both had the opportunity to accept or
reject the recommendations of the Committee. In ad-
dition, the legal dissolution of both charities to form
CCNWS resulted in a new entity with a newly
formed governing body, to which the governing
boards of both charities ceded control of their opera-
tions and net assets, at least in legal form.

A25. However, other factors indicate that one char-
ity acquired the other, that is, that the governing
board of the financially stronger and larger Charity C
dominated the terms of the combination and did not,
in substance, cede control of its operations and net as-
sets to the governing board of CCNWS. Those fac-
tors include Charity C’s:

a. Dominance in the selection of 15 of the 20 mem-
bers of the initial board of directors of CCNWS.
It also seems that the governing power center of
Charity C—its Executive Committee—continues
to control because 13 of its members continued
as members of the initial 20-member board of
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CCNWS and, together with the other 2 board
members from that charity, would have a strong
(if not dominating) voice in selecting at least 6 of
the minimum of 8 members yet to be selected
from the nominees of the 4 Local Community
Committees.

b. Dominance in the selection of the key senior of-
ficers. The table in paragraph A23 indicates that
early on it was decided that the CEO of Charity C
would be retained as CEO/President of CCNWS,
that the CEO of Charity D of County Y would
become one of CCNWS’ Vice Presidents, and
that there was no need to open the CEO search
process to external parties.

c. Dominance in terms of financial capability and
viability. Charity D has been experiencing finan-
cial difficulties and since 20X1 has been some-
what dependent on Charity C to provide back-
office and information technology support for a
below-cost fee.

A26. In addition, it appears that Charity C wanted to
preserve and obtain certain aspects of Charity D’s op-
erations and resources, including its:

a. Expertise in implementing new programs devel-
oped and promoted by the national entity

b. Existing donor relationships
c. Residual net assets.

Charity C also apparently wanted to restructure its
governance to have a much smaller governing board
of 20 to 30 high-impact community leaders (like the
members of its existing Executive Committee).
Charity C’s wishes concerning aspects of Charity D’s
operations and resources and restructuring its gover-
nance do not relate directly to the indicators that help
to distinguish a merger from an acquisition. But those

additional factors are part of what is considered in
making a judgment on the basis of the preponderance
of the evidence, as this Statement requires.

A27. On the basis of the preponderance of the evi-
dence, it is determined that Charity C acquired Char-
ity D. The acquisition was achieved by, in effect, a
gift of Charity D to Charity C. Although each charity
legally dissolved, the substance of the combination is
much the same as if Charity C first restructured its
board of directors along the lines desired and then ab-
sorbed Charity D and added five of its nominees to
the restructured board.

A28. Despite the process and legal form used, the
economic substance of the transaction is judged to be
one in which the central governing power residing in
the Executive Committee of Charity C was not sur-
rendered; that is, the governing body of Charity C did
not cede control of the entity to the governing body
of CCNWS. The transaction is an acquisition in
which the economic substance and existence of
Charity C (the acquirer) continue, although with a
different name and expanded operations.

Illustration of Disclosures for a Merger
(Application of Paragraphs 17 and 18)

A29. The following example illustrates some of the
disclosures this Statement requires for a merger; it is
not based on an actual transaction. The example as-
sumes that three not-for-profit entities—NFP A,
NFP B, and NFP C—merge to create a new entity,
NFPABC. NFPABC is a public entity, as defined in
paragraph 3(w) of this Statement. The illustration
presents the note disclosures in a tabular format that
identifies the specific disclosure requirements illus-
trated. An actual note might present many of the dis-
closures illustrated in a simple narrative format. The
required supplemental information is presented in a
separate schedule outside the notes.

FAS164Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions

FAS164–35



Footnote M: Merger

FAS164 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS164–36



Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

The following information is not audited.

Applying the Acquisition Method

Definition of a Business and a Nonprofit Activity
(Application of Paragraphs 20 and 21)

A30. Statement 141(R) uses the term business to
differentiate an acquisition of an integrated set of ac-
tivities and assets that is within the scope of that
Statement from an acquisition of a group of assets
that is outside its scope. Paragraph 3(d) of State-
ment 141(R) defines business as “an integrated set of
activities and assets that is capable of being con-
ducted and managed for the purpose of providing a
return in the form of dividends, lower costs, or other
economic benefits directly to investors or other own-
ers, members, or participants.” This Statement uses
the same definition of business (paragraph 3(e)).

A31. In addition to the term business, this Statement
also uses the term nonprofit activity to differentiate an
acquisition of an integrated set of activities and assets
that is within its scope from an acquisition of a group
of assets that is outside its scope. This Statement
builds on the definition of a business in defining a
nonprofit activity; each is defined as an integrated set
of activities and assets that is capable of being con-
ducted and managed for the purpose of providing
benefits. (Paragraph 3(t) defines a nonprofit activity.)
The nature of the benefits provided distinguishes a
business from a nonprofit activity. For a business,
those benefits are economic benefits that are pro-
vided as a return to investors (either reflected in the
market price of the equity or through dividends) or
other economic benefits, such as lower costs, that are
provided directly to owners, members, or partici-

pants. For a nonprofit activity, the benefits are pro-
vided to fulfill the purpose or mission for which an
entity exists (for example, goods or services provided
to beneficiaries, customers, or members) rather than
goods or services provided at a profit or profit
equivalent.

A32. Both a business and a nonprofit activity consist
of inputs and processes applied to those inputs that
have the ability to create outputs. Although busi-
nesses or nonprofit activities usually have outputs,
outputs are not required for an integrated set to
qualify as a business or nonprofit activity. The three
elements of a business or nonprofit activity are de-
fined as follows:

a. Input—Any economic resource that creates, or
has the ability to create, outputs when one or
more processes are applied to it. Examples in-
clude long-lived assets (including intangible as-
sets or rights to use long-lived assets), intellectual
property, ability to obtain access to necessary ma-
terials or rights, and employees.

b. Process—Any system, standard, protocol, con-
vention, or rule that when applied to an input or
inputs creates or has the ability to create outputs.
Examples include strategic management proc-
esses, operational processes, and resource man-
agement processes. Those processes typically are
documented, but an organized workforce having
the necessary skills and experience following
rules and conventions may provide the necessary
processes that are capable of being applied to in-
puts to create outputs. (Accounting, billing, pay-
roll, and other administrative systems typically
are not processes used to create outputs.)
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c. Output—The result of inputs and processes ap-
plied to those inputs that provide or have the abil-
ity to provide either:
(1) A return in the form of dividends, lower

costs, or other economic benefits directly to
investors or other owners, members, or par-
ticipants; or

(2) Goods or services to beneficiaries, custom-
ers, or members that fulfill the purpose or
mission for which a not-for-profit entity
exists.

A33. To be capable of being conducted and man-
aged for the purposes defined, an integrated set of ac-
tivities and assets requires two essential elements—
inputs and processes applied to those inputs—that to-
gether are or will be used to create outputs. However,
a business or nonprofit activity need not include all of
the inputs or processes that the seller used in operat-
ing that business or nonprofit activity if market par-
ticipants are capable of acquiring the business or non-
profit activity and continuing to produce outputs, for
example, by integrating the business or nonprofit ac-
tivity with their own inputs and processes. FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, de-
scribes market participants as:

. . . buyers and sellers in the principal (or
most advantageous) market for the asset or li-
ability that are:

a. Independent of the reporting entity; that
is, they are not related parties

b. Knowledgeable, having a reasonable un-
derstanding about the asset or liability
and the transaction based on all available
information, including information that
might be obtained through due diligence
efforts that are usual and customary

c. Able to transact for the asset or liability
d. Willing to transact for the asset or lia-

bility; that is, they are motivated but
not forced or otherwise compelled to do
so. [Paragraph 10; footnote reference
omitted.]

A34. The nature of the elements of a business or
nonprofit activity varies by industry and by the struc-
ture of an entity’s operations (activities), including
the entity’s stage of development. Established busi-
nesses or nonprofit activities often have many, and
different, kinds of inputs, processes, and outputs,
whereas new businesses or nonprofit activities often
have few inputs and processes, and sometimes only a

single output (product). Nearly all businesses or non-
profit activities also have liabilities, but a business or
nonprofit activity need not have liabilities.

A35. An integrated set of activities and assets in the
development stage might not have outputs. If it does
not, the acquirer should consider other factors to de-
termine whether the set is a business or nonprofit ac-
tivity. Those factors include, but are not limited to,
whether the set:

a. Has begun planned principal activities
b. Has employees, intellectual property, and other

inputs and processes that could be applied to
those inputs

c. Is pursuing a plan to produce outputs
d. Will be able to obtain access to customers, ben-

eficiaries, or members that will purchase or other-
wise receive the outputs that fulfill the purpose or
mission for which a not-for-profit entity exists.

A36. Determining whether a particular set of assets
and activities is a business or nonprofit activity
should be based on whether the integrated set is ca-
pable of being conducted and managed as a business
or nonprofit activity by a market participant. Thus, in
evaluating whether a particular set is a business or
nonprofit activity, it is not relevant whether a seller
operated the set as a business or nonprofit activity or
whether the acquirer intends to operate the set as a
business or nonprofit activity.

A37. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, a
particular set of assets and activities in which good-
will (or an amount that could qualify as a separate
charge under paragraph 51) is present shall be pre-
sumed to be a business or nonprofit activity. How-
ever, a business or nonprofit activity need not have
goodwill.

Identifying the Acquirer (Application of
Paragraphs 23 and 24)

A38. In accordance with the definition in para-
graph 3(b), the acquirer is the entity that obtains con-
trol of the acquiree (and recognizes the acquiree in its
financial statements). Paragraph 24 specifies the ex-
isting guidance to be applied in determining which
entity obtains control of the other(s). If an acquisition
has occurred but applying that guidance does not
clearly indicate which of the combining entities is the
acquirer, the factors in paragraphs A39–A44 shall be
considered in making that determination.
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A39. In an acquisition effected primarily by transfer-
ring cash or other assets or by incurring liabilities, the
acquirer usually is the entity that transfers the cash or
other assets or incurs the liabilities.

A40. The acquirer usually is the combining entity
whose relative size (measured in, for example, assets,
revenues, or change in net assets) is significant-
ly larger than that of the other combining entity or
entities.

A41. If one of the combining entities can select or
dominate the process of selecting the management
team of the resulting entity, that entity is likely to be
the acquirer.

A42. The combined entity often retains the mission
and the legal name of the acquirer.

A43. In an acquisition involving more than two
entities, determining the acquirer shall include a
consideration of, among other things, which of
the combining entities initiated the transaction, as
well as the relative size of the combining entities
(paragraph A40).

A44. The acquirer usually is the entity whose gov-
erning body has the ability to select or dominate the
process of selecting the governing body of the com-
bined entity, which may be a newly created entity,
although whether a new entity is created is not a sig-
nificant factor in identifying an acquisition (para-
graph A3). That ability may be demonstrated by an
entity’s powers to elect or appoint members to the
combined entity’s governing body or an entity’s
powers to dominate the process of selecting a voting
majority. In determining whether one of the entities
has the power to dominate the selection process, con-
sideration shall be given to the existence of rights to
elect or appoint members to the governing body that
are provided by the entity’s articles of incorporation,
by its bylaws, or by provisions in the acquisition
agreement. Consideration also shall be given to the
ability of one entity to dominate the selection process
through other means. The following factors should
be considered in assessing which entity is able to se-
lect or to dominate the process of selecting the gov-
erning body:

a. If the combined entity’s articles of incorporation
or bylaws state that the members of the govern-
ing body are appointed, whether one of the enti-
ties has the right to appoint a voting majority of
the governing body.

b. If the combined entity’s governing body is self-
perpetuating:
(1) Whether one of the entities has the right to

select a voting majority of the initial govern-
ing body of the entity as part of the acquisi-
tion agreement

(2) Whether one of the entities has the ability to
dominate the selection of a voting majority
of the initial governing body of the entity
through means other than negotiated selec-
tion rights, such as through disproportionate
representation on the committee that selects
nominees for that body.

c. If the initial governing body of the combined en-
tity is selected by the governing members of the
combining entities, whether one entity’s mem-
bers have the majority of the voting rights.

d. Any other rights to appoint or designate members
of the combined entity’s governing body either as
of the acquisition date or in the near future (such
as upon the expiration of the terms of some or all
of the initial members).

e. If positions on the combined entity’s governing
body are designated positions, the effect of those
designated positions on the ability of an entity to
appoint a voting majority of the resulting entity’s
governing body.

f. The powers of any sponsoring entities or mem-
bers of a not-for-profit corporation and the com-
position of those sponsors and members. If spon-
sors and corporate members have limited powers,
the effect of those limited powers on the ability of
one of the entities to control the combined entity.

g. If the combined entity’s governing body del-
egates powers to committees, the nature of those
delegated powers and the composition of the
committees.

h. The effect of voting requirements (such as super-
majority voting requirements) on the ability of
one entity to appoint or dominate the selection of
a supermajority of the governing body of the
combined entity.

Recognizing Particular Assets Acquired
and Liabilities Assumed (Application of
Paragraphs 27–30)

Operating leases

A45. The acquirer shall recognize no assets or
liabilities related to an operating lease in which the
acquiree is the lessee except as required by para-
graphs A46 and A47.
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A46. Regardless of whether the acquiree is the les-
see or the lessor, the acquirer shall determine whether
the terms of each of an acquiree’s operating leases
are favorable or unfavorable compared with the mar-
ket terms of leases of the same or similar items at the
acquisition date. The acquirer shall recognize an in-
tangible asset if the terms of an operating lease are fa-
vorable relative to market terms and a liability if the
terms are unfavorable relative to market terms.

A47. An identifiable intangible asset may be associ-
ated with an operating lease, which may be evi-
denced by market participants’ willingness to pay a
price for the lease even if it is at market terms. For
example, a lease of gates at an airport or of retail
space in a prime shopping area might provide entry
into a market or other future economic benefits that
qualify as identifiable intangible assets, for example,
as a customer relationship. In that situation, the ac-
quirer shall recognize the associated identifiable in-
tangible asset(s) in accordance with paragraph A48.

Recognition of intangible assets separately
from goodwill

A48. The acquirer shall recognize separately from
goodwill7 the identifiable intangible assets acquired.
An intangible asset is identifiable if it meets either the
separability criterion or the contractual-legal criterion
described in paragraph 3(o).

A49. An intangible asset that meets the contractual-
legal criterion is identifiable even if the asset is not
transferable or separable from the acquiree or from
other rights and obligations. For example:

a. An acquiree leases a manufacturing facility under
an operating lease that has terms that are favor-
able relative to market terms. The lease terms ex-
plicitly prohibit transfer of the lease (through ei-
ther sale or sublease). The amount by which the
lease terms are favorable compared with the pric-
ing of current market transactions for the same or
similar items is an intangible asset that meets the
contractual-legal criterion for recognition sepa-
rately from goodwill even though the acquirer
cannot sell or otherwise transfer the lease con-
tract. (See also paragraphs A46 and A47.)

b. An acquiree owns and operates a nuclear power
plant. The license to operate that power plant is
an intangible asset that meets the contractual-

legal criterion for recognition separately from
goodwill even if the acquirer cannot sell or trans-
fer it separately from the acquired power plant.
An acquirer may recognize the fair value of the
operating license and the fair value of the power
plant as a single asset for financial reporting pur-
poses if the useful lives of those assets are similar.

c. An acquiree owns a technology patent. It has li-
censed that patent to others for their exclusive use
outside the domestic market, receiving a speci-
fied percentage of future foreign revenue in ex-
change. Both the technology patent and the re-
lated license agreement meet the contractual-
legal criterion for recognition separately from
goodwill even if selling or exchanging the patent
and the related license agreement separately from
one another would not be practical.

A50. The separability criterion means that an ac-
quired intangible asset is capable of being separated
or divided from the acquiree and sold, transferred, li-
censed, rented, or exchanged, either individually or
together with a related contract, identifiable asset, or
liability. An intangible asset that the acquirer would
be able to sell, license, or otherwise exchange for
something else of value meets the separability crite-
rion even if the acquirer does not intend to sell, li-
cense, or otherwise exchange it. An acquired intan-
gible asset meets the separability criterion if there is
evidence of exchange transactions for that type of as-
set or an asset of a similar type even if those transac-
tions are infrequent and regardless of whether the ac-
quirer is involved in them. For example, donor,
customer, and subscriber lists are frequently licensed
and thus meet the separability criterion. Even if an
acquiree believes its donor or customer lists have
characteristics different from other donor or customer
lists, the fact that such lists are frequently licensed
generally means that the acquired list meets the sepa-
rability criterion. However, an acquired donor or cus-
tomer list would not meet the separability criterion if
the terms of confidentiality or other agreements pro-
hibit an entity from selling, leasing, or otherwise ex-
changing information about its donors or customers.

A51. An intangible asset that is not individually
separable from the acquiree or combined entity
meets the separability criterion if it is separable in
combination with a related contract, identifiable as-
set, or liability. For example, an acquiree owns a reg-
istered trademark and documented but unpatented

7See footnote 3. For ease of reference, this appendix also generally uses the term goodwill to refer to goodwill or the separate charge in accord-
ance with paragraph 51.
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technical expertise used to manufacture the trade-
marked product. To transfer ownership of a trade-
mark, the owner is also required to transfer every-
thing else necessary for the new owner to produce a
product or service indistinguishable from that pro-
duced by the former owner. Because the unpatented
technical expertise must be separated from the ac-
quiree or combined entity and sold if the related
trademark is sold, it meets the separability criterion.

Reacquired rights

A52. As part of an acquisition, an acquirer may reac-
quire a right that it had previously granted to the ac-
quiree to use one or more of the acquirer’s recog-
nized or unrecognized assets. Examples of such
rights include a right to use the acquirer’s trade name
under a franchise agreement or a right to use the ac-
quirer’s technology under a technology licensing
agreement. A reacquired right is an identifiable intan-
gible asset that the acquirer recognizes separately
from goodwill. Paragraph 48 provides guidance on
measuring a required right, and paragraph 77 pro-
vides guidance on the subsequent accounting for a re-
acquired right.

A53. If the terms of the contract giving rise to a reac-
quired right are favorable or unfavorable relative to
the terms of current market transactions for the same
or similar items, the acquirer shall recognize a settle-
ment gain or loss. Paragraph A110 provides guid-
ance for measuring that settlement gain or loss.

Assembled workforce and other items that
are not identifiable

A54. The acquirer subsumes into goodwill (or the
separate change recognized in accordance with para-
graph 51) the value of an acquired intangible asset
that is not identifiable as of the acquisition date. For
example, an acquirer may attribute value to the exist-
ence of an assembled workforce, which is an existing
collection of employees that permits the acquirer to
continue to operate an acquired business or nonprofit
activity from the acquisition date. An assembled
workforce does not represent the intellectual capital
of the skilled workforce—the (often specialized)
knowledge and experience that employees of an ac-
quiree bring to their jobs. Because the assembled
workforce is not an identifiable asset to be recog-
nized separately from goodwill, any value attributed
to it is subsumed into goodwill.

A55. The acquirer also subsumes into goodwill (or
the separate change recognized in accordance with

paragraph 51) any value attributed to items that do
not qualify as assets at the acquisition date. For ex-
ample, the acquirer might attribute value to potential
gifts or contracts the acquiree is negotiating with pro-
spective new donors or customers at the acquisition
date. Because those potential gifts or contracts are not
themselves assets at the acquisition date, the acquirer
does not recognize them separately from goodwill.
The acquirer should not subsequently reclassify the
value of those contracts from goodwill for events that
occur after the acquisition date. However, the ac-
quirer should assess the facts and circumstances sur-
rounding events occurring shortly after the acquisi-
tion to determine whether a separately recognizable
intangible asset existed at the acquisition date.

A56. After initial recognition, an acquirer accounts
for identifiable intangible assets acquired in accord-
ance with the provisions of FASB Statements
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
of Long-Lived Assets. However, as described in para-
graph 8 of Statement 142, the accounting for some
acquired intangible assets after initial recognition is
prescribed by other Statements.

A57. The identifiability criteria determine whether
an intangible asset is recognized separately from
goodwill. However, the criteria neither provide guid-
ance for measuring the fair value of an intangible as-
set nor restrict the assumptions used in estimating the
fair value of an intangible asset. For example, the ac-
quirer would take into account assumptions that mar-
ket participants would consider, such as expectations
of future contract renewals, in measuring fair value.
It is not necessary for the renewals themselves to
meet the identifiability criteria. (However, see para-
graph 48, which establishes an exception to the fair
value measurement principle for reacquired rights
recognized in an acquisition.) EITF Issue No. 02-7,
“Unit of Accounting for Testing Impairment of
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets,” provides guid-
ance for determining whether indefinite-lived intan-
gible assets should be combined into a single unit of
account to test for impairment if they are operated as
a single asset and essentially are inseparable from
one another.

Examples of intangible assets that
are identifiable

A58. The following are examples of identifiable in-
tangible assets acquired in an acquisition. Some of
the examples may have characteristics of assets other
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than intangible assets. The acquirer should account
for those assets in accordance with their substance.
The examples are not intended to be all-inclusive.

A59. Intangible assets designated with the symbol #
are those that arise from contractual or other legal
rights. Those designated with the symbol * do not
arise from contractual or other legal rights but are
separable. Intangible assets designated with the sym-
bol # might also be separable, but separability is not a
necessary condition for an asset to meet the
contractual-legal criterion.

Marketing-related intangible assets

A60. Marketing-related intangible assets are prima-
rily used in the marketing or promotion of products
or services. Examples of marketing-related intan-
gible assets are:

a. Trademarks, trade names, service marks, collec-
tive marks, certification marks #

b. Trade dress (unique color, shape, package de-
sign) #

c. Newspaper mastheads #
d. Internet domain names #
e. Noncompetition agreements. #

Trademarks, trade names, service marks, collective
marks, certification marks #

A61. Trademarks are words, names, symbols, or
other devices used in trade to indicate the source of a
product and to distinguish it from the products of oth-
ers. A service mark identifies and distinguishes the
source of a service rather than a product. Collective
marks identify the goods or services of members of a
group. Certification marks certify the geographical
origin or other characteristics of a good or service.

A62. Trademarks, trade names, service marks, col-
lective marks, and certification marks may be pro-
tected legally through registration with governmental
agencies, continuous use in commerce, or by other
means. If it is protected legally through registration
or other means, a trademark or other mark acquired is
an intangible asset that meets the contractual-legal
criterion. Otherwise, a trademark or other mark ac-
quired can be recognized separately from goodwill if
the separability criterion is met, which normally it
would be.

A63. The terms brand and brand name, often used
as synonyms for trademarks and other marks, are
general marketing terms that typically refer to a

group of complementary assets such as a trademark
(or service mark) and its related trade name, formu-
las, recipes, and technological expertise. This State-
ment does not preclude an entity from recognizing,
as a single asset separately from goodwill, a group of
complementary intangible assets commonly referred
to as a brand if the assets that make up that group
have similar useful lives.

Internet domain names #

A64. An Internet domain name is a unique alphanu-
meric name that is used to identify a particular nu-
meric Internet address. Registration of a domain
name creates an association between that name and
a designated computer on the Internet for the period
of the registration. Those registrations are renewable.
A registered domain name acquired meets the
contractual-legal criterion.

Customer- and donor-related intangible assets

A65. Examples of customer- and donor-related in-
tangible assets are:

a. Customer and donor lists *
b. Order or production backlog #
c. Customer contracts and related customer rela-

tionships #
d. Noncontractual customer relationships. *

Customer and donor lists *

A66. A customer list consists of information about
customers, such as their names and contact informa-
tion. A customer list also may be in the form of a da-
tabase that includes other information about the cus-
tomers, such as their order histories and demographic
information. A customer list generally does not arise
from contractual or other legal rights. However, cus-
tomer lists are frequently leased or exchanged.
Therefore, a customer list acquired in an acquisition
by a not-for-profit entity, like one acquired in a busi-
ness combination, normally meets the separability
criterion. However, a customer list would not meet
the separability criterion if the terms of confidential-
ity or other agreements prohibit an entity from sell-
ing, leasing, or otherwise exchanging information
about its customers.

A67. Adonor list is different from a customer list, al-
though a donor list consists of similar information
about donors, such as their names and contact in-
formation. A donor list also may be in the form of
a database that includes other information about
the donors, such as their donation histories and
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demographic information. A donor list may but does
not always arise from contractual or other legal
rights. However, donor lists are frequently leased or
exchanged. Therefore, a donor list acquired in an ac-
quisition by a not-for-profit entity normally meets the
separability criterion. However, a donor list would
not meet the separability criterion if the terms of con-
fidentiality or other agreements prohibit an entity
from selling, leasing, or otherwise exchanging infor-
mation about its donors.

Order or production backlog #

A68. An order or production backlog arises from
contracts such as purchase or sales orders. An ac-
quired order or production backlog meets the
contractual-legal criterion even if the purchase or
sales orders are cancelable.

Customer contracts and the related customer
relationships #

A69. If an entity establishes relationships with its
customers through contracts, those customer rela-
tionships arise from contractual rights. Therefore,
customer contracts and the related customer relation-
ships meet the contractual-legal criterion, even if
confidentiality or other contractual terms prohibit the
sale or transfer of a contract separately from the
acquiree.

A70. A customer contract and the related customer
relationship may represent two distinct intangible as-
sets. Both the useful lives and the pattern in which the
economic benefits of the two assets are consumed
may differ.

A71. A customer relationship exists between an en-
tity and its customer if (a) the entity has information
about the customer and has regular contact with the
customer, and (b) the customer has the ability to
make direct contact with the entity. Customer rela-
tionships meet the contractual-legal criterion if an en-
tity has a practice of establishing contracts with its
customers, regardless of whether a contract exists at
the acquisition date. Customer relationships also may
arise through means other than contracts, such as
through regular contact by sales or service represen-
tatives. As noted in paragraph A68, an order or a pro-
duction backlog arises from contracts such as pur-
chase or sales orders and therefore is considered a
contractual right. Consequently, if an entity has rela-
tionships with its customers through these types of
contracts, the customer relationships also arise from
contractual rights and therefore meet the contractual-
legal criterion.

A72. Donor relationships: An acquirer also may at-
tribute value to the acquiree’s donor relation-
ships—the information the acquiree has about its do-
nors, the regular contact the acquiree has with its do-
nors, and the donors’ ability to make direct contact
with the acquiree. However, estimating the fair value
of acquired donor relationships would be difficult
and so costly that requiring acquirers to do so would
not meet a reasonable cost-benefit test. Therefore, un-
like acquired customer relationships, acquired donor
relationships are not recognized separately; they are
instead subsumed into goodwill (also see footnote 7
on terminology).

Noncontractual customer relationships *

A73. An acquired customer relationship that does
not arise from a contract may nevertheless be identi-
fiable because the relationship is separable. Ex-
change transactions for the same asset or a similar as-
set that indicate that other entities have sold or
otherwise transferred a particular type of noncontrac-
tual customer relationship would provide evidence
that the noncontractual customer relationship is
separable.

Examples illustrating acquired customer contract and
customer relationship intangible assets

A74. The following examples illustrate the recogni-
tion of customer contract and customer relationship
intangible assets acquired in an acquisition by a not-
for-profit entity.

a. Acquirer Company (AC) acquires Target Com-
pany (TC) on December 31, 20X5. TC has a five-
year agreement to supply goods to Customer.
Both TC and AC believe that Customer will re-
new the agreement at the end of the current con-
tract. The agreement is not separable. The agree-
ment, whether cancelable or not, meets the
contractual-legal criterion. Additionally, because
TC establishes its relationship with Customer
through a contract, not only the agreement itself
but also TC’s customer relationship with Cus-
tomer meet the contractual-legal criterion.

b. AC acquires TC on December 31, 20X5. TC
does business with its customers solely through
purchase and sales orders. At December 31,
20X5, TC has a backlog of customer purchase or-
ders from 60 percent of its customers, all of
whom are recurring customers. The other 40 per-
cent of TC’s customers also are recurring cus-
tomers. However, as of December 31, 20X5, TC
has no open purchase orders or other contracts
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with those customers. Regardless of whether they
are cancelable or not, the purchase orders from
60 percent of TC’s customers meet the con-
tractual-legal criterion. Additionally, because TC
has established its relationship with 60 percent of
its customers through contracts, not only the pur-
chase orders but also TC’s customer relationships
meet the contractual-legal criterion. Because TC
has a practice of establishing contracts with the
remaining 40 percent of its customers, its rela-
tionship with those customers also arises through
contractual rights and therefore meets the
contractual-legal criterion even though TC does
not have contracts with those customers at
December 31, 20X5.

Artistic-related intangible assets

A75. Examples of artistic-related intangible assets
are:

a. Plays, operas, ballets #
b. Books, magazines, newspapers, other literary

works #
c. Musical works such as compositions, song lyrics,

advertising jingles #
d. Pictures, photographs #
e. Video and audiovisual material, including mo-

tion pictures or films, music videos, television
programs. #

A76. Artistic-related assets are identifiable if they
arise from contractual or legal rights such as those
provided by copyright. The holder can transfer a
copyright, either in whole through an assignment or
in part through a licensing agreement. An acquirer is
not precluded from recognizing a copyright intan-
gible asset and any related assignments or license
agreements as a single asset, provided they have
similar useful lives.

Contract-based intangible assets

A77. Contract-based intangible assets represent the
value of rights that arise from contractual arrange-
ments. Customer contracts are one type of contract-
based intangible asset. If the terms of a contract give
rise to a liability (for example, if the terms of an oper-
ating lease or customer contract are unfavorable rela-
tive to market terms), the acquirer recognizes it as a
liability assumed in the acquisition. Examples of
contract-based intangible assets are:

a. Licensing, royalty, standstill agreements #

b. Advertising, construction, management, service
or supply contracts #

c. Lease agreements (whether the acquiree is the
lessee or the lessor) #

d. Construction permits #
e. Franchise agreements #
f. Operating and broadcast rights #
g. Employment contracts #
h. Use rights such as drilling, water, air, timber cut-

ting, and route authorities. #

Employment contracts #

A78. Employment contracts that are beneficial con-
tracts from the perspective of the employer because
the pricing of those contracts is favorable relative to
market terms are one type of contract-based intan-
gible asset.

Use rights #

A79. Use rights such as drilling, water, air, timber
cutting, and route authorities are contract-based in-
tangible assets to be accounted for separately from
goodwill. Particular use rights may have characteris-
tics of tangible, rather than intangible, assets. For ex-
ample, mineral rights, defined as the legal right to ex-
plore, extract, and retain at least a portion of the
benefits from mineral deposits, are tangible assets.
An acquirer should account for use rights based on
their nature.

Technology-based intangible assets

A80. Examples of technology-based intangible as-
sets are:

a. Patented technology #
b. Computer software and mask works #
c. Unpatented technology *
d. Databases, including title plants *
e. Trade secrets, such as secret formulas, processes,

recipes. #

Computer software and mask works #

A81. Computer software and program formats ac-
quired that are protected legally, such as by patent or
copyright, meet the contractual-legal criterion for
identification as intangible assets.

A82. Mask works are software permanently stored
on a read-only memory chip as a series of stencils or
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integrated circuitry. Mask works may have legal pro-
tection. Mask works with legal protection that are ac-
quired in an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity
meet the contractual-legal criterion for identification
as intangible assets.

Databases, including title plants *

A83. Databases are collections of information, often
stored in electronic form (such as on computer disks
or files). A database that includes original works of
authorship may be entitled to copyright protection. A
database acquired that is protected by copyright
meets the contractual-legal criterion. However, a da-
tabase typically includes information created as a
consequence of an entity’s normal operations, such
as customer lists, or specialized information, such as
scientific data or credit information. Databases that
are not protected by copyright can be, and often are,
exchanged, licensed, or leased to others in their en-
tirety or in part. Therefore, even if the future eco-
nomic benefits from a database do not arise from le-
gal rights, a database acquired meets the separability
criterion.

A84. Title plants constitute an historical record of all
matters affecting title to parcels of land in a particular
geographical area. Title plant assets are bought and
sold, either in whole or in part, in exchange transac-
tions or are licensed. Therefore, title plant assets ac-
quired meet the separability criterion.

Trade secrets such as secret formulas, processes,
recipes #

A85. A trade secret is “information, including a for-
mula, pattern, recipe, compilation, program, device,
method, technique, or process that (1) derives inde-
pendent economic value, actual or potential, from not
being generally known and (2) is the subject of ef-
forts that are reasonable under the circumstances to
maintain its secrecy.”8 If the future economic ben-

efits from a trade secret acquired are legally pro-
tected, that asset meets the contractual-legal criterion.
Otherwise, trade secrets acquired are identifiable
only if the separability criterion is met, which is
likely to be the case.

Acquired collections (application of
paragraph 39)

A86. In accordance with paragraph 39, an acquirer
that has an organizational policy not to capitalize
collections items should apply FASB Statement
No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made, in accounting for acquired col-
lection items. Statement 116 requires that an entity
with such a policy not recognize acquired collection
items as an asset. Instead, an entity with such a policy
recognizes the cost of purchased collection items as a
decrease in the appropriate class of net assets in the
statement of activities in the period acquired and as a
cash outflow for investing activities if purchased by
cash. Therefore, the acquirer will need to determine
whether acquired collection items were purchased or
contributed and, if purchased, the cost to attribute to
them.

Example 4: Collection items received in an
acquisition by gift

A87. Museum B, which has a policy of not capitaliz-
ing collection items, acquires Museum A without
transferring consideration. As part of the transaction,
Museum B acquires 500 paintings owned by Mu-
seum A. Museum B adds 450 of Museum A’s paint-
ings to its collection. The remaining 50 paintings
acquired from Museum A are not suitable for Mu-
seum B’s collection. They are not subject to donor re-
strictions, and Museum B expects to sell them. The
fair values of Museum A’s assets and liabilities other
than collection items (the 450 paintings) at the acqui-
sition date are as follows:

8Melvin Simensky and Lanning Bryer, The New Role of Intellectual Property in Commercial Transactions (New York: John Wiley & Sons,
1998), 293.
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A88. Because Museum B transferred no consider-
ation, it would recognize a separate credit to its state-
ment of activities (contribution received) of $1,500 in
accordance with paragraph 54. No measurement of
the collection items (the 450 paintings) would be re-
quired because it is evident that those items were
contributed as part of the acquisition. It is evident that
the items were contributed because the fair value of
the identifiable assets (excluding the collection items)
exceeds the fair value of the liabilities assumed and
no consideration was transferred for the acquiree.
Any value that might be ascribed to the newly ac-
quired collection items would increase the amount of
the contribution received by Museum B in the acqui-
sition. Consistent with Statement 116, contributed
collection items that meet the criteria of that State-

ment are not recognized as an asset and a contribu-
tion received.

Example 5: Collection items received in an
acquisition

A89. Museum D, which has a policy of not capital-
izing collection items, acquires Museum C. To effect
the acquisition, Museum D agrees to transfer cash
consideration of $1,600 to a foundation designated
by Museum C. As part of the acquisition, Museum D
acquires 800 paintings owned by Museum C. Mu-
seum D adds all of Museum C’s paintings to its col-
lection. The fair values of Museum C’s assets and li-
abilities other than collection items at the acquisition
date are as follows:

A90. It is unclear whether the collection items were
contributed or purchased because the fair value of the
consideration transferred ($1,600) exceeds the aggre-
gate of the identifiable net assets acquired (excluding
the collection items) ($700). The excess $900 paid
could be attributable entirely to either the collection
items or goodwill, or part could be attributed to the
cost of the collection items and part to goodwill.

A91. In this circumstance, if Museum D determines
that the acquisition-date fair values of the collection
items are far greater than $900, it would presume that
$900 of the excess relates to the cost of the purchased
collection items and that the remainder of the excess
relates to contributed collection items. Consistent
with how purchased collections are recognized in
Statement 116, that $900 cost would be recognized
as a decrease in the appropriate class of net assets in
the statement of activities in the period of the acquisi-
tion. No goodwill or contribution revenue would be
recognized.

A92. If Museum D instead determines that the
acquisition-date fair values of the collection items are
less than $900, for example, $300, it could not pre-
sume that the entire $900 excess relates to the collec-
tion. Rather, Museum D would attribute that lesser
amount to the cost of the purchased collection items
and attribute the remaining portion of the excess

($600) to goodwill in accordance with paragraph 50.
(The acquiree, Museum C, as part of the acquired en-
tity is expected to obtain so much of its support from
sources other than contributions and returns on in-
vestments that it does not qualify to immediately
charge to the statement of activities the amount that
otherwise is recognized as goodwill.)

Measuring the Fair Values of Particular
Identifiable Assets, Assumed Liabilities, and a
Noncontrolling Interest in an Acquiree
(Application of Paragraph 35)

Assets with uncertain cash flows
(valuation allowances)

A93. The acquirer shall not recognize a separate
valuation allowance as of the acquisition date for ac-
quired assets that are measured at their acquisition-
date fair values because the effects of uncertainty
about future cash flows are included in the fair value
measure. For example, because this Statement re-
quires the acquirer to measure acquired receivables,
including loans, at their acquisition-date fair values,
the acquirer does not recognize a separate valuation
allowance for the contractual cash flows that are
deemed to be uncollectible at that date.

FAS164 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS164–46



Assets subject to operating leases in which the
acquiree is the lessor

A94. The acquirer shall measure the acquisition-date
fair value of an asset, such as a building or a patent or
other intangible asset, that is subject to an operating
lease in which the acquiree is the lessor separately
from the lease contract. In other words, the fair value
of the asset shall be the same regardless of whether it
is subject to an operating lease. In accordance with
paragraph A46, the acquirer separately recognizes an
asset or a liability if the terms of the lease are favor-
able or unfavorable relative to market terms.

Assets that the acquirer intends not to use or
to use in a way other than their highest and best
use

A95. For competitive or other reasons, the acquirer
may intend not to use an acquired asset, for example,
a research and development intangible asset, or it
may intend to use the asset in a way that is not its
highest and best use. Nevertheless, the acquirer shall
measure the asset at fair value determined in accord-
ance with Statement 157, reflecting its highest and
best use in accordance with the appropriate valuation
premise, both initially and for purposes of subsequent
impairment testing.

A96. EITF Issue No. 08-7, “Accounting for Defen-
sive IntangibleAssets,” provides guidance on the rec-
ognition and subsequent measurement of intangible
assets that the acquirer intends not to use or to use in
a way other than their highest and best use.

Measuring the fair value of a noncontrolling
interest in an acquiree

A97. This Statement requires the acquirer to meas-
ure a noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at its fair
value at the acquisition date. An acquirer sometimes
will be able to measure the acquisition-date fair value
of a noncontrolling interest on the basis of active
market prices for the equity shares not held by the ac-
quirer. In other situations, however, an active market
price for the equity shares will not be available. In
those situations, the acquirer would measure the fair
value of the noncontrolling interest using other valu-
ation techniques.

A98. The fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the
acquiree might differ from the fair value of the non-
controlling interest on a per-share basis (if the ac-
quiree is a business entity). The main difference is

likely to be the inclusion of a control premium in the
per-share fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the
acquiree or, conversely, the inclusion of a discount
for lack of control (also referred to as a minority in-
terest discount) in the per-share fair value of the non-
controlling interest.

Transfer of consideration in which the acquirer
retains control (application of paragraph 57)

A99. Paragraph 57 requires that an asset transferred
by the acquirer to a designee of the former owner be
taken into account in measuring consideration trans-
ferred unless the acquirer retains control over the
transferred assets.

Example 6: Asset transfer in which the acquirer
retains control over the future economic benefits
after the acquisition

A100. An independent not-for-profit community
hospital (Hospital) agreed to be acquired by a nearby
not-for-profit health care system (System). Hospital
was in the midst of a major capital project at the ac-
quisition date. To ensure completion of that capital
project, Hospital’s board of directors required that
System transfer $20 million to a newly formed, unre-
lated foundation (Foundation) governed by a self-
perpetuating board of directors. Foundation’s initial
board of directors is composed of the former board of
directors of Hospital. The acquisition agreement re-
quires that the $20 million be used to complete the
project, if necessary, and that any assets remaining in
Foundation on completion of the capital project be
used solely for future capital projects at Hospital.

A101. In this example, the acquirer has transferred
assets to an unrelated third party as a required condi-
tion of the acquisition. However, because those assets
may be used only for future capital additions at Hos-
pital, System has retained control over the future eco-
nomic benefits of those assets. A transferor that re-
tains control over the economic benefits in the
transferred assets has not transferred assets in ex-
change for the acquiree. Rather, that transferor has
exchanged one asset for another. An asset transfer of
that type should be accounted for as an asset-for-asset
exchange rather than as consideration transferred.

Measurement period (application of
paragraphs 61–65 and 90(a))

A102. If the initial accounting for an acquisition is
incomplete at the end of the financial reporting pe-
riod in which the combination occurs, paragraph 61
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requires that the acquirer recognize in its financial
statements provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. During the
measurement period, the acquirer recognizes adjust-
ments to the provisional amounts needed to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circum-
stances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the measurement of the
amounts recognized as of that date. Paragraph 65 re-
quires the acquirer to recognize such adjustments as
if the accounting for the acquisition had been com-
pleted at the acquisition date. Measurement period
adjustments are not included in changes in net assets.

Example 7: Appraisal that is incomplete at the
reporting date

A103. AC acquires TC on September 30, 20X7. AC
does not expect TC’s operations to be primarily sup-
ported by contributions and returns on investments.
AC seeks an independent appraisal for an item of
property, plant, and equipment acquired in the com-
bination, and the appraisal was not complete by the
time AC issued its financial statements for the year
ending December 31, 20X7. In its 20X7 annual fi-
nancial statements, AC recognized a provisional fair
value for the asset of $30,000.At the acquisition date,
the item of property, plant, and equipment had a re-
maining useful life of five years. Five months after
the acquisition date, AC received the independent ap-
praisal, which estimated the asset’s acquisition-date
fair value as $40,000.

A104. In its financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 20X8, AC retrospectively adjusts the
20X7 prior-year information as follows:

a. The carrying amount of property, plant, and
equipment as of December 31, 20X7, is in-
creased by $9,500. That adjustment is measured
as the fair value adjustment at the acquisition date
of $10,000 less the additional depreciation that
would have been recognized had the asset’s fair
value at the acquisition date been recognized
from that date ($500 for 3 months’depreciation).

b. The carrying amount of goodwill as of Decem-
ber 31, 20X7, is decreased by $10,000.

c. Depreciation expense for 20X7 is increased by
$500.

A105. In accordance with paragraph 90(a), AC
discloses:

a. In its 20X7 financial statements, that the initial
accounting for the acquisition has not been com-

pleted because the appraisal of property, plant,
and equipment has not yet been received.

b. In its 20X8 financial statements, the amounts and
explanations of the adjustments to the provisional
values recognized during the current reporting
period. Therefore, AC discloses that the 20X7
comparative information is retrospectively ad-
justed to increase the fair value of the item of
property, plant, and equipment at the acquisition
date by $9,500, offset by a decrease to goodwill
of $10,000 and an increase in depreciation ex-
pense of $500.

Determining What Is Part of the Acquisition
(Application of Paragraphs 67 and 68)

A106. The acquirer should consider the following
factors, which are neither mutually exclusive nor in-
dividually conclusive, to determine whether a trans-
action is part of the consideration transferred for the
acquiree or whether the transaction is separate from
the acquisition:

a. The reasons for the transaction—Understanding
the reasons why the parties to the combination
(the acquirer, the acquiree, and their owners, di-
rectors, managers, and their agents) entered into a
particular transaction or arrangement may pro-
vide insight into whether it is part of the consider-
ation transferred and the assets acquired or liabili-
ties assumed. For example, if a transaction is
arranged primarily for the benefit of the acquirer
or the combined entity rather than primarily for
the benefit of the acquiree or its former owners
before the combination, that portion of the trans-
action price paid (and any related assets or liabili-
ties) is less likely to be part of the exchange for
the acquiree. Accordingly, the acquirer would
account for that portion separately from the
acquisition.

b. Who initiated the transaction—Understanding
who initiated the transaction may also provide in-
sight into whether it is part of the exchange for
the acquiree. For example, a transaction or other
event that is initiated by the acquirer may be en-
tered into for the purpose of providing future eco-
nomic benefits to the acquirer or combined entity
with little or no benefit received by the acquiree
or its former owners before the combination. On
the other hand, a transaction or arrangement initi-
ated by the acquiree or its former owners is less
likely to be for the benefit of the acquirer or the
combined entity and more likely to be part of the
acquisition transaction.
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c. The timing of the transaction—The timing of the
transaction may also provide insight into whether
it is part of the exchange for the acquiree. For ex-
ample, a transaction between the acquirer and the
acquiree that takes place during the negotiations
of the terms of an acquisition may have been en-
tered into in contemplation of the acquisition to
provide future economic benefits to the acquirer
or the combined entity. If so, the acquiree or its
former owners before the acquisition are likely to
receive little or no benefit from the transaction
except for benefits they receive as part of the
combined entity.

Example 8: Asset acquired from a third-party
donor that is included in the acquisition
accounting

A107. To induce the acquisition of WO (Weak Or-
ganization) by SO (Strong Organization), as a condi-
tion of SO’s acquisition of WO, a third-party donor
agrees to provide a cash contribution to support
WO’s mission. That assistance is transferred to SO
(the consolidated entity) upon the closing of the ac-
quisition agreement. The donor, as part of its mission
and purpose, has an interest in supporting certain not-
for-profit entities. From the perspective of the donor,
the assistance provided to induce SO to acquire WO
is in the furtherance of its mission.

A108. In this case, the transaction was arranged pri-
marily to achieve economic benefits favorable to the
acquiree. Thus, that assistance would be an asset ac-
quired at the acquisition date that is recognized as
part of accounting for the acquisition. The cash assis-
tance is also included in the acquisition accounting
even though it is transferred to the resulting com-
bined entity. The situation is accounted for the same
as if the third-party donor had contributed the cash to
WO before SO’s acquisition of WO.

Effective settlement of a preexisting relationship
between the acquirer and the acquiree (application
of paragraph 68(a))

A109. The acquirer and acquiree may have a rela-
tionship that existed before they contemplated the ac-
quisition, referred to here as a preexisting relation-
ship. A preexisting relationship between the acquirer
and the acquiree may be contractual (for example,
vendor and customer or licensor and licensee)
or noncontractual (for example, plaintiff and
defendant).

A110. If the acquisition in effect settles a preexisting
relationship, the acquirer recognizes a gain or loss,
measured as follows:

a. For a preexisting noncontractual relationship
(such as a lawsuit), fair value

b. For a preexisting contractual relationship, the
lesser of:
(1) The amount by which the contract is favor-

able or unfavorable from the perspective of
the acquirer when compared with pricing for
current market transactions for the same or
similar items. (An unfavorable contract is a
contract that is unfavorable in terms of cur-
rent market terms. It is not necessarily a loss
contract in which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under it.)

(2) The amount of any stated settlement provi-
sions in the contract available to the counter-
party to whom the contract is unfavorable.

If (2) is less than (1), the difference is included as
part of the acquisition accounting.

A111. Examples 9 and 10 illustrate the accounting
for the effective settlement of a preexisting relation-
ship as a result of an acquisition. As indicated in Ex-
ample 10, the amount of gain or loss recognized may
depend in part on whether the acquirer had previ-
ously recognized a related asset or liability, and the
reported gain or loss therefore may differ from the
amount calculated by applying paragraph A110.

A112. A preexisting relationship may be a contract
that the acquirer recognizes as a reacquired right in
accordance with paragraph A52. If the contract in-
cludes terms that are favorable or unfavorable when
compared with pricing for current market transac-
tions for the same or similar items, the acquirer rec-
ognizes, separately from the acquisition, a gain or
loss for the effective settlement of the contract, meas-
ured in accordance with paragraph A110.

Example 9: Effective settlement of a supply
contract as a result of an acquisition

A113. AC purchases electronic components from
TC under a five-year supply contract at fixed rates.
Currently, the fixed rates are higher than rates at
which AC could purchase similar electronic compo-
nents from another supplier. The supply contract al-
lows AC to terminate the contract before the end of
the initial 5-year term only by paying a $6 million
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penalty. With 3 years remaining under the supply
contract, AC pays $50 million to acquire TC, which
is the fair value of TC based on what other market
participants would be willing to pay.

A114. Included in TC’s identifiable net assets is
$8 million related to the fair value of the supply con-
tract with AC. The $8 million represents a $3 million
component that is “at market” because the pricing is
comparable to pricing for current market transactions
for the same or similar items (selling effort, customer
relationships, and so forth) and a $5 million compo-
nent for pricing that is unfavorable to AC because it
exceeds the price of current market transactions for
similar items. TC has no other identifiable assets or
liabilities related to the supply contract, and AC has
not recognized any assets or liabilities related to the
supply contract before the acquisition.

A115. In this example, AC recognizes a loss of
$5 million (the lesser of the $6 million stated settle-
ment amount and the amount by which the contract
is unfavorable to the acquirer) separately from the ac-
quisition. The $3 million at-market component of the
contract is part of goodwill.

Example 10: Effective settlement of a contract
between the acquirer and the acquiree in which
the acquirer had recognized a liability before the
acquisition

A116. Whether AC had previously recognized an
amount in its financial statements related to a preex-
isting relationship will affect the amount recognized
as a gain or loss for the effective settlement of the re-
lationship. In Example 9, generally accepted ac-
counting principles (GAAP) might have required AC
to recognize a $6 million liability for the supply con-
tract at the most recent reporting date. (The $6 mil-
lion amount required by GAAP might not have been
fair value; if it was, the fair value has decreased by
the acquisition date.) In that situation, AC recognizes
a $1 million settlement gain on the contract in the
statement of activities at the acquisition date (the
$5 million measured loss on the contract less the
$6 million loss previously recognized). In other
words, AC has in effect settled a recognized liability
of $6 million for $5 million, resulting in a gain of
$1 million.

Arrangements for contingent payments to
employees or selling shareholders (application of
paragraph 68(b))

A117. Whether arrangements for contingent pay-
ments to employees or selling shareholders are con-

tingent consideration in the acquisition or are sepa-
rate transactions depends on the nature of the
arrangements. Understanding the reasons why the
acquisition agreement includes a provision for con-
tingent payments, who initiated the arrangement, and
when the parties entered into the arrangement may be
helpful in assessing the nature of the arrangement.

A118. If it is not clear whether an arrangement for
payments to employees or selling shareholders is part
of the exchange for the acquiree or is a transaction
separate from the acquisition, the acquirer should
consider the following indicators:

a. Continuing employment—The terms of continu-
ing employment by the selling shareholders who
become key employees may be an indicator of
the substance of a contingent consideration ar-
rangement. The relevant terms of continuing em-
ployment may be included in an employment
agreement, acquisition agreement, or some other
document. A contingent consideration arrange-
ment in which the payments are automatically
forfeited if employment terminates is compensa-
tion for postcombination services. Arrangements
in which the contingent payments are not affected
by employment termination may indicate that the
contingent payments are additional consideration
rather than compensation.

b. Duration of continuing employment—If the pe-
riod of required employment coincides with or is
longer than the contingent payment period, that
fact may indicate that the contingent payments
are, in substance, compensation.

c. Level of compensation—Situations in which em-
ployee compensation other than the contingent
payments is at a reasonable level in comparison
to that of other key employees in the combined
entity may indicate that the contingent pay-
ments are additional consideration rather than
compensation.

d. Incremental payments to employees—If selling
shareholders who do not become employees re-
ceive lower contingent payments on a per-share
basis than the selling shareholders who become
employees of the combined entity, that fact may
indicate that the incremental amount of contin-
gent payments to the selling shareholders who
become employees is compensation.

e. Number of shares owned—The relative number
of shares owned by the selling shareholders who
remain as key employees may be an indicator of
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the substance of the contingent consideration ar-
rangement. For example, if the selling sharehold-
ers who owned substantially all of the shares in
the acquiree continue as key employees, that fact
may indicate that the arrangement is, in sub-
stance, a profit-sharing arrangement intended to
provide compensation for postcombination serv-
ices. Alternatively, if selling shareholders who
continue as key employees owned only a small
number of shares of the acquiree and all selling
shareholders receive the same amount of contin-
gent consideration on a per-share basis, that fact
may indicate that the contingent payments are ad-
ditional consideration. The preacquisition owner-
ship interests held by parties related to selling
shareholders who continue as key employ-
ees, such as family members, also should be
considered.

f. Linkage to the valuation—If the initial consider-
ation transferred at the acquisition date is based
on the low end of a range established in the valu-
ation of the acquiree and the contingent formula
relates to that valuation approach, that fact may
suggest that the contingent payments are addi-
tional consideration. Alternatively, if the contin-
gent payment formula is consistent with prior
profit-sharing arrangements, that fact may sug-
gest that the substance of the arrangement is to
provide compensation.

g. Formula for determining consideration—The
formula used to determine the contingent pay-
ment may be helpful in assessing the substance of
the arrangement. For example, if a contingent
payment is determined on the basis of a multiple
of earnings, that might suggest that the obligation
is contingent consideration in the acquisition and
that the formula is intended to establish or verify
the fair value of the acquiree. In contrast, a con-
tingent payment that is a specified percentage of
earnings might suggest that the obligation to em-
ployees is a profit-sharing arrangement to com-
pensate employees for services rendered.

h. Other agreements and issues—The terms of
other arrangements with selling shareholders
(such as noncompete agreements, executory con-
tracts, consulting contracts, and property lease
agreements) and the income tax treatment of con-
tingent payments may indicate that contingent

payments are attributable to something other than
consideration for the acquiree. For example, in
connection with the acquisition, the acquirer
might enter into a property lease arrangement
with a significant selling shareholder. If the lease
payments specified in the lease contract are sig-
nificantly below market, some or all of the con-
tingent payments to the lessor (the selling share-
holder) required by a separate arrangement for
contingent payments might be, in substance, pay-
ments for the use of the leased property that the
acquirer should recognize separately in its post-
combination financial statements. In contrast, if
the lease contract specifies lease payments that
are consistent with market terms for the leased
property, the arrangement for contingent pay-
ments to the selling shareholder may be contin-
gent consideration in the acquisition.

Example 11: Arrangement for contingent
payment to an employee

A119. TC hired a candidate as its new CEO under a
10-year contract. The contract required TC to pay the
candidate $1.5 million if TC is acquired before the
contract expires. AC acquires TC eight years later.
The CEO was still employed at the acquisition date
and will receive the additional payment under the ex-
isting contract.

A120. In this example, TC entered into the employ-
ment agreement before the negotiations of the com-
bination began, and the purpose of the agreement
was to obtain the services of CEO. Thus, there is no
evidence that the agreement was arranged primarily
to provide benefits to AC or the combined entity.
Therefore, the liability to pay $1.5 million is included
in the application of the acquisition method.

A121. In other circumstances, TC might enter into a
similar agreement with CEO at the suggestion of AC
during the negotiations for the acquisition. If so, the
primary purpose of the agreement might be to pro-
vide severance pay to CEO, and the agreement may
primarily benefit AC or the combined entity rather
than TC or its former owners. In that situation, AC
accounts for the liability to pay CEO in its postcom-
bination financial statements separately from applica-
tion of the acquisition method.
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Illustrations of Presentation in the Statement
of Activities

A122. If the operations of the acquiree are expected
to be predominantly supported by contributions and
returns on investments, paragraph 51 requires the ac-
quirer to recognize an excess of consideration trans-
ferred9 over the net assets acquired as a separate
charge in its statement of activities as of the acquisi-
tion date. Paragraph 71 provides guidance on how
that separate charge should be presented in the state-
ment of activities. Example 12 illustrates one way in
which the requirements of paragraphs 51 and 71
might be implemented.

A123. Paragraph 54 requires the acquirer to recog-
nize an excess of the amount in paragraph 50(b) over
the amount in paragraph 50(a) (a contribution re-
ceived) as a separate credit in its statement of activi-
ties as of the acquisition date. Paragraphs 72 and 73
require the acquirer to present a contribution received
as a separate line item and to classify the recognized
contribution received according to the type of re-
strictions imposed on the related net assets. Ex-
amples 13 and 14 illustrate the application of those
requirements.

Example 12: Acquiree expected in the combined
entity to be predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments, and
related disclosure requirements (application of
paragraphs 51, 71, and 86(a)–(e))

A124. On February 10, 20X0, Organization ABC, a
religious not-for-profit entity, purchases 100 percent
of the ownership interests in Restaurant XYZ for
consideration of $525,000. On the acquisition date,
the amount of the net identifiable assets of Restau-
rant XYZ recognized and measured in accordance
with this Statement was $410,000. Organiza-
tion ABC acquired Restaurant XYZ for the purpose
of converting it to a soup kitchen.

A125. Management of Organization ABC expects
the soup kitchen resulting from the conversion of
Restaurant XYZ to be predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments. Specifi-
cally, the operating costs of the soup kitchen are ex-
pected to be funded by Organization ABC’s existing
contribution base. The following table illustrates how
Organization ABC might satisfy the requirements of
paragraph 71 for presenting the separate charge to the
statement of activities at the acquisition date.

A126. Paragraph 86 of this Statement specifies in-
formation to be disclosed to satisfy the objective of
enabling users of its financial statements to evaluate
the nature and financial effect of an acquisition that

occurs during the reporting period. In the example,
Organization ABC might satisfy the requirements of
paragraph 86(a)−(e) as shown in the illustrative note
below.

9For ease of illustration, the example assumes that there is no noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and that the transaction is not an acquisition
achieved in stages.
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Note X: Acquisition of Restaurant XYZ

On February 10, 20X0, Organization ABC acquired
Restaurant XYZ, a local restaurant, which it con-
verted into a soup kitchen. Organization ABC ac-
quired Restaurant XYZ as part of furthering its mis-
sion to care for the needy. The acquisition was
effected by purchasing 100 percent of the ownership
interests in Restaurant XYZ.

Because the operations of the soup kitchen are ex-
pected to be predominantly supported by contribu-
tions and returns on investments, Organization ABC
has recognized the excess of the consideration trans-
ferred over the net assets acquired as a separate
charge in its statement of activities rather than as
goodwill. Organization ABC paid consideration of
$525,000 for Restaurant XYZ. On the acquisition

date, the net identifiable assets of Restaurant XYZ
were $410,000. The excess of the amount paid over
the net identifiable assets acquired represents (a) the
value of Restaurant XYZ’s assembled workforce,
which is not recognized as a separate intangible asset,
and (b) the value of Restaurant XYZ’s earnings po-
tential as a restaurant to other potential buyers.

Example 13: Donor restrictions on a contribution
received (application of paragraphs 54 and 73)

A127. CharityAacquires Charity B. CharityAtrans-
fers no consideration in exchange for Charity B. The
acquisition was achieved by, in effect, a gift of Char-
ity B to Charity A. The fair values of Charity B’s as-
sets and liabilities, including donor-imposed restric-
tions, at the acquisition date are:

A128. Charity A recognizes a $1,000 contribution
received in the acquisition (the excess of the
acquisition-date values of the identifiable assets ac-
quired over the acquisition-date values of the liabili-
ties assumed). Charity A classifies the inherent con-
tribution received according to the type of donor-
imposed restrictions, including any imposed by the
donor of the business or nonprofit activity acquired.
Based on donor restrictions on Charity B’s net assets
at the acquisition date, net assets with a fair value of

$250 and $200 were classified as temporarily re-
stricted and permanently restricted net assets, respec-
tively. In this example, Charity B is, in effect, the do-
nor of the acquired nonprofit activity, and it imposes
no additional donor restrictions. To recognize the fi-
duciary responsibilities to the donors of Charity B
that are assumed when Charity B’s assets and liabili-
ties are acquired, CharityAwould classify changes to
its net assets as follows:
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Example 14: Donor restrictions on a contribution received (application of paragraph 73)

A129. The facts are the same as in Example 13, except that Charity B is a subsidiary of Parent before the
acquisition by Charity A.

A130. As a condition of the merger, Parent’s governing board requires that Charity A use $175 of unrestricted
net assets for future capital improvements to the facility acquired. The requirement is irrevocable and is not
self-imposed. To recognize the fiduciary responsibilities to the donors of Charity B that are assumed when
Charity B’s assets and liabilities are acquired, Charity A would classify changes to its net assets as follows:

Illustration of Presentation in the Cash Flow Statement (Application of Paragraph 75)

A131. A not-for-profit entity (Entity X) acquires Entity S from Entity S’s parent. As part of the acquisition,
Entity S’s parent requires that Entity X transfer consideration of $300 to a third-party community foundation.
The fair values of Entity S’s assets and liabilities at the acquisition date are:

A132. Entity X reports the acquisition as a single line in the investing activities section of the statement of
cash flows, as follows:

A133. Entity X discloses the following additional information in a supplemental schedule of noncash invest-
ing and financing activities:
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Continuing Authoritative Guidance

A134. Paragraphs A135–A148 provide continuing
authoritative guidance for asset acquisitions and for
transactions between entities under common control.
The guidance in this appendix has been quoted, para-
phrased, or modified as necessary so that it can be
understood in the context of this Statement. The
original source of the guidance is noted parentheti-
cally or otherwise. Although those sources did not
initially apply to not-for-profit entities, inclusion of
the guidance in this Statement makes it applicable to
them.

Accounting for Asset Acquisitions—
General Concepts

A135. Paragraph 21 of this Statement clarifies that if
assets acquired and liabilities assumed do not consti-
tute a business or a nonprofit activity, as defined in
paragraphs 3(e) and 3(t), respectively, the transaction
should be accounted for as an asset acquisition. The
typical accounting for an asset acquisition is de-
scribed in paragraphs A136–A140.

A136. Initial recognition. Assets commonly are ac-
quired in exchange transactions that trigger the initial
recognition of the assets acquired and any liabilities
assumed. If the consideration given in exchange for
the assets (or net assets) acquired is in the form of as-
sets surrendered (such as cash), the assets surren-
dered are derecognized at the date of acquisition. If
the consideration given is in the form of liabilities in-
curred or equity interests issued, the liabilities in-
curred and equity interests issued are initially recog-
nized at the date of acquisition. (FAS 141, ¶4)

A137. Initial measurement. Assets are recognized
based on their cost to the acquiring entity, which gen-
erally includes the transaction costs of the asset ac-
quisition, and no gain or loss is recognized unless the
fair value of noncash assets given as consideration
differs from the assets’ carrying amounts on the ac-
quiring entity’s books. For transactions involving
nonmonetary consideration within the scope of APB
Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Trans-
actions, an acquirer must first determine if any of the
conditions in paragraph 20 of Opinion 29 apply.
(FAS 141, ¶5)

A138. Asset acquisitions in which the consideration
given is cash are measured by the amount of cash
paid, which generally includes the transaction costs
of the asset acquisition. However, if the consideration
given is not in the form of cash (that is, in the form
of noncash assets, liabilities incurred, or equity inter-

ests issued), measurement is based on either the cost,
which shall be measured based on the fair value of
the consideration given or the fair value of the assets
(or net assets) acquired, whichever is more clearly
evident and, thus, more reliably measurable. For
transactions involving nonmonetary consideration
within the scope of Opinion 29, an acquirer must first
determine if any of the conditions in paragraph 20 of
Opinion 29 apply. (FAS 141, ¶6)

A139. Allocating cost.Acquiring assets in groups re-
quires not only ascertaining the cost of the asset (or
net asset) group but also allocating that cost to the in-
dividual assets (or individual assets and liabilities)
that make up the group. The cost of such a group
shall be determined using the concepts described in
paragraphs A137 and A138. The cost of a group of
assets acquired in an asset acquisition shall be allo-
cated to the individual assets acquired or liabilities
assumed based on their relative fair values and shall
not give rise to goodwill. The allocated cost of an as-
set that the entity does not intend to use or intends to
use in a way that is not its highest and best use, such
as a brand name, shall nevertheless be measured on
the basis of its relative fair value. (FAS 141, ¶7; FAS
142, ¶9)

A140. Accounting after acquisition. After the acqui-
sition, the acquiring entity accounts for the asset or li-
ability in accordance with the appropriate GAAP.
The basis for measuring the asset acquired or liabil-
ity assumed has no effect on the subsequent account-
ing for the asset or liability. (Opinion 16, ¶69;
FAS 141, ¶8)

Transactions between Entities under
Common Control

A141. Paragraph 2(c) states that this Statement does
not apply to combinations between entities or busi-
nesses under common control. The following are ex-
amples of those types of transactions:

a. An entity charters a newly formed entity and then
transfers some or all of its net assets to that newly
chartered entity.

b. A parent transfers the net assets of a wholly
owned subsidiary into the parent and liquidates
the subsidiary. That transaction is a change in le-
gal organization but not a change in the reporting
entity.

c. A parent transfers its controlling interest in sev-
eral partially owned subsidiaries to a new wholly
owned subsidiary. That also is a change in legal
organization but not in the reporting entity.
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d. A parent exchanges its ownership interests or the
net assets of a wholly owned subsidiary for addi-
tional shares issued by the parent’s less-than-
wholly-owned subsidiary, thereby increasing the
parent’s percentage of ownership in the less-than-
wholly-owned subsidiary but leaving all of the
existing noncontrolling interest outstanding.
(FAS 141, ¶D11)

e. A parent’s less-than-wholly-owned subsidiary
issues its shares in exchange for shares of an-
other subsidiary previously owned by the same
parent, and the noncontrolling shareholders are
not party to the exchange. That is not a busi-
ness combination or an acquisition by a not-for-
profit entity from the perspective of the parent.
(FTB 85-5, ¶7)

f. A limited liability company is formed by com-
bining entities under common control. (AICPA
Practice Bulletin 14, ¶05)

g. Two or more not-for-profit entities that are effec-
tively controlled by the same board members
transfer their net assets to a new entity, dissolve
the former entities, and appoint the same board
members to the newly combined entity.

A142. Sometimes, the mission, operations, and his-
torical sources of support of two or more not-for-
profit entities may be closely linked to benefiting a
particular group of citizens. However, that group nei-
ther owns nor controls the not-for-profit entities.
Therefore, mergers and acquisitions between or
among two or more organizations, all of which ben-
efit a particular group of citizens, should not be con-
sidered common control transactions solely because
those entities benefit a particular group.

A143. When accounting for a transfer of assets or
exchange of shares between entities under common
control, the entity that receives the net assets or the
equity interests should initially recognize the assets
and liabilities transferred at their carrying amounts in
the accounts of the transferring entity at the date of
transfer. (FAS 141, ¶D12) If the carrying amounts of
the assets and liabilities transferred differ from the
historical cost of the parent of the entities under com-
mon control, for example, because push-down ac-
counting had not been applied, then the financial
statements of the receiving entity should reflect the
transferred assets and liabilities at the historical cost
of the parent of the entities under common control.
(Issue 90-5)

Procedural guidance

A144. Some transfers of net assets or exchanges of
shares between entities under common control result
in a change in the reporting entity. In practice, the
method that many entities have used to account for
those transactions is similar to the pooling method.
Paragraphs A145–A148 provide procedural guid-
ance that shall be considered when preparing finan-
cial statements and related disclosures for the entity
that receives the net assets. (FAS 141, ¶D14)

A145. In some instances, the entity that receives the
net assets or equity interests (the receiving entity) and
the entity that transferred the net assets or equity in-
terests (the transferring entity) may account for simi-
lar assets and liabilities using different accounting
methods. In such circumstances, the carrying
amounts of the assets and liabilities transferred may
be adjusted to the basis of accounting used by the re-
ceiving entity if the change would be preferable. Any
such change in accounting method should be applied
retrospectively, and financial statements presented
for prior periods should be adjusted unless it is im-
practicable to do so. FASB Statement No. 154, Ac-
counting Changes and Error Corrections, provides
guidance if retrospective application is impracticable.
(FAS 141, ¶D15)

A146. The financial statements of the receiving en-
tity should report [changes in net assets] for the pe-
riod in which the transfer occurs as though the trans-
fer of net assets or exchange of equity interests had
occurred at the beginning of the period. [Changes in
net assets] for that period will thus comprise those of
the previously separate entities combined from the
beginning of the period to the date the transfer is
completed and those of the combined operations
from that date to the end of the period. By eliminat-
ing the effects of intraentity transactions in determin-
ing the [changes in net assets] for the period before
the combination, those results will be on substantially
the same basis as the [changes in net assets] for the
period after the date of combination. The effects of
intraentity transactions on current assets, current li-
abilities, revenue, and cost of sales for periods pre-
sented and on [net assets] at the beginning of the pe-
riods presented should be eliminated to the extent
possible. The nature of and effects of nonrecurring
intraentity transactions involving long-term assets
and liabilities need not be eliminated but should be
disclosed. (Opinion 16, ¶56; FAS 141, ¶D16)

A147. Similarly, the receiving entity should present
the statement of financial position and other financial
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information as of the beginning of the period as
though the assets and liabilities had been transferred
at that date. Financial statements and financial infor-
mation presented for prior years also should be retro-
spectively adjusted to furnish comparative informa-
tion. All adjusted financial statements and financial
summaries should indicate clearly that financial data
of previously separate entities are combined. How-
ever, the comparative information in prior years
should only be adjusted for periods during which the
entities were under common control. (Opinion 16,
¶57; FAS 141, ¶D17)

A148. The notes to the financial statements of the re-
ceiving entity should disclose the following for the

period in which the transfer of assets and liabilities or
exchange of equity interests occurred:

a. The name and brief description of the entity in-
cluded in the reporting entity as a result of the net
asset transfer or exchange of equity interests

b. The method of accounting for the transfer of
net assets or exchange of equity interests.
(FAS 141, ¶D18)

The receiving entity also should consider whether ad-
ditional disclosures are required in accordance with
FASB Statement No. 57, Related Party Disclosures.

Appendix B

DISCLOSURES FOR AND ILLUSTRATION OF PRESENTATION OF NONCONTROLLING
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Appendix B

DISCLOSURES FOR AND
ILLUSTRATION OF PRESENTATION OF
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
REQUIRED BY ARB 51, AS AMENDED BY
STATEMENT 160 AND THIS STATEMENT

Introduction

B1. In December 2007, the Board issued FASB
Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Con-
solidated Financial Statements. Not-for-profit enti-
ties were excluded from the scope of Statement 160

until the Board issued interpretative guidance, which
this Statement provides. Paragraph 93 of this State-
ment makes the amendments Statement 160 made to
ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements
(and to other existing pronouncements), applicable to
not-for-profit entities. Paragraphs B2–B10 also
amend ARB 51 to provide certain presentation and
disclosure requirements and illustrative guidance for
a not-for-profit entity that has one or more consoli-
dated subsidiaries with a noncontrolling interest. The
requirements and guidance are based on the reporting
provisions of FASB Statement No. 117, Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations, that ap-
ply to not-for-profit entities. They are in lieu of the
disclosure requirements of paragraph 38 of ARB 51,
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as amended by Statement 160, which are based on
provisions that apply to business entities. The provi-
sions included in FASB Statement No. 130, Report-
ing Comprehensive Income, are one example of such
provisions.

Presentation of Noncontrolling Interests

B2. Noncontrolling interests in the equity (net as-
sets) of consolidated subsidiaries shall be reported as
a separate component of the appropriate class of net
assets in the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion of a not-for-profit entity. That amount shall be
clearly identified and described (for example, as non-
controlling ownership interest in subsidiaries) to dis-
tinguish it from the components of net assets of the
parent, which include the parent’s controlling finan-
cial interest in its subsidiaries. The effects of donor-
imposed restrictions, if any, on a partially owned sub-
sidiary’s net assets shall be reported in accordance
with Statement 117 and FASB Statement No. 124,
Accounting for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-
Profit Organizations. (Paragraphs B5–B9 illustrate
the reporting requirements.)

Disclosures for Noncontrolling Interests

B3. A not-for-profit entity (parent) that has one or
more consolidated subsidiaries with a noncontrolling
interest shall provide a schedule of changes in con-
solidated net assets attributable to the parent and the
noncontrolling interest either in notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements or on the face of financial
statements, if practicable. That schedule shall recon-
cile beginning and ending balances of the parent’s
controlling interest and the noncontrolling interests
for each class of net assets for which a noncontrolling
interest exists during the reporting period.

B4. The schedule required by paragraph B3 shall, at
a minimum, include:

a. A performance indicator, if the entity is within
the scope of the AICPA Audit and Accounting
Guide, Health Care Organizations

b. Amounts of discontinued operations
c. Amounts of extraordinary items
d. Changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary,

including investments by and distributions to
noncontrolling interests acting in their capacity as
owners, which shall be reported separately from
any revenues, expenses, gains, or losses and out-
side any measure of operations, if reported

e. An aggregate amount of all other changes in un-
restricted net assets (or other net asset classes, if
restricted) for the period.

(Paragraph B10 illustrates the requirements of para-
graphs B3 and B4 using a reconciling schedule in
notes to the consolidated financial statements.)

Illustration of Presentation of
Noncontrolling Interests

B5. The following example illustrates one way in
which the consolidated financial statements of a not-
for-profit entity might satisfy the presentation and
disclosure requirements for noncontrolling interests
in a consolidated subsidiary and subsequent changes
in ownership interests of that subsidiary. The ex-
ample uses simplified assumptions and highly aggre-
gated amounts to illustrate how to apply the provi-
sions ofARB 51, as amended. It does not illustrate all
possible situations or applications of ARB 51 or of
other generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). For example, Exhibits 1 and 2 show rela-
tively few highly aggregated amounts of assets, li-
abilities, revenues, and expenses rather than details
such as expenses by function or nature. Exhibit 1 also
does not classify assets and liabilities, which is
required for a not-for-profit hospital under para-
graph 1.06 of the health care Guide that states “health
care organizations should classify assets and liabili-
ties as current and noncurrent.” The example also
omits a statement of cash flows, which does not bear
on the presentation and disclosure requirements for
noncontrolling interests.

B6. Formats or levels of detail other than those pre-
sented in this example may be appropriate for other
situations. For example, the related net assets and
noncontrolling interest would be presented in tempo-
rarily or permanently restricted net assets if donor-
imposed restrictions on the use of the subsidiary’s net
assets existed in this example (paragraph B2 of this
Statement).

B7. The example is based on the following
assumptions:

Assumptions for all years

a. Hospital A, a not-for-profit tax-exempt entity, has
one subsidiary, Subsidiary A. That ownership in-
terest in SubsidiaryAwas purchased; there are no
donor-imposed restrictions on the use of Subsid-
iary A’s net assets.

b. Subsidiary A is an investor-owned entity that is
subject to income taxes. The tax rate for all years
is 40 percent.

c. Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common stock
outstanding and does not pay dividends.
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Assumptions for 20X2

d. On January 1, 20X2, Hospital A sells 2,000 of its 10,000 shares in Subsidiary A to an unrelated entity for
$50,000 in cash, reducing its ownership interest from 100 percent to 80 percent. Immediately before the
sale, Subsidiary A’s equity was as follows:

The accumulated other comprehensive income balance of $5,000 represents an unrealized gain on a port-
folio of securities purchased by Subsidiary A for $100,000, which it classifies as available-for-sale securi-
ties at the carrying amount of $105,000 and are the only investment securities of the consolidated group.

The sale of SubsidiaryA’s shares is accounted for as an equity transaction (within unrestricted net assets) in
the consolidated financial statements of Hospital A, as follows:

(1) Anoncontrolling interest is recognized in unrestricted net assets in the amount of $41,000 ($205,000 ×
20 percent).

(2) Unrestricted net assets attributable to Hospital A are increased by $9,000, calculated as the difference
between the cash received ($50,000) and the carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest ($41,000).

(3) The top-level (consolidated) journal entry to record the sale of SubsidiaryA’s shares to the noncontrol-
ling shareholder is as follows:

e. For the year ended December 31, 20X2, the amount of Subsidiary A’s net income included in the consoli-
dated financial statements is $20,000, which included a net loss for discontinued operations of $7,000.

Assumptions for 20X3

f. On January 1, 20X3, HospitalApurchases 1,000 shares in SubsidiaryAfrom the noncontrolling sharehold-
ers (50 percent of the noncontrolling interest) for $30,000 cash, increasing its ownership interest from
80 percent to 90 percent. Immediately before that purchase, the carrying amount of the noncontrolling in-
terest in Subsidiary A was $48,000. The purchase of shares from the noncontrolling shareholders is ac-
counted for as an equity transaction in the consolidated financial statements, as follows:

(1) The noncontrolling interest balance within unrestricted net assets is reduced by $24,000 ($48,000 ×
50 percent interest acquired by Hospital A).

(2) Unrestricted net assets attributable to Hospital A are decreased by $6,000, calculated as the difference
between the cash paid ($30,000) and the adjustment to the carrying amount of the noncontrolling in-
terest ($24,000).

(3) The top-level (consolidated) journal entry to record that purchase of Subsidiary A’s shares from the
noncontrolling shareholders is as follows:
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g. For the year ended December 31, 20X3, the amount of Subsidiary A’s net income included in the consoli-
dated financial statements is $15,000.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B8. This consolidated statement of financial position illustrates the requirement in paragraph B2 that Hospital
A present the noncontrolling interest in the consolidated statement of financial position within net assets, but
separately from the parent’s net assets.

Exhibit 1

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Other Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets

B9. This consolidated statement of operations and other changes in unrestricted net assets illustrates how the
requirements in paragraph B4(a) for disclosure of the amounts of a performance indicator of a health care en-
tity for an excess of revenues over expenses from continuing operations might be presented on the face of a
consolidated statement of operations and other changes in net assets.
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Exhibit 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements: Changes in Consolidated Unrestricted Net Assets
Attributable to the Parent’s Controlling Financial Interest and to Noncontrolling Interests in Subsidiaries

B10. This note depicting the changes in consolidated net assets attributable to the controlling financial interest
of Hospital A (parent) and the noncontrolling interests illustrates the requirements in paragraph B3 that a not-
for-profit entity present a schedule that reconciles the beginning and the end of the period carrying amounts of
the parent’s controlling interest and the noncontrolling interests for each class of net assets for which a noncon-
trolling interest exists. This note also illustrates the disclosure requirements in paragraph B4(a), (b), and (d) for
the amounts of a performance indicator of a health care entity (which is equivalent to income from continuing
operations), discontinued operations, and other changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary.

Exhibit 3
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Appendix C

BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS

Introduction

C1. This appendix summarizes the Board’s consid-
erations in reaching the conclusions in this State-
ment. It includes the reasons why the Board accepted
particular approaches and rejected others. Individual
Board members gave greater weight to some factors
than to others.

C2. This appendix focuses primarily on issues that
are either unique to not-for-profit entities or for which
the Board’s conclusions differ between not-for-profit
entities and for-profit business entities. For conclu-
sions that are the same in this Statement and in FASB
Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combi-
nations, the discussion in this appendix generally
summarizes the Board’s reasoning and refers the
reader to the paragraphs in Statement 141(R)’s basis
for conclusions in which a more detailed discussion
appears.

Conduct of the Project

C3. In developing this Statement, the Board af-
firmed its belief that accounting standards should re-
sult in accounting for similar transactions and cir-
cumstances similarly and for different transactions
and circumstances differently. Thus, the Board’s
overall approach in this project was based on the con-
clusion that the standards for for-profit entities, in-
cluding Statement 141(R), are relevant to not-for-
profit entities unless circumstances unique to not-for-
profit entities justify a departure from those
standards. The Board modified the requirements for
not-for-profit entities in situations in which the costs
outweigh the benefits of providing information that is
the same as that required for for-profit entities.

Circumstances Unique to Combinations of
Not-for-Profit Entities

C4. The Board observed that combinations of not-
for-profit entities and combinations by business enti-
ties are similar in many ways. In particular, acquisi-
tions by the two types of entities are sufficiently
similar that the same basic accounting method—the
acquisition method—is appropriate for both. The
Board also observed that some characteristics of not-
for-profit entities distinguish them from business en-

tities. Thus, the work in this project began by identi-
fying and analyzing differences between not-for-
profit entities and business entities and the
combinations in which they engage. The Board then
considered how the similarities and differences be-
tween business entities and not-for-profit entities
should affect the financial accounting and reporting
requirements for combinations of not-for-profit enti-
ties. For example, the Board concluded that differ-
ences between not-for-profit and business entities, in-
cluding the difference discussed in paragraph C5,
justify applying a different accounting method for
some combinations of not-for-profit entities. State-
ment 141(R) does not require (or permit) a different
method for business combinations that some con-
stituents consider to be mergers rather than acquisi-
tions. Thus, the different accounting method for
mergers in this Statement results in a significant
difference between the accounting for combinations
by not-for-profit and business entities. Para-
graphs C7–C12 further discuss that issue.

C5. The Board identified a fundamental difference
between some combinations of not-for-profit entities
and business combinations—a fundamental differ-
ence that has financial accounting and reporting im-
plications. That difference exists in combinations in
which all of the combining entities are not-for-profit
entities. Because a not-for-profit entity lacks the type
of ownership interests that business entities have, ne-
gotiations in those combinations generally focus on
the furtherance for the benefit of the public of the
mission, governance, and programs of the entity
rather than on maximizing returns for equity holders.
Many combinations of not-for-profit entities do not
involve a transfer of consideration. In other words,
many combinations of not-for-profit entities are not
fair value exchanges. Rather, many of those transac-
tions or events are nonreciprocal transfers and, for an
acquisition, constitute an inherent contribution re-
ceived by the acquirer.

C6. The Board was mindful of the wide and varied
spectrum of not-for-profit entities throughout the de-
velopment of this Statement. For example, entities
that are considered nongovernmental not-for-profit
entities for purposes of applying GAAP include most
human service entities, churches, foundations, muse-
ums, colleges and universities, and some other types
of entities, such as certain hospitals and other health
care entities. Some of those entities receive signifi-
cant portions of their support from sources other than
the sale of goods and services, while others receive
their primary support from the sale of goods and
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services. Therefore, certain transactions described in
this Statement would be relevant to various sectors of
not-for-profit entities but would not be relevant to
other sectors.

Methods of Accounting

Conclusions in Statement 141(R) and in the
Exposure Draft That Preceded This Statement

C7. In Statement 141(R), the Board reaffirmed its
conclusion in FASB Statement No. 141, Business
Combinations, that using a single method of account-
ing for all business combinations results in similar
transactions and events being accounted for similarly
and therefore improves the relevance, faithful repre-
sentation, comparability, and understandability of the
resulting financial information. The Board consid-
ered three alternative accounting methods (the acqui-
sition method, the pooling method, and the fresh-start
method) before concluding that the acquisition
method should be used for all business combinations.
Paragraphs B22–B79 of Statement 141(R) provide
the Board’s reasons for adopting the acquisition
method for all business combinations. In particular,
paragraph B35 explains that as part of the FASB’s
joint project with the IASB:

Both Boards concluded that “true merg-
ers” or “mergers of equals” in which none of
the combining entities obtain control of the
others are so rare as to be virtually nonexist-
ent, and many respondents agreed. Other re-
spondents stated that even if a true merger or
merger of equals did occur, it would be so
rare that a separate accounting treatment is
not warranted. The Boards also observed that
respondents and other constituents were un-
able to suggest an unambiguous and nonarbi-
trary boundary for distinguishing true merg-
ers or mergers of equals from other business
combinations and concluded that developing
such an operational boundary would not be
feasible. Moreover, even if those mergers
could feasibly be distinguished from other
combinations, both Boards noted that it does
not follow that mergers should be accounted
for on a carry-over basis. If they were to be
accounted for using a method other than the
acquisition method, the fresh-start method
would be better than the pooling method.

C8. In this project, the Board considered whether the
reasons that support the use of the acquisition method
for business combinations also apply to all combina-
tions of not-for-profit entities. The Exposure Draft re-
flected the Board’s conclusion at that time that the ac-
quisition method was appropriate for all not-for-
profit combinations for reasons similar to those that
supported the conclusion on requiring the acquisition
method for all business combinations. For example,
paragraph B28 of the Exposure Draft said:

The Board affirmed [the conclusions in
the proposed Statement 141(R)] in this pro-
posed Statement and concluded that, gener-
ally, the economic substance of the merger or
acquisition by a not-for-profit organization is
that one organization acquires an integrated
group of assets (by purchase or by gift).
Therefore, because those transactions are
generally acquisitions and because those that
are not acquisitions cannot be distinguished
using an unambiguous basis, all mergers and
acquisitions by not-for-profit organizations
should be accounted for using the acquisition
method.

Redeliberations and Conclusion on
Accounting Methods

Whether to distinguish a merger
from an acquisition

C9. A majority of the respondents to the Exposure
Draft disagreed with the conclusion that combina-
tions of not-for-profit entities generally are acquisi-
tions in which one entity—the acquirer—obtains
control over one or more other entities—the acquiree
or acquirees.10 In general, those respondents said
that “true mergers” (in which none of the participat-
ing entities retain control over their own net assets
and one of them does not obtain control over the net
assets of the other participants) occur more fre-
quently among not-for-profit entities than among
business entities. Those respondents also said that in
the vast majority of situations such true mergers
could be distinguished from acquisitions on a basis
that would be sufficiently unambiguous to result in
representationally faithful financial statements. Par-
ticipants in the roundtable discussion held in

10Appendix D provides background information on the project that led to this Statement, including issuance of the Exposure Draft and responses
to it, as well as other means by which the Board sought input from constituents.
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March 2007 expressed similar views. Respondents to
the Exposure Draft and roundtable participants also
suggested potential ways to distinguish mergers from
acquisitions.

C10. In general, respondents did not provide defini-
tive reasons for the greater frequency of mergers
among not-for-profit entities than among business
entities, including mutual entities. The Board ob-
served, however, that one reason mergers are more
common in the not-for-profit sector might be related
to the fundamental difference between mergers and
acquisitions of not-for-profit entities and business
combinations discussed in paragraph C5. Because of
the public service mission of not-for-profit entities,
the not-for-profit entities participating in a combina-
tion are not competing with each other to maximize
returns to their shareholders or members. That differ-
ence in the mission or purpose of not-for-profit enti-
ties and business entities also generally removes
from the negotiating table the question of whether the
stakeholders in one or more combining entities—the
acquiree(s)—will receive adequate or fair compensa-
tion for transferring their control to the acquirer.
Those factors, which are related to the absence of
economic interests of owners or members in not-for-
profit entities, may make it more feasible for not-for-
profit entities than for business entities to consider a
form of combination other than an acquisition.

C11. Many of the respondents who opposed requir-
ing all not-for-profit combinations to be accounted
for by the acquisition method supported applying the
fresh-start method to mergers. Others, however, fa-
vored the carryover method, which is essentially the
same as the pooling method in APB Opinion No. 16,
Business Combinations. Although the Board con-
cluded that the fresh-start method would be more ap-
propriate from a conceptual perspective, this State-
ment requires the carryover method for practical
reasons (paragraphs C23 and C24).

C12. After extensive discussion and consideration of
constituents’ views and the other information con-
stituents provided on mergers versus acquisitions, the
Board concluded that requiring the acquisition
method to be applied to all combinations of not-for-
profit entities would not be appropriate.

What Is the Defining Feature of a Merger?

C13. Having decided that the economic circum-
stances surrounding mergers of and acquisitions by
not-for-profit entities are sufficiently different to call

for different accounting methods, the Board then
considered how to distinguish the two types of com-
binations. The Board identified three potential criteria
for identifying a merger, which were based on sug-
gestions of respondents to the Exposure Draft and ad-
ditional input from members of its resource group:

a. Ceding of control to a new not-for-profit entity
b. Common or similar missions
c. No transfer of consideration.

Ceding of control

C14. Paragraph 3(e) of Statement 141(R) defines a
business combination as, “a transaction or other
event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or
more businesses.” Because Statement 141(R) consid-
ers all business combinations to be acquisitions for
which applying the acquisition method is appropri-
ate, that is also the definition of an acquisition by a
business entity. In other words, one combining enti-
ty’s obtaining control of the other combining entity or
entities is the distinguishing feature of an acquisition.
It follows that the distinguishing feature of a merger
also should be based on how control of the combin-
ing entities changes. Respondents and roundtable
participants generally said that a merger is distin-
guished by the governing bodies of all of the combin-
ing entities’ ceding of control to a new entity with a
newly formed governing body. In a merger, unlike in
an acquisition, none of the combining entities obtain
control of (or continue to control) the other combin-
ing entity or entities. The Board agreed.

Common or similar missions

C15. Some respondents suggested that for a combi-
nation to qualify as a merger the combining entities
must have similar missions before the combination,
and the combined entity must reflect the key compo-
nents of those prior mission statements. Respondents
noted that merging entities often have similar mis-
sions, and furthering those missions may be an im-
portant part of the motivation for a merger. Mergers
often occur among contiguous or affiliated entities
that serve similar constituents and seek opportunities
to provide their services more cost effectively (for
example, to achieve cost savings through economies
of scale).

C16. However, the Board noted that if mergers oc-
cur between not-for-profit entities that have different
(perhaps complementary) missions, use of a criterion
or indicator based on the similarity of missions could
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preclude accounting for those transactions as merg-
ers, even if the ceding of control criterion is met.
Moreover, experience in other areas of accounting
with criteria based on whether something is similar
suggests that differing views of the meaning of simi-
lar often lead to repeated requests for more detailed
guidance. In addition, similar missions also may be
part of the motivation for an acquisition. Therefore,
the Board rejected a criterion based on the missions
of the combining entities as part of the guidance in
this Statement for distinguishing a merger from an
acquisition.

No transfer of consideration

C17. In a merger, the combining entities generally
do not exchange monetary consideration; a transfer
of consideration from one combining entity (the ac-
quirer) to the other(s) (the acquiree or acquirees) is
much more common in an acquisition. But acquisi-
tions also sometimes occur without a transfer of con-
sideration. The Board therefore did not find a crite-
rion based on whether consideration is exchanged to
be determinative in distinguishing a merger from an
acquisition.

Inapplicability to Combinations of Businesses

C18. Some aspects of certain business combinations
may seem similar to combinations of not-for-profit
entities, for example, no consideration may be ex-
changed in some combinations of businesses, and
identifying the acquirer in such a business combina-
tion may not be straightforward. Regardless of
whether a particular combination of businesses is
similar in some aspects to a merger of not-for-profit
entities, the Board concluded that the guidance in this
Statement on mergers does not apply in a busi-
ness combination. It also should not be applied by
analogy.

Is a Criterion of Ceding Control Workable?

C19. Before proceeding to develop a final Statement
that would distinguish between mergers and acquisi-
tions, with a different accounting method required for
each, the Board saw a need for additional informa-
tion about the appropriateness and workability of po-
tential criteria for making that distinction. It sought
that input by means of a Request for Additional
Comments on a Potential Revision to the October
2006 Proposed Statement, Not-for-Profit Organiza-
tions: Mergers and Acquisitions (the Request),
posted to its website in May 2008. Among other

things, the Request described the Board’s tentative
conclusion that the distinguishing feature of a merger
is that the governing bodies of two or more not-for-
profit entities cede control of those entities to create a
new entity. It also discussed potential problems with
that criterion, especially in combination with a re-
quirement to use the carryover method to account for
mergers, and sought input on the workability of the
ceding of control criterion and possible other criteria
that the Board had considered but tentatively rejected
(paragraphs C15–C17). In addition to seeking written
input on the issues it raised, the Request also asked
for volunteers to participate in field visits with Board
and staff members to discuss those issues.

C20. Virtually all of the respondents to the Request,
as well as the participants in five field visits with not-
for-profit entities and their auditors, supported the
Board’s decision to distinguish a not-for-profit
merger from an acquisition, and most of those re-
spondents also said that ceding of control is the ap-
propriate distinguishing feature of a merger. But al-
most all of the respondents also said that additional
guidance would be needed to make the ceding-of-
control criterion workable in practice. They made
various suggestions about the nature of such addi-
tional guidance, for example, some suggested pro-
viding a list of indicators that a transaction is a
merger, perhaps accompanied by a list of indicators
of an acquisition. Others suggested establishing a re-
buttable presumption that a combination is an acqui-
sition, together with indicators that might overcome
that presumption.

C21. The Board agreed with respondents and field
visit participants that implementation guidance be-
yond the definitions of a merger and an acquisition
would be necessary to help not-for-profit entities ap-
ply those definitions in a reasonably consistent man-
ner. But the Board also considered it important to
avoid providing implementation guidance in a form
that might evolve into the sort of lengthy and overly
detailed list of criteria for distinguishing a pooling
from a purchase that appeared in Opinion 16. Such
guidance often serves more as an aid to structuring a
transaction to achieve the desired accounting result
than as helpful guidance for applying a distinction in
a neutral manner to faithfully represent the under-
lying economics of a transaction or other event. The
Board concluded that the guidance on distinguish-
ing between a merger and an acquisition in para-
graphs A2–A28 strikes a reasonable balance between
overly detailed guidance with a significant potential
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for unintended effects and guidance that, applied in a
good faith manner, appropriately distinguishes be-
tween the two types of combinations.

C22. The Board decided not to provide a rebuttable
presumption that a combination is an acquisition. It
recognizes that the lower costs and other results of
applying the carryover method (paragraphs C23 and
C24) may provide an accounting incentive to treat an
acquisition as if it were a merger. The Board con-
cluded, however, that applying the guidance on dis-
tinguishing between mergers and acquisitions in a
neutral manner generally should produce a better re-
sult than applying the guidance in the context of an
initial presumption of the outcome.

Accounting Method for a Merger—Fresh-Start
or Carryover Basis?

C23. As indicated in the quotation from para-
graph B35 of Statement 141(R) in paragraph C7 of
this Statement, the Board noted that the fresh-start
method would be better than the pooling (carryover)
method for mergers if some business combinations
were accounted for as mergers rather than acquisi-
tions. In this project, the Board reaffirmed the con-
ceptual superiority of the fresh-start method for
mergers, which is consistent with defining a merger
as a transaction or other event in which the governing
bodies of two or more not-for-profit entities cede
control of those entities to create a new entity. The
Board believes that fresh-start accounting is concep-
tually preferable to carryover basis for the formation
of a new entity in which the combining entities cease
to exist.

C24. Regardless of the conceptual superiority of the
fresh-start method for mergers, the Board observed
that the implementation and application of fresh-start
accounting raises issues that extend beyond this
project. Attempting to resolve even the implementa-
tion issues now would have unduly delayed issuance
of this Statement. Thus, the Board concluded that it
would not be feasible to require the fresh-start
method for accounting for a merger of not-for-profit
entities at this time. Depending on other agenda pri-
orities, the Board may undertake a broad project on
fresh-start accounting at some future time. In the
meantime, the Board decided to require that mergers
be accounted for using the carryover method, which
is similar, though not identical, to the pooling method
in Opinion 16. Requiring the carryover method thus
essentially continues the method that has been ap-
plied in practice to poolings, with a few improve-

ments to that method. (Paragraphs C34−C44 discuss
the Board’s conclusions on applying the carryover
method.) Given the impracticability of requiring the
fresh-start method, the Board concluded that requir-
ing the carryover method is the best available
alternative—better than requiring the acquisition
method, the effect of which would be to require a
“fresh start” for only one of the combining entities.

Definition of Control of a Not-for-Profit Entity

C25. Statement 141(R) (paragraph 3(g)) defines
control as having the meaning of controlling finan-
cial interest in paragraph 2 of ARB No. 51, Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, as amended. ARB 51’s
notion of controlling financial interest is based on
voting rights. Because a distinguishing feature of a
not-for-profit entity is the absence of shareholders or
other parties with ownership interests similar to those
in a business entity, the Board concluded that the
Statement 141(R) definition of control is insufficient
for not-for-profit entities. Both AICPA Statement of
Position 94-3, Reporting of Related Entities by Not-
for-Profit Organizations (SOP 94-3), and AICPAAu-
dit and Accounting Guide, Health Care Organiza-
tions, define control as “the direct or indirect ability
to determine the direction of management and poli-
cies through ownership, contract, or otherwise.” The
Board used that definition of control in this Statement
because it is more appropriate for a not-for-profit en-
tity than a definition based on the existence of a con-
trolling financial interest. It also is the definition that
not-for-profit entities use in determining whether one
not-for-profit entity should consolidate another. Ac-
cordingly, this Statement does not introduce new
guidance for determining whether one entity controls
another, including whether participants in a merger
have ceded control to a new entity. Instead, it relies
on the guidance that not-for-profit entities already use
in evaluating control issues.

C26. The Board observed that the AICPA guidance
requires that an entity have control of another entity
to consolidate that entity. However, some entities that
control other entities are not necessarily required to
consolidate the controlled entities. The guidance in
SOP 94-3 and the health care Guide:

a. Requires an entity to consolidate another not-for-
profit entity in which it has a controlling financial
interest through direct or indirect ownership of a
majority ownership interest. However, it prohib-
its consolidation if control does not rest with the
majority owner.
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b. Requires an entity to consolidate another not-for-
profit entity in which it has a majority ownership
interest (or a majority voting interest in its board)
and also has an economic interest. However, it
prohibits consolidation if control is temporary or
does not rest with the majority owner.

c. Permits an entity to consolidate another entity in
which it has a controlling economic interest other
than a majority ownership or voting interest, such
as control through contract or affiliation agree-
ment. However, it prohibits consolidation if con-
trol is likely to be temporary.

C27. The Board concluded that the meaning of con-
trol should be based on the existing requirements be-
cause defining control is beyond the scope of this
project. That conclusion also is consistent with the
Board’s approach in FASB Statement No. 136,
Transfers of Assets to a Not-for-Profit Organization
or Charitable Trust That Raises or Holds Contribu-
tions for Others, which requires a not-for-profit entity
to use existing definitions of control in determining
whether a transfer should be accounted for as an asset
by the resource provider and as a liability by the re-
cipient entity.

Scope of This Statement

C28. The scope of this Statement is based on the
definitions of a merger (paragraph 3(q)) and an ac-
quisition by a not-for-profit entity (paragraph 3(c)).
The definition of a merger depends in part on the
definition of a not-for-profit entity, which is taken di-
rectly from paragraph 209 of FASB Statement
No. 116, Accounting for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made. The same definition is used
throughout the authoritative literature, and the Board
did not reconsider it in this project. Accordingly, this
appendix does not discuss that definition.

C29. The definition of an acquisition by a not-for-
profit entity refers to the definitions of a business
(paragraph 3(e)) and a nonprofit activity (para-
graph 3(t)). This Statement uses the terms business
and nonprofit activity to differentiate an acquisition of
an integrated set of assets and activities that is with-
in the scope of this Statement from an acquisition of
a group of assets that is outside its scope. (That is
the same way that Statement 141(R) uses the term
business.) The following paragraphs discuss those
definitions.

Definitions of a Business and a Nonprofit Activity

C30. Statement 141(R) defines a business as:

. . . an integrated set of activities and assets
that is capable of being conducted and man-
aged for the purpose of providing a return in
the form of dividends, lower costs, or other
economic benefits directly to investors or
other owners, members, or participants.
[paragraph 3(d)]

Because the definition of a business in State-
ment 141(R) is used for essentially the same pur-
pose as the definition is used in this Statement,
the Board concluded that both Statements should use
the same definition. (Paragraphs B15−B21 of State-
ment 141(R) explain the reasons for adopting that
definition.)

C31. The Board decided to base the definition of a
nonprofit activity on the definition of a business in
Statement 141(R), revised as necessary to accommo-
date the differences between a business entity and a
not-for-profit entity. Accordingly, this Statement de-
fines a nonprofit activity as:

. . . an integrated set of activities and assets
that is capable of being conducted and man-
aged for the purpose of providing benefits,
other than goods or services at a profit or
profit equivalent, as a fulfillment of an enti-
ty’s purpose or mission (for example, goods
or services to beneficiaries, customers, or
members). [paragraph 3(t)]

Thus, the definition of a nonprofit activity recognizes
that the essential difference between a business and a
not-for-profit entity is in the nature of the benefits
provided and that they may be provided to beneficia-
ries of the entity’s mission and purpose as well as (or
rather than) to customers or members. Respondents
generally agreed with that definition of a nonprofit
activity.

Transactions That Are Not Mergers
or Acquisitions

C32. To further clarify its scope, this Statement ex-
plicitly excludes the formation of a joint venture and
mergers and acquisitions involving businesses, non-
profit activities, or entities that are under common
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control. Statement 141(R) also excludes those trans-
actions from its scope. Paragraph B59 of State-
ment 141(R) explains that:

Formations of joint ventures and combi-
nations of entities under common control are
excluded from the scope of this Statement.
Those transactions also were excluded from
the scope of both Statement 141 and IFRS 3,
and the Boards continue to believe that issues
related to such combinations are appropri-
ately excluded from the scope of this project.
The Boards are aware of nothing that has
happened since Statement 141 and IFRS 3
were issued to suggest that the issuance of
this Statement should be delayed to address
the accounting for those events.

C33. For the same reasons discussed in State-
ment 141(R), the Board limited the scope of this
Statement to acquisitions of asset groups that make
up a business or nonprofit activity, and respondents to
the Exposure Draft generally agreed with that scope
limitation. Paragraph B20 of Statement 141(R) ex-
plains that:

The Boards considered whether to expand
the scope of this Statement to all acquisitions
of groups of assets. They noted that doing so
would avoid the need to distinguish between
those groups that are businesses and those
that are not. However, both Boards noted that
broadening the scope of this Statement be-
yond acquisitions of businesses would re-
quire further research and deliberation of ad-
ditional issues and delay the implementation
of this Statement’s improvements to practice.
The Boards therefore did not extend the
scope of this Statement to acquisitions of all
asset groups.

Applying the Carryover Method

C34. In developing this Statement’s guidance on ap-
plying the carryover method, the Board began with
Opinion 16’s guidance on applying the pooling
method. Except for the guidance on the date from
which the combining entities are included in the new
entity’s financial statements—the measurement
date—and the related presentation and disclosure is-
sues, the guidance in this Statement on applying the
carryover method is consistent with Opinion 16’s
guidance on the pooling method. In addition, because
Statement 141(R) and this Statement provide guid-

ance on classifying and designating assets and liabili-
ties in an acquisition, the Board concluded that this
Statement should provide guidance on that issue for
the carryover method. This Statement also provides
guidance on the effect of a merger on selection of ac-
counting options.

Measurement Date and Presentation Guidance

C35. Opinion 16 required the combined entity re-
sulting from a pooling to:

[Report the] results of operations for the
period in which the combination occurs as
though the companies had been combined as
of the beginning of the period. Results of op-
erations for that period thus comprise those of
the separate companies combined from the
beginning of the period to the date the combi-
nation is consummated and those of the com-
bined operations from that date to the end of
the period. . . . [Paragraph 56; emphasis
added.]

[Present] balance sheets and other financial
information of the separate companies as of
the beginning of the period . . . as though the
companies had been combined at that date.
Financial statements and financial informa-
tion of the separate companies presented for
prior years should also be restated on a com-
bined basis to furnish comparative informa-
tion. All restated financial statements and fi-
nancial summaries should indicate clearly
that financial data of the previously separate
companies are combined. [Paragraph 57; em-
phasis added.]

C36. Thus, the measurement date in Opinion 16 is
the beginning of the period in which a pooling oc-
curs, regardless of the actual date of the combination.
Opinion 16 does not explain why that date was se-
lected, but it might have been related to how the
pooling method developed. Paragraph 13 of Opin-
ion 16 notes that the method was first applied to com-
binations of affiliated entities—entities under com-
mon control. Use of the method then was extended to
other types of combinations. Opinion 16 does not de-
scribe the combined entity resulting from a merger as
a new entity.

C37. The measurement date for a merger in this
Statement is the merger date—the date the combina-
tion becomes effective. As indicated in paragraph 15,
the not-for-profit entity that results from a merger is a
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new entity and therefore a new reporting entity. An
entity’s history begins at its inception; a new entity
has no previous operations. The Board concluded
that the guidance on measurement date and related
presentation issues in this Statement should be con-
sistent with the merged entity’s status as a new entity.
Opinion 16’s measurement date results in including
in the new entity’s financial statements for the report-
ing period in which the merger occurred the results of
activities before the date of the merger. Including in
the body of its financial statements the results of ac-
tivities before the entity came into existence does not
faithfully represent the entity’s situation. (Also see
paragraphs C51–C53 for a discussion of the pro
forma disclosures this Statement requires of public
entities.)

C38. The Board and its staff discussed this State-
ment’s provisions on the measurement date with
members of its resource group and other constituents,
including users of not-for-profit entities’ financial
statements. Most of the responding group members
and other constituents agreed with the requirement in
this Statement.

Classifying and Designating Assets and Liabilities

C39. Statement 141(R) (paragraph B185) notes that
in some situations, GAAP provides for different ac-
counting depending on how a particular asset or li-
ability is classified or designated. For example, the
accounting for a derivative instrument in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for De-
rivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedge
and, if so, the type of hedge designated. Another im-
portant classification issue for a business is classify-
ing certain debt securities as trading, available for
sale, or held to maturity in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Invest-
ments in Debt and Equity Securities, in particular, be-
cause held-to-maturity debt securities are measured
at amortized cost. However, FASB Statement
No. 124, Accounting for Certain Investments Held by
Not-for-Profit Organizations, requires all debt securi-
ties to be measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position. Under the health care Guide, des-
ignating a security as other than trading results in re-
porting changes in its value outside the performance
indicator. Classification as trading or other than trad-
ing, however, does not affect the amount at which the

security is measured in the statement of financial po-
sition and thus is a less significant issue than a busi-
ness entity’s classification of a security as held to
maturity.

C40. Statement 141(R)’s basis for conclusions notes
that applying the acquisition method results in the
initial recognition in the acquirer’s financial state-
ments of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in a business combination. Therefore, in concept, the
acquirer should classify and designate all items ac-
quired at the acquisition date in the context of the
contractual terms, economic conditions, and other
pertinent factors at that date. Accordingly, that is the
principle for classifying and designating assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition stated
in both paragraph 17 of Statement 141(R) and para-
graph 32 of this Statement. Statement 141(R) and
this Statement (paragraph 34) provide two ex-
ceptions to that principle for classifying or designat-
ing assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an
acquisition.

C41. The Board decided that stating a principle for
classifying or designating assets and liabilities in an
acquisition calls for also stating a principle for classi-
fying or designating the opening balances of the as-
sets and liabilities of the new entity resulting from a
merger. Not to do so could lead to confusion about
whether the related principles for a merger and an ac-
quisition are the same or different. In considering
what the principle for a merger should be, the Board
observed that the status of the merged entity as a new
entity and the nature of the carryover method point in
different directions. All else being equal, a new entity
should classify and designate its assets and liabilities
at its inception on the basis of the contractual terms,
economic conditions, and other pertinent factors at
that date. In other words, the classification or desig-
nation principle for a new entity, in concept, should
be the same as for the acquirer in an acquisition. But
all else is not equal here because this Statement re-
quires the carryover method rather than the fresh-
start method to account for a merger.

C42. The Board concluded that carrying forward the
classifications and designations of the merging enti-
ties is consistent with the carryover method. The es-
sence of that method is simply to combine the
amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the finan-
cial statements of the participating entities, without
recognizing either changes in the value of existing as-
sets or liabilities or other assets or liabilities not al-
ready recognized in the financial statements of the
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merging entities. For example, treating an asset or li-
ability as the hedged item in a fair value hedge on the
merger date if one of the combining entities had not
so designated it would be inconsistent with carrying
forward the combining entities’ recorded amounts of
assets and liabilities into the new entity’s opening
balances. However, provided that the hedge designa-
tion criteria of Statement 133 are met, the new entity
may designate a new fair value or cash flow hedge.
That fact, combined with the elimination of a held-to-
maturity category for debt securities held by a not-
for-profit entity, makes initial classification and
designation a less significant issue for a not-for-
profit acquirer than for the acquirer in a business
combination.

C43. The Board observed that the terms of some
types of contractual assets and liabilities may be
modified as part of a merger agreement; leases are
one example. If such a modification could change
the way other GAAP would classify the contract, its
classification should be reevaluated in light of the
modification.

Restriction on Election of Accounting Options

C44. If the merging entities have measured assets
and liabilities using different methods of accounting
in their separate financial statements, paragraph 13 of
this Statement requires the new entity to adjust the
amounts of those assets and liabilities as necessary to
reflect a consistent method of accounting. However,
it also provides that a merger is not an event that jus-
tifies the election of one-time accounting options that
are restricted to the entity’s initial acquisition or rec-
ognition of an item. Thus, for example, one merging
entity’s election of the fair value option in FASB
Statement No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Finan-
cial Assets and Financial Liabilities, for a particular
financial asset or liability permits neither the new en-
tity’s election of the fair value option for other finan-
cial assets or liabilities nor the reversal of a previous
election. The Board concluded that accounting for a
merger using the carryover method rather than the
fresh-start method makes that prohibition appropri-
ate. The carryover method generally does not treat
assets and liabilities as newly acquired items, which
would require them to be recognized at amounts re-
lated to the transaction or other event in which they
were acquired.

Disclosures for a Merger

C45. In developing the specific disclosures to be re-
quired for a merger of not-for-profit entities, the

Board focused on the information that users of the
merged entity’s financial statements would need to
understand and evaluate the nature and financial ef-
fect of the merger that resulted in the entity’s forma-
tion. In doing so, the Board considered both the
pooling-related disclosures in Opinion 16 and the
disclosures required for an acquisition by this
Statement, which in turn are based on the disclo-
sures Statement 141(R) requires for a business
combination.

C46. As already indicated, the Exposure Draft did
not provide for merger accounting; it therefore also
did not propose disclosures for a merger. Because of
the limited input from constituents on merger disclo-
sures, the Board decided to keep those disclosures as
similar as possible to the disclosures made for a pool-
ing and those required for an acquisition. However,
the nature of a merger in this Statement and the status
of a merged entity as a new reporting entity, as well
as the nature of the carryover method, render some of
those disclosures irrelevant or moot. For example,
Opinion 16’s required disclosures pertaining to the
shares issued to effect a pooling are not pertinent to a
merger of not-for-profit entities. Statement 141(R)’s
disclosures pertaining either to goodwill recognized
in the transaction or to the fair values of assets and li-
abilities recognized in a business combination, as
well as certain other acquisition-related disclosures,
are not pertinent to a merger accounted for using the
carryover method. The following paragraphs discuss
the Board’s reasons for requiring disclosure of par-
ticular information for a merger.

Information about the Merger and the
Merging Entities

C47. The information required by para-
graph 18(a)–(c) identifies and describes the merging
entities and particular aspects of the merger. It is
comparable both to disclosures that Opinion 16 re-
quired for a pooling and disclosures that this State-
ment requires for an acquisition. Paragraph 18(d)
then requires each merging entity to disclose the
amounts of major classes of recognized assets, li-
abilities, and net assets and the nature and amounts of
any significant assets or liabilities that are not recog-
nized because of GAAP requirements, such as re-
ceivables or payables from conditional promises to
give. This Statement requires similar disclosures for
an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity.
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C48. The Board concluded that resource providers
and other users of the new entity’s financial state-
ments need the basic information required by para-
graph 18(a)–(d) to understand the nature of the entity
and how it was formed. That information may be
pertinent not only in the year of the merger but also
as a reference for users in considering financial state-
ments for periods following the merger. Because that
information is readily available or is already required
by GAAP in the financial statements of the merging
entities, disclosing it will not be costly. For example,
Statement 116 requires disclosure of conditional
promises.

Significant Adjustments Made to Conform
Accounting Policies or to Eliminate
Intraentity Amounts

C49. Paragraph 13 notes that the merging entities
may have been using different accounting methods
and requires that any such differences be conformed
so that the new entity resulting from the merger will
have a consistent accounting policy. Because the as-
sets and liabilities of the merging entities are the
merged entity’s opening balances, such adjustments
will be reflected in those opening balances.

C50. Opinion 16 required that accounting changes
made to conform the accounting policies of entities
participating in a pooling be applied retroactively and
that the related adjustments be disclosed. The Board
decided to require disclosure of the nature and
amount of any significant adjustments made to con-
form the individual accounting policies of the merg-
ing entities or to eliminate intraentity balances (para-
graph 18(e)), in part because that requirement
continues disclosures being made in practice. In addi-
tion, the Board believes that the amount of such ad-
justments would be helpful to users who wish to con-
sider the results of the new entity’s activities in the
context of the combined results of the activities of the
merging entities.

Supplemental Pro Forma Information for
Public Entities

C51. Having concluded that a merged entity’s fi-
nancial statement for the period of the merger should
not include the combined results of the separate
merging entities before the date of the merger (para-
graph C37), the Board considered whether such com-
bined information should be disclosed on a supple-
mental pro forma basis. The Board concluded that
such disclosures should be required for a public en-

tity, if practicable; paragraph 18(f) details the specific
information to be disclosed. That information is simi-
lar both to pro forma information currently disclosed
for a pooling and to pro forma information that both
this Statement and Statement 141(R) require to be
disclosed for an acquisition.

C52. Regardless of the fact that a merged entity is a
new entity with no history of its own to report and
may take advantage of the merger to eliminate redun-
dancies in the combined operations, the new entity
generally continues the major activities of the sepa-
rate merging entities. Users of the new entity’s finan-
cial statements, such as credit analysts, may wish to
continue to consider trend information for the sepa-
rate combining entities before the date of the merger
in assessing the new entity’s financial performance.
However, to avoid imposing costs on many not-for-
profit entities that may exceed the benefits of the in-
formation, the Board limited the requirement to dis-
close supplemental pro forma information to a new
entity that qualifies as a public entity. The Board
thinks that the users of a public not-for-profit entity’s
financial statements, such as credit analysts and
bondholders, are more likely to be interested in the
combined results of the merging entities in assessing
the effect of the merger on the new entity’s ability to
meet its commitments when due.

C53. As with the requirement on the measurement
date, the Board and its staff discussed this State-
ment’s required pro forma disclosures for public enti-
ties with members of its resource group and other
constituents, including users of not-for-profit entities’
financial statements. Most of the responding group
members and other constituents agreed with those
requirements.

Applying the Acquisition Method

C54. Paragraph C3 explains that the Board’s ap-
proach to the issues in this project was based on the
conclusion that the standards for business entities,
including Statement 141(R), are relevant to not-for-
profit entities unless circumstances unique to not-for-
profit entities justify a departure from those stand-
ards. Respondents to the Exposure Draft generally
agreed with that approach. Except for particular as-
pects of accounting for goodwill or a contribution re-
ceived, the guidance in this Statement on applying
the acquisition method is the same as the related
guidance in Statement 141(R). This Statement adds
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guidance on items that are unique or especially sig-
nificant to a not-for-profit entity, such as donor rela-
tionships and collections. Discussion in para-
graphs C56–C177 of this Statement’s guidance on
applying the acquisition method focuses largely on
circumstances that are unique to not-for-profit enti-
ties. (Also see paragraph C2.)

C55. Paragraph 22 of this Statement identifies four
steps in a not-for-profit entity’s application of the ac-
quisition method:

a. Identify the acquirer
b. Determine the acquisition date
c. Recognize and measure the identifiable assets ac-

quired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncon-
trolling interest in the acquiree

d. Recognize and measure goodwill acquired (or
the immediate charge to the statement of activi-
ties required by paragraph 51) or the contribution
received.

Identifying the Acquirer

C56. Identifying the acquirer determines which of
the combining entities is the continuing reporting en-
tity. The acquirer is the entity that obtains control of
the other entity (or entities) involved in the combina-
tion (paragraph 3(b)). Because consolidation criteria
also are based on control, the Board concluded in
both this Statement and Statement 141(R) that the ex-
isting guidance on consolidated financial statements
should be applied to identify the acquirer.

C57. This Statement, like Statement 141(R), pro-
vides additional guidance to help in determining the
acquirer if an acquisition has occurred but applying
the consolidation guidance, by itself, does not clear-
ly identify the acquirer. The guidance in para-
graphs A38–A44 is generally the same as the guid-
ance on identifying the acquirer in Statement 141(R).
The reasons for that guidance are discussed in para-
graphs B84–B92 and B102–B105 of State-
ment 141(R). However, this Statement omits State-
ment 141(R)’s guidance that applies to an acquisition
effected by an exchange of equity securities because
an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity would not in-
volve such an exchange.

C58. The Board also identified an additional indica-
tor that may be particularly useful for identifying the
acquirer in an acquisition by a not-for-profit
entity—the ability to select or dominate the process
of selecting the governing body of the ongoing entity.

That indicator may provide strong evidence of the
identity of the acquirer, particularly if one of the com-
bining entities has the ability to select or to dominate
the process of selecting a voting majority of the on-
going entity’s governing body. To help ensure consis-
tent application of that indicator, the Board decided
to provide factors to consider in determining which
entity is able to select or to dominate the process
of selecting the governing body of the entity
(paragraph A44).

C59. Respondents generally agreed with the guid-
ance in the Exposure Draft on identifying the ac-
quirer, which was essentially the same as the guid-
ance in this Statement. A few suggested either
prioritizing the guidance or indicating that one of the
factors, such as relative size, is not, by itself, deter-
minative. Because acquisitions can be structured
in many different ways and not-for-profit entities
can be governed under different structures, the
Board rejected prioritizing the guidance in para-
graphs A40–A44. The Board also concluded that
those paragraphs do not suggest that any one of the
factors, whether relative size of the combining enti-
ties or some other factor, is determinative by itself.

Determining the Acquisition Date

C60. Both businesses and not-for-profit entities
are required to account for an acquisition as of the
acquisition date. As noted in paragraph B109 of
Statement 141(R):

The [Board] concluded that to faithfully
represent an acquirer’s financial position and
results of operations, the acquirer should ac-
count for all business combinations at the ac-
quisition date. In other words, its financial po-
sition should reflect the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date—
not before or after they are obtained or as-
sumed. Moreover, the acquirer’s financial
statements for the period should include only
the cash inflows and outflows, revenues and
expenses, and other effects of the acquiree’s
operations after the acquisition date.

C61. The Board concluded that this Statement and
Statement 141(R) should provide the same guidance
on the acquisition date—nothing unique to a not-for-
profit entity would call for using a different acquisi-
tion date. Therefore, this Statement defines acquisi-
tion date in the same manner as Statement 141(R).
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Recognizing and Measuring the Identifiable Assets
Acquired, the Liabilities Assumed, and Any
Noncontrolling Interest in the Acquiree

Recognition principle and conditions

C62. This Statement’s recognition principle, stated
in paragraph 27, is the same as the recognition
principle for a business combination in State-
ment 141(R). In addition, the Board concluded, as it
did in Statement 141(R), that to achieve a reasonably
high degree of consistency in practice and to resolve
existing inconsistencies, this Statement should pro-
vide guidance for applying its recognition principle.
That guidance emphasizes two fundamental condi-
tions. To recognize identifiable assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed as part of applying the acquisition
method, the item acquired or assumed must:

a. Meet the definition of assets and liabilities in
FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Fi-
nancial Statements, at the acquisition date

b. Be part of what the acquirer and the acquiree (or
its former owners) exchanged in the acquisition
transaction rather than the result of a separate
transaction.

An asset or liability at the acquisition date

C63. In determining whether an item should be
recognized at the acquisition date as part of the
acquisition transaction, the Board decided that the
appropriate first step is to apply the definitions of as-
sets and liabilities in Concepts Statement 6. The
FASB and the IASB observed in paragraph B114 of
Statement 141(R) that:

. . . in accordance with both Statement 141
and IFRS 3, and their predecessors and the re-
lated interpretative guidance, particular items
were recognized as if they were assets ac-
quired or liabilities assumed at the acquisition
date even though they did not meet the defini-
tion of an asset or a liability. That practice
was related to the previous emphasis on
measuring the cost of (or investment in) the
acquiree rather than the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. For example, as discussed in para-
graphs B365–B370 [of Statement 141(R)],
some expenses for services received in con-
nection with a business combination were
capitalized as part of the cost of the acquiree
(and recognized as part of goodwill) as if they

were an asset at the acquisition date. In addi-
tion, some future costs that an acquirer ex-
pected to incur often were viewed as a cost of
the acquiree and recognized as if they were a
liability at the acquisition date—expected re-
structuring costs were an example. The
Boards concluded that the representational
faithfulness, consistency, and understandabil-
ity of financial reporting would be improved
by eliminating such practices.

The Board concluded that the same rationale for rec-
ognizing only assets acquired and liabilities assumed
that meet the definitions applies in an acquisition by a
not-for-profit entity.

Part of the acquisition transaction

C64. The second recognition condition is that the as-
set or liability must be part of the acquisition transac-
tion rather than a result of a separate transaction.
Making that distinction requires an acquirer to iden-
tify the components of a transaction in which it ob-
tains control over an acquiree. The objective of the
condition and the guidance on identifying the com-
ponents of an acquisition is to ensure that each com-
ponent is accounted for in accordance with its eco-
nomic substance.

C65. The discussion in paragraphs C66–C69 is
based on the discussion in paragraphs B115–B124 of
Statement 141(R) because the two Statements pro-
vide the same substantive guidance on determining
what is part of a business combination or an acquisi-
tion by a not-for-profit entity. Those paragraphs in
Statement 141(R) also discuss the differences be-
tween its guidance on determining what is part of a
business combination and the related guidance in the
Exposure Draft that preceded Statement 141(R) (re-
ferred to in the remainder of this appendix as the pro-
posed Statement 141(R)), which was the same as in
the Exposure Draft that preceded this Statement.

C66. The Board decided to provide application
guidance to help address concerns about the diffi-
culty of determining whether a part of the consider-
ation transferred is for the acquiree or is for another
purpose. The Board observed that parties directly in-
volved in the negotiations of an impending acquisi-
tion may take on the characteristics of related parties.
Therefore, they may be willing to enter into other
agreements or include as part of the acquisition
agreement some arrangements that are designed pri-
marily for the benefit of the acquirer or the combined
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entity, for example, to achieve more favorable finan-
cial reporting outcomes after the acquisition. Because
of those concerns the Board decided to develop a
principle for determining whether a particular trans-
action or arrangement entered into by the parties to
the combination is part of what the acquirer and ac-
quiree exchange in the acquisition or is a separate
transaction.

C67. The Board concluded that a transaction that is
designed primarily for the economic benefit of the
acquirer or the combined entity (rather than the ac-
quiree or its former owners before the acquisition) is
likely to be a separate transaction rather than part of
the exchange for the acquiree. If so, those transac-
tions should be accounted for separately. The Board
acknowledges that judgment may be required to de-
termine whether part of the consideration paid or the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed stems from a
separate transaction. (For example, an acquisition in
which the acquiree in effect “gifts” itself to the ac-
quirer may be for the purpose of furthering the mis-
sion of the combined entity. But that fact does not
mean that the entire transaction does not qualify as an
acquisition.) To help in applying the principle, para-
graph 68 of this Statement includes four examples of
payments or other arrangements that are separate
from the transaction in which an acquirer obtains
control over an acquiree. The first three examples
also are in Statement 141(R). The Board included the
fourth example because it is a separate transaction
that might occur in conjunction with an acquisition
by a not-for-profit entity.

C68. To provide additional help in identifying the
components of an acquisition, paragraph A106 speci-
fies three factors to be considered in assessing an ac-
quisition transaction:

a. The reason for the transaction
b. Who initiated the transaction
c. The timing of the transaction.

Although those factors are neither mutually exclusive
nor individually conclusive, the Board decided that
they could help in considering whether a transaction
or event is arranged primarily for the economic ben-
efit of the acquirer or the combined entity or prima-
rily for the benefit of the acquiree (or its former own-
ers before the acquisition).

C69. Therefore, in principle, this Statement would
require an acquirer to recognize in its financial state-
ments all items that meet the definitions of an asset

and a liability that are acquired or assumed as part of
the acquisition. This Statement provides limited ex-
ceptions to that recognition principle, which are dis-
cussed in paragraphs C99–C116.

Recognizing particular identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed

C70. To help ensure the consistent application of the
requirements of this Statement, the Boards decided to
provide specific recognition guidance for particular
types of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed. Because the Board concluded that whether or
how those assets or liabilities are recognized does not
depend on whether the item is held or owed by a
business or a not-for-profit entity, the guidance
in this Statement is the same as that in State-
ment 141(R). The discussion of that guidance in
paragraphs C71–C89 briefly summarizes the Board’s
reasoning and refers the reader to the pertinent para-
graphs of Statement 141(R) for a more complete
discussion.

Operating leases

C71. FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for
Leases, does not require the separate recognition of
assets and liabilities for rights and obligations of op-
erating leases. In Statement 141(R), the Board con-
sidered whether to require, for example, the separate
recognition of an asset acquired for an acquiree’s
rights to use property for the specified period and re-
lated renewal options or other rights and a liability as-
sumed for an acquiree’s obligations to make required
lease payments for an operating lease acquired in a
business combination. However, at the time the
Board (together with the IASB) considered how to
account for operating leases in a business combina-
tion, they were considering adding to their agendas a
joint project on accounting for leases. That project
was added in 2006. Accordingly, they concluded that
Statement 141(R) should be consistent with the exist-
ing accounting requirements on accounting for
leases, and the Board applied that conclusion in this
Statement for the same reason. Therefore, this State-
ment provides that the acquirer recognizes no assets
or liabilities related to an operating lease in which the
acquiree is the lessee other than those referred to in
paragraphs A46 and A47, which are discussed below.

C72. Regardless of whether the acquiree is the les-
see or the lessor, paragraph A46 of this Statement re-
quires the acquirer to recognize an intangible asset if
the terms of an operating lease are favorable relative
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to market terms and to recognize a liability if the
terms are unfavorable relative to market terms. In ad-
dition, an identifiable intangible asset may be associ-
ated with an operating lease, which may be evi-
denced by market participants’ willingness to pay a
price for the lease even if it is at market terms. The
background and reasons for that requirement
are discussed in paragraphs B145–B147 of
Statement 141(R).

Research and development assets

C73. This Statement, like Statement 141(R), re-
quires an acquirer to recognize all tangible and intan-
gible research and development assets acquired. Be-
fore Statement 141(R), FASB Interpretation No. 4,
Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Business
Combinations Accounted for by the Purchase
Method, required an acquirer to measure and imme-
diately expense tangible and intangible assets to be
used in research and development that had no alter-
native future use. A research and development asset
was recognized as such only if it had an alternative
future use. In Statement 141(R), the Board concluded
that the requirement to immediately write off assets
to be used in research and development activities if
they have no alternative future use resulted in infor-
mation that was not representationally faithful. Para-
graphs B149–B156 of Statement 141(R) further dis-
cuss the reasons for requiring recognition of research
and development assets acquired.

Distinguishing acquired intangible assets
from goodwill

C74. This Statement requires the acquirer to recog-
nize separately from goodwill the acquisition-date
fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired in
an acquisition. Paragraph A48 indicates that an intan-
gible asset is identifiable if it meets either the
contractual-legal criterion or the separability crite-
rion, and paragraph 3(o) defines those criteria. In
practice under Opinion 16, intangible assets acquired
often were included in the amount recognized as
goodwill, although Opinion 16 also required recogni-
tion of intangible assets separately from goodwill.
The Board decided to separate intangible assets from
goodwill to enhance the decision usefulness of finan-
cial statements. Specifically, separately recognizing
intangible assets and separating finite-lived assets
from indefinite-lived assets allows for subsequent
treatment (amortization or impairment testing) that is
more consistent with the wasting or nonwasting na-
ture of those assets.

C75. The criteria for determining whether an intan-
gible is identifiable and thus should be recognized
separately from goodwill are the same as the criteria
in Statement 141(R), which in turn are consist-
ent with the same criteria in Statement 141. Para-
graphs B163–B174 of Statement 141(R) discuss the
development of the identifiability criteria, including
why the Board rejected other suggested criteria. The
Board did not reconsider those criteria in developing
this Statement but rather focused on whether not-for-
profit entities differ from business entities in a way
that would call for revising the identifiability criteria.
The Board concluded that not-for-profit entities
should apply the same criteria as business entities,
and respondents to the Exposure Draft generally
agreed that the criteria are appropriate for application
by not-for-profit entities.

Recognition of donor-related intangible assets

C76. A resource group member suggested that the
Board provide guidance for recognizing donor-
related intangible assets, such as donor lists and do-
nor relationships, apart from goodwill. The Board
agreed. In developing the Exposure Draft, the Board
observed that donor-related intangible assets are
similar to customer-related intangible assets and de-
cided that its approach for developing the guidance
for donor lists and donor relationships should be con-
sistent with Statement 141(R). The Board took that
approach in the Exposure Draft because previous in-
put from constituents indicated that donor relation-
ships are often among the main reasons for a combi-
nation, just as customer relationships are often one of
the main reasons for a business combination. Addi-
tionally, the Board expected that the methods used to
value a donor relationship would be similar to those
used to value a customer relationship.

C77. However, some Board members disagreed that
donor relationships are sufficiently similar to cus-
tomer relationships to be recognized according to the
same guidance. Those members also were concerned
about whether donor-related intangible assets can be
measured with sufficient reliability and can be sepa-
rated from the value of the acquiree. They noted that
donor relationships, unlike customer relationships,
arise from contributions that have characteristics that
differentiate them from the transactions considered in
developing the guidance for customer relationships.
First, unlike customers, donors do not expect to re-
ceive goods and services in return for the payments
they make. Second, donors often have personal af-
finities and attachments to entities rather than com-
mercial attachments.
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C78. Despite those concerns, the Board concluded
in developing the Exposure Draft that the guidance
for donor lists and donor relationships should be con-
sistent with the guidance for customer lists and cus-
tomer relationships. The Board also sought further
input from constituents and through the comment let-
ter process about the measurability and separability
of donor relationships.

C79. Commentators expressed significant disagree-
ment with the proposed requirements for donor-
related intangible assets in the Exposure Draft. Reac-
tions to the proposed requirement to recognize donor
relationships on the basis that they are similar to cus-
tomer relationships were particularly negative. Many
of the reasons given for that disagreement were
similar to the concerns some Board members noted
during the development of that guidance (para-
graph C77). For example, some commentators ob-
served that a customer relationship is based on sup-
ply and demand of goods and services that the
customer personally needs. In contrast, a donor rela-
tionship is based on the donor’s concern about how
the entity uses its contribution to carry out its mis-
sion. In addition, a customer often would incur sig-
nificant costs to change vendors for particular goods
or services. In contrast, a donor generally would in-
cur no costs to stop donating to Charity A and begin
donating to Charity B instead.

C80. Commentators also generally disagreed that
the fair value of donor relationships can be measured
with sufficient reliability for recognition upon acqui-
sition. They identified specific difficulties with meas-
urement, including the potentially significant and
unpredictable effects of the acquiree’s structural
change—its acquisition by another entity—on its do-
nor relationships and pattern of future contributions.
Commentators also noted the unpredictable and non-
recurring patterns of many donations, and they said
that subsequent testing for impairment would be un-
duly cumbersome.

C81. If donor relationships had to be recognized
separately, some commentators, including some re-
source group members, said that the Board would
need to provide more robust measurement guidance.
For example, resource group members suggested that
valuation experts likely would measure a donor rela-
tionship using the same methodology as for a cus-
tomer relationship—a multi-period excess earnings
method. The inputs into that valuation method would
be especially troublesome. For example, the valua-
tion method would require an estimate of donor turn-

over to forecast how far out cash flows will go. The
unpredictability and nonrecurring nature of many do-
nations would raise questions about the reliability of
the estimated donor turnover and the costs to gather
the information for the estimates. Commentators also
said that even if it were feasible to measure the fair
value of donor relationships with sufficient reliability,
to do so would be too costly to satisfy a reasonable
cost-benefit test.

C82. Many of the commentators on donor-related
intangible assets generally agreed that donor lists are
separable and, in the absence of confidentiality agree-
ments that would prevent transferring them, should
be recognized separately from goodwill. However,
some commentators disagreed with a requirement to
recognize donor lists separately, generally for the
same reasons they disagreed with separately recog-
nizing donor relationships.

C83. In reconsidering the appropriate guidance to
provide on donor-related intangible assets in light of
the information received through the exposure proc-
ess, the Board, like many of the commentators, sepa-
rated donor lists from donor relationships. The Board
concluded that donor lists meet the separability crite-
rion because donor lists not bound by confidentiality
agreements are capable of being separated or divided
from the acquiree and sold, transferred, licensed,
rented, or exchanged. This Statement (para-
graph A67) explicitly provides that a donor list does
not meet the separability criterion if the terms of con-
fidentiality or other agreements prohibit an entity
from selling, leasing, or otherwise exchanging infor-
mation about its donors, which is consistent with the
treatment of customer lists. The Board understands
that donor lists may be sold or otherwise transferred
less frequently than are the customer lists of busi-
nesses. Nevertheless, the Board considers a donor list
to be subject to reasonably reliable measurement at
an acceptable cost.

C84. The Board reached a different conclusion on
the measurability and the cost-benefit relationship of
separately recognizing donor relationships because it
generally agrees with the concerns raised by com-
mentators. In particular, the Board agrees that the
substantive differences between a customer’s rela-
tionship with a supplier of goods or services and a
donor’s relationship with a charity or other not-for-
profit entity result in significant problems with the re-
liability of estimates of donor turnover and the
amount of future donations that a current donor rela-
tionship might produce. Because of those reliability

FAS164 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS164–78



concerns and the high cost of overcoming them, if
that was even possible, the Board concluded that rec-
ognizing donor relationships separately from good-
will does not pass a cost-benefit test.

C85. Some Board members also consider donor re-
lationships not to qualify for separate recognition un-
der the criteria for determining whether a particular
intangible asset is identifiable. For example, some
Board members continue to believe that the personal
affinities and attachments that donors often have to
the entities to which they contribute raise significant
questions about the extent to which a donor relation-
ship is separable from the other assets of a not-for-
profit entity, particularly goodwill. Those Board
members believe that a donor relationship, like an as-
sembled workforce (paragraph C87), cannot be sold,
transferred, licensed, rented, or otherwise exchanged
without causing disruption to the acquirer’s opera-
tions. Some also questioned whether a donor rela-
tionship clearly arises from a contractual or legal re-
lationship. In light of those concerns, the Board
considered whether this Statement should indicate
that donor relationships, like an assembled work-
force, do not satisfy the identifiability criteria rather
than establishing an exception to the recognition
principle for donor relationships. The Board con-
cluded, however, that regardless of whether donor re-
lationships qualify as identifiable, they should not be
recognized because of concerns about the ability to
obtain reliable fair value measurements, especially at
a cost that does not exceed the benefits of separate
recognition of donor relationships. Therefore, the
Board decided to provide a recognition exception on
cost-benefit grounds, which does not require the
resolution of the concerns about the extent to which
donor relationships qualify as identifiable.

Assembled workforce

C86. An assembled workforce is an existing collec-
tion of employees that permits an acquirer to con-
tinue to operate an acquired business or nonprofit ac-
tivity from the acquisition date. An assembled
workforce does not represent the intellectual capital
of the skilled workforce—the (often specialized)
knowledge and experience that employees of an ac-
quiree bring to their jobs.

C87. This Statement, like Statement 141(R), pre-
cludes separately recognizing an assembled work-
force. In developing Statement 141(R), the Board
concluded that because an assembled workforce is a
collection of employees rather than an individual em-

ployee, it does not arise from contractual or legal
rights. Although individual employees might have
employment contracts with the employer, the collec-
tion of employees, as a whole, does not have such a
contract. In addition, an assembled workforce is not
separable, either as individual employees or together
with a related contract, identifiable asset, or liability.
An assembled workforce cannot be sold, transferred,
licensed, rented, or otherwise exchanged without
causing disruption to the acquirer’s business. In con-
trast, an entity could continue to operate after trans-
ferring an identifiable asset. Therefore, an assembled
workforce is not an identifiable intangible asset to
be recognized separately from goodwill. Para-
graphs B176–B180 of Statement 141(R) further dis-
cuss an assembled workforce and how it differs from
the intellectual capital of skilled employees, which
sometimes is recognized separately from goodwill.

Reacquired rights

C88. As part of an acquisition, an acquirer may reac-
quire a right that it had previously granted to the ac-
quiree to use the acquirer’s recognized or unrecog-
nized intangible assets. Examples of such rights
include a right to use the acquirer’s legal name under
a franchise agreement and a right to use the acquir-
er’s technology under a technology licensing agree-
ment. This Statement, like Statement 141(R), re-
quires an acquirer to recognize such a reacquired
right as an identifiable intangible asset (paragraph
A52). The fair value of a reacquired right is to be am-
ortized over the remaining term of the contract that
gave rise to the right. (Paragraph C118 discusses the
measurement of reacquired rights.)

C89. The Board concluded that recognizing a reac-
quired right separately from goodwill provides users
of the financial statements of the combined entity
with more decision-useful information than subsum-
ing the right into goodwill. The Board also observed
that a reacquired right meets the contractual-legal and
the separability criteria and therefore qualifies as an
identifiable intangible asset. Paragraphs B181–B184
of Statement 141(R) further discuss the recognition
of reacquired rights.

Measurement principle

Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed

C90. The Board decided that, in principle, fair value
is the relevant attribute for measuring the identifiable
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assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an acquisi-
tion of a business or nonprofit activity. Thus, this
Statement would significantly reduce the use of in-
consistent measures for specified assets and liabili-
ties, which is the existing practice for not-for-profit
entities that analogize to the purchase method de-
scribed in Opinion 16. (Opinion 16 used the term
purchase method instead of acquisition method.
Therefore, this Statement refers to the purchase
method in referencing that Opinion.)

C91. The purchase method in Opinion 16 required
an acquirer to allocate the cost (rather than the fair
value) of an acquiree to the assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed. Paragraph 37 of that Opinion re-
quired a variety of measures for that allocation, in-
cluding fair values, current replacement costs, net
realizable values, or in accordance with other GAAP.
In Statement 141(R) and in this Statement, the Board
concluded that measuring assets acquired or liabili-
ties assumed at amounts other than their fair values at
the acquisition date does not provide relevant infor-
mation that faithfully represents either their eco-
nomic values or the acquirer’s economic circum-
stances resulting from the acquisition. Measurement
at fair value provides information that is not only
more relevant, but also more comparable and under-
standable than measurement at cost or on the basis of
allocating the total cost of an acquisition. Although
this Statement provides several exceptions to fair
value measurement, those exceptions generally are
due to practical reasons—not because the resulting
information is more relevant.

Noncontrolling interests

C92. The Board observed that, although it may not
happen often, a not-for-profit entity may acquire an
acquiree in stages or acquire less than 100 percent of
the equity of an acquiree. For example, a not-for-
profit entity may purchase or receive a contribution
of a majority ownership in the equity of a business
entity. A not-for-profit entity also might have a con-
trolling economic interest in another not-for-profit
entity in which a noncontrolling interest is recog-
nized. Therefore, the Board decided to provide guid-
ance in this Statement on measuring the resulting
noncontrolling interest.

C93. This Statement requires a not-for-profit entity
to measure any noncontrolling interest in the ac-
quiree at its fair value at the acquisition date. That is a
change from the Exposure Draft, which would have
required that a noncontrolling interest in an acquiree

be determined as the sum of the noncontrolling inter-
est’s proportional interest in the identifiable assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed. The noncontrolling in-
terest’s proportional share of goodwill would not
have been included. That is, in an acquisition of less
than 100 percent of a business, an acquirer would
have recognized only the amount of goodwill pur-
chased (the goodwill that is related to the control-
ling interest), rather than the full amount of goodwill
as would have been required by the proposed
Statement 141(R).

C94. In redeliberating the proposed State-
ment 141(R), the Board decided that including the
measurement of a noncontrolling interest in the
measurement principle would be preferable to speci-
fying the mechanics of determining the amount of a
noncontrolling interest. (Because the proposed State-
ment 141(R) would have included the noncontrolling
interest’s proportional share of goodwill, the amounts
determined by measuring the fair value of a noncon-
trolling interest and by the specified mechanics gen-
erally would be the same.) Paragraphs B205–B208
of Statement 141(R) discuss in more detail why the
Board concluded that measuring a noncontrolling in-
terest at its fair value at the acquisition date is appro-
priate. The Board concluded that those reasons also
apply to an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity.

C95. The Board considered whether a requirement
to measure a noncontrolling interest at fair value
would impose undue costs on acquirers. The Board
observed that acquisitions by not-for-profit entities of
less than 100 percent of an acquiree often involve an
acquisition of a business entity. For some of those ac-
quisitions, market prices will be available for the
shares held by the noncontrolling interest. If no mar-
ket prices are available, the acquirer will need to esti-
mate the fair value using another valuation technique,
which the Board acknowledges will generally be
more costly. However, for an acquisition of either a
business or a not-for-profit entity, the Board under-
stands that the acquirer often applies other techniques
as part of the due diligence procedures, and using
them to determine the fair value of the noncontrolling
interest for financial reporting purposes thus often
would not add significant incremental costs.

C96. The Board also asked resource group members
about the cost of measuring a noncontrolling interest
at fair value; most of the members who responded
said that such a requirement usually would not im-
pose significant incremental costs on acquirers.
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Guidance for measuring particular identifiable
assets acquired and a noncontrolling interest

C97. Because the fair value of a particular asset does
not depend on whether it is held by a for-profit entity
or a not-for-profit entity, the Board concluded that
this Statement should provide the same measurement
guidance that Statement 141(R) provides for the fol-
lowing items:

a. Trade receivables and other short- or long-term
receivables acquired and other assets with un-
certain cash flows (paragraphs B252–B260 of
Statement 141(R))

b. Assets subject to operating leases in which the
acquiree is the lessor

c. Assets that the acquirer intends not to use or
to use in a way other than their highest and
best use (paragraphs B261 and B262 of
Statement 141(R)).

Exceptions to the recognition principle

C98. This Statement provides three exceptions to
its recognition principle, primarily because of cost-
benefit or practicability concerns. The exception
for donor relationships was discussed in para-
graphs C76–C85. The reasons for allowing
the other two exceptions are discussed in
paragraphs C99–C105.

Collections

C99. This Statement uses the term collections con-
sistent with its meaning in Statement 116. Para-
graph 39 of this Statement provides an exception to
the recognition principle for collection items if the
acquirer has a policy of not capitalizing collections in
accordance with Statement 116. Rather than applying
this Statement’s recognition principle, an acquirer
with such a policy should account for collections in
accordance with Statement 116. For contributed col-
lections, paragraph 11 of Statement 116 states:

An entity need not recognize contributions
of works of art, historical treasures, and simi-
lar assets if the donated items are added to
collections that meet all of the following
conditions:

a. Are held for public exhibition, education,
or research in furtherance of public serv-
ice rather than financial gain

b. Are protected, kept unencumbered, cared
for, and preserved

c. Are subject to an organizational policy
that requires the proceeds from sales of
collection items to be used to acquire
other items for collections.

C100. The Board concluded that the cost to measure
separately the fair value of collection items would, in
many circumstances, exceed the incremental benefits
of the information gained. In Statement 116, the
Board concluded that works of art, historical treas-
ures, and similar items are assets. However, for cost-
benefit reasons, Statement 116 permits nonrecogni-
tion of assets under certain specific circumstances for
works of art, historical treasures, and similar items
held as part of a collection.Although capitalization of
collections was permitted upon the initial adoption of
Statement 116 (either retrospectively or prospec-
tively), most entities that have collections do not cur-
rently capitalize them. Therefore, requiring recogni-
tion of collection items in an acquisition would be
inconsistent with Statement 116 and would be of lim-
ited usefulness because the recognized collection
would include only those newly acquired assets.

C101. As part of an acquisition, collection items that
are added to the acquirer’s collection may also be
purchased. Paragraph 141 of Statement 116 contains
an illustration for an entity that does not capitalize
collections. In that example, the entity reports its pur-
chases of collection items as a decrease to its net as-
sets in the statement of activities. Therefore, the
Board concluded that collections that are purchased
as part of an acquisition should be included as part of
the acquisition accounting. However, consistent with
Statement 116, if the acquirer’s organizational policy
is not to capitalize its collections, the cost of pur-
chased collections is recognized as a decrease in the
appropriate class of net assets in the statement of ac-
tivities. Paragraphs A86–A92 provide guidance on
determining whether collection items are purchased
or contributed and, if purchased, the cost to attribute
to them.
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Conditional promises

C102. Similar to its conclusion for collection items,
the Board concluded that this Statement’s require-
ments for conditional promises to give should be
consistent with Statement 116’s requirements. There-
fore, paragraph 40 of this Statement requires the ac-
quirer to apply the guidance in Statement 116 to ac-
count for conditional promises to give that it acquires
or assumes as part of an acquisition.

C103. When the Board issued Statement 116 in
1993, it concluded that “in certain circumstances, un-
certainties may be so significant that recognition of
an asset or liability must be delayed until there is ad-
equate evidence that it exists, has value, and can be
reliably measured” (paragraph 75). Paragraph 79 of
that Statement states:

The Board believes that until the condition
is substantially met, there is insufficient basis
to make a presumption about the expected
outcome. Doubt remains about whether all or
none of the promised assets will be realized.
Presently, there are no cost-effective tech-
niques to measure with sufficient reliability
the value of a conditional right to receive a
promised gift or a conditional obligation to
deliver a promised gift. The Board concluded
that substantially meeting the condition is the
underlying event resulting in a contribution to
the promisee from the promisor and until that
event occurs a contribution should not be rec-
ognized, regardless of whether the promisor
has already transferred the assets or has
promised to transfer the assets in the future.

C104. In that Statement, the Board concluded that
conditional promises should not be recognized in the
financial statements until the conditions on which
they depend are substantially met. However, the
Board did not reach a conclusion about whether a
conditional right to receive a promised gift or a con-
ditional obligation to deliver a promised gift meets
the definition of an asset or liability in Concepts
Statement 6 before the conditions are substantial-
ly met.

C105. The FASB and the IASB are currently work-
ing on a joint project to improve and achieve conver-
gence of their conceptual frameworks. That project
includes reconsiderations of the definitions of an as-
set and a liability as well as how accounting should
address uncertainties surrounding assets and liabili-

ties. Those reconsiderations may provide future in-
sight and guidance to comprehensively address con-
ditional promises and other arrangements. Until
those reconsiderations are completed, the Board con-
cluded that the recognition requirements in this State-
ment should be the same as those in Statement 116.

Exceptions to both the recognition and
measurement principles

Assets and liabilities arising from contingencies

C106. After the issuance of Statement 141(R), pre-
parers, auditors, and members of the legal profession
raised a number of application issues about the re-
quirements in Statement 141(R) related to assets and
liabilities arising from contingencies. In particular,
preparers and members of the legal profession were
concerned about providing auditors with evidence to
support the recognition and measurement of liabili-
ties related to certain loss contingencies assumed in a
business combination under Statement 141(R) be-
cause such information could be prejudicial.

C107. In addition to concerns about litigation-
related contingencies, preparers and auditors raised
concerns about determining when a contingency
should be considered contractual or noncontractual
because of the different recognition thresholds for
contractual and noncontractual contingencies. Some
constituents also expressed concerns about situations
in which a target entity may have determined that a
loss contingency should be recognized in accordance
with FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contin-
gencies, because the entity intends to settle out of
court but the liability does not meet the more-likely-
than-not threshold for recognition of a noncontrac-
tual contingency because Statement 141(R) would
not have permitted an acquirer to consider a potential
out-of-court settlement as a conclusive basis for rec-
ognizing a liability.

C108. In light of those and other concerns raised
by constituents before the effective date of State-
ment 141(R), the Board decided to amend its require-
ments on assets and liabilities arising from contin-
gencies to adopt a model similar to the guidance in
Statement 141. That amendment is intended to tem-
porarily address the application issues raised by con-
stituents until the Board determines whether to sepa-
rately address the accounting for all contingencies by
reconsidering Statement 5 or by participating in the
IASB’s project to revise IAS 37, Provisions, Con-
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tingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. State-
ment 141 required that an asset or liability arising
from a contingency be recognized at fair value if the
fair value can be determined.

C109. In April 2009, FSP FAS 141(R)-1, Account-
ing for Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in a
Business Combination That Arise from Contingen-
cies, implemented that amendment. Appendix C of
FSP FAS 141(R)-1 further discusses the reasons for
its requirements. In developing this Statement, the
Board concluded that no significant differences be-
tween business and not-for-profit entities exist that
would justify different accounting for assets and li-
abilities arising from contingencies. Accordingly, the
requirements of this Statement on that issue are the
same as those of Statement 141(R) as amended by
FSP FAS 141(R)-1.

Income taxes

C110. Not-for-profit entities generally are exempt
from income taxes under the Internal Revenue Code
and most state laws. However, entities may be sub-
ject to certain income taxes (for example, income
taxes on unrelated business income).

C111. The Board concluded that acquiring entities
that are subject to taxes on various portions of their
income should account for deferred and current tax
assets (including valuation allowances) and liabilities
in the same way as acquirers that are business enti-
ties. Therefore, income tax assets or liabilities would
be recognized and measured in accordance with
FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes, as amended, rather than in accordance with
the recognition and measurement principles in this
Statement, which is the same as the requirements for
income taxes in Statement 141(R). Paragraph B280
of Statement 141(R) explains why income taxes are
an exception to both the recognition and measure-
ment principles even though most, if not all, of the re-
quirements of Statement 109 are arguably consistent
with the recognition principle.

C112. The Board provided an exception to the
measurement principle in this Statement and in State-
ment 141(R) for income taxes primarily because of
the complexities of subsequent measurement of in-
come tax assets and liabilities if those items were rec-
ognized at fair value at the acquisition date. To over-
come those difficulties, Statement 109 would need to
be comprehensively reconsidered. The Board con-
cluded that the benefits of applying the fair value

measurement principle were not sufficient to warrant
the costs or complexities that the application of that
principle would cause at this time.

Employee benefits

C113. Like business entities, not-for-profit entities
provide a variety of different benefits to their em-
ployees. Not-for-profit entities are subject to FASB
Statements No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pen-
sions, and No. 106, Employers’Accounting for Post-
retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, as well as
the other pronouncements related to various types
of employee benefit arrangements listed in para-
graph 45 of this Statement. Statement 141(R) pro-
vides an exception to the recognition and measure-
ment principles for assets and liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements. This Statement pro-
vides the same exception. A liability (or asset, if any)
related to the acquiree’s employee benefit arrange-
ments is recognized and measured in accordance
with other GAAP, such as the pronouncements listed
in paragraph 45 of this Statement.

C114. As with the exception for income taxes, the
Board provided an exception for employee benefit
arrangements because of the difficulties associated
with subsequent measurement. To overcome those
difficulties, Statements 87 and 106 and other stand-
ards on employee benefits would need to be compre-
hensively reconsidered. The Board decided that the
only practicable alternative is to require employee
benefit obligations, and any related assets, to be
measured in accordance with existing GAAP.

Indemnification assets

C115. In developing Statement 141(R), the Board
responded to the request of some constituents to pro-
vide guidance on recognizing and measuring an in-
demnification asset. Constituents raised the issue be-
cause of the anomaly that would result if an
indemnification asset was measured at fair value at
the acquisition date and the related liability, such as
an income tax liability, was measured using a differ-
ent measurement attribute. Paragraphs B301–B303
of Statement 141(R) discuss that issue.

C116. Although indemnification assets may arise
less frequently in an acquisition by a not-for-profit
entity than in a business combination, the Board con-
cluded that any indemnification assets that arise in a
not-for-profit acquisition should be accounted for the
same as those in a business combination. Therefore,
this Statement provides the same exception as State-
ment 141(R) does for indemnification assets.
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Exceptions to the measurement principle

C117. The Board decided to allow certain excep-
tions to the application of this Statement’s principle
for measuring the identifiable acquired assets and
assumed liabilities. Paragraphs 42–48 of State-
ment 141(R) provide exceptions to the requirement
that the acquirer measure the acquisition-date fair
values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed separately from goodwill. Those excep-
tions are for reacquired rights and assets held for sale.
For the reasons discussed in paragraphs C118–C120,
the Board concluded that those exceptions also
should apply to acquisitions by not-for-profit entities.

Reacquired rights

C118. Like Statement 141(R), this Statement re-
quires the fair value of a reacquired right recognized
as an intangible asset to be measured on the basis of
the remaining contractual term of the contract that
gave rise to the right, without taking into account
potential renewals of that contract (paragraphs 48
and A52). The reasons for that conclusion are the
same as discussed in paragraphs B308–B310 of
Statement 141(R).

Assets held for sale

C119. In this Statement, the Board affirmed the con-
clusions in Statement 141(R) on measuring an ac-
quired long-lived asset (or disposal group) that is
classified as held for sale at the acquisition date in ac-
cordance with FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.
Proposed Statement 141(R) would have required as-
sets qualifying as held for sale at the acquisition date
under Statement 144 to be measured as that standard
requires—at fair value less costs to sell. The purpose
of that proposed exception was to avoid the need to
recognize a loss for the selling costs immediately af-
ter a business combination because assets measured
at fair value would then have to be measured at fair
value less costs to sell for subsequent accounting.

C120. In reconsidering the proposals in the proposed
Statement 141(R), the Board decided that the excep-
tion to the measurement principle for assets held for
sale should be eliminated. The definition of fair value
in this Statement, and its application in other areas,
focuses on market data. Costs that a buyer (acquirer)
incurs to purchase or expects to incur to sell an asset
are excluded from the amount at which an asset is
measured. But avoiding recognizing a loss immedi-

ately after the acquisition date would require an
amendment to Statement 144 to require assets held
for sale to be measured at fair value. Because such an
amendment would be subject to the Board’s due
process procedures, Statement 141(R) includes an
exception to fair value measurement for assets held
for sale, which the Board expects to eliminate after it
amends Statement 144. The Board has not yet under-
taken that amendment because of other priorities on
its agenda. Thus, this Statement also includes a meas-
urement exception for assets held for sale.

Recognizing and Measuring Goodwill Acquired
or the Contribution Received

C121. The discussion of measuring goodwill ac-
quired or the contribution received focuses on acqui-
sitions of 100 percent of the ownership interests in
(or the net assets of) the acquiree. The noncontrol-
ling interest that arises in an acquisition of less than
100 percent of an acquiree was discussed earlier
(paragraphs C92–C96).

Recognizing goodwill

Goodwill is an asset

C122. Unless the acquirer expects the operations of
the acquiree to be predominantly supported by con-
tributions and returns on investments, this Statement
requires the acquirer to recognize goodwill as of the
acquisition date, measured as the excess of the
amount in paragraph 50(a) over the amount in para-
graph 50(b). In developing that requirement, the
Board reaffirmed the conclusion reflected in both
Statement 141 and Statement 141(R) that goodwill
meets the definition of an asset in Concepts State-
ment 6. Paragraphs B313–B321 of Statement 141(R)
discuss the components of goodwill and explain how
goodwill satisfies that definition. The Board con-
cluded that the considerations discussed in those
paragraphs apply equally to goodwill acquired in an
acquisition by a not-for-profit entity.

Acquirees with operations in the combined entity
that are expected to be predominantly supported
by contributions and returns on investments

C123. The Exposure Draft would have required
goodwill to be recognized as an asset in all acquisi-
tions by not-for-profit entities, regardless of the na-
ture of the acquiree’s expected predominant source of
support. However, concurrent with the issuance of
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the Exposure Draft, the Board also issued an Expo-
sure Draft that would have amended FASB State-
ment No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,
to add a qualitative evaluation of whether goodwill is
impaired following an acquisition. That method was
designed for use by a reporting unit of the combined
entity that is primarily supported by contributions
and returns on investments. A reporting unit prima-
rily supported by means other than contributions and
returns on investments would have applied the fair
value impairment test in Statement 142.

C124. The qualitative evaluation would have re-
quired an acquirer to identify at the acquisition date
the reasons that goodwill arose in the acquisition.
The acquirer also would have determined at that time
potential impairment events whose occurrence
would indicate that goodwill is impaired. Upon the
occurrence of one of the identified events, an acquirer
would have recognized a goodwill impairment loss
equal to the reporting unit’s carrying amount of
goodwill.

C125. Respondents’ reactions to the proposed initial
recognition and measurement provisions for good-
will, combined with the proposed amendment to
Statement 142 to add a qualitative evaluation for im-
pairment, were mixed. Although a few respondents
agreed with both proposals, many others said that in-
formation about goodwill acquired, including subse-
quent impairments, is less useful for a not-for-profit
entity than for a for-profit entity. Because of that per-
ceived relative lack of benefit, those respondents gen-
erally favored either not recognizing goodwill as of
the acquisition date or, if recognized, immediately
charging it to expense. Many of the respondents also
generally said that, although it would be less costly
than the fair value test, the proposed qualitative
evaluation for goodwill impairment was too subjec-
tive and would be difficult to apply.

Decision usefulness of information about goodwill for
acquiree operations in the combined entity that are
expected to be predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments

C126. In developing the Exposure Draft, the Board
considered whether the recognition of goodwill en-
hances the decision usefulness of a not-for-profit en-
tity’s financial statements for the various users of
those statements, including creditors and others seek-
ing or requiring a return on their investments, donors,
grantors, and potential donors. The Board concluded
that information about goodwill may be of limited
use to donors in their assessments of whether to pro-

vide resources to a not-for-profit entity. Information
about goodwill could be useful to creditors who, un-
like donors, are interested in a return on and return of
their investments. However, because goodwill is not
separately exchangeable, creditors look first to infor-
mation about assets that can be directly used to settle
obligations.

C127. The Board’s considerations leading to the is-
suance of Statement 142 provide a foundation for un-
derstanding the information needs of creditors of a
not-for-profit entity. The information needs of credi-
tors of not-for-profit entities and others who require a
return of and return on their investments are similar
to the needs of a business entity’s investors and credi-
tors. In the project that led to Statement 142, the
Board learned during its field visits that many ana-
lysts disregard goodwill amortization expense in as-
sessing a business entity’s performance. The Board
also learned that a business entity’s management also
often ignores goodwill amortization in measuring op-
erating performance internally. However, both ana-
lysts and management of business entities often in-
clude goodwill in total assets when computing
performance ratios such as return on assets or return
on equity.

C128. Performance measures for not-for-profit enti-
ties differ from those used to evaluate business enti-
ties. Because not-for-profit entities are not operated
with the goal of maximizing return in the typical
sense, many of their performance measures do not
focus on return on assets, return on net assets, or on a
single performance measure similar to net income.
Paragraph 9 of FASB Concepts Statement No. 4, Ob-
jectives of Financial Reporting by Nonbusiness Or-
ganizations, establishes two performance indicators
for not-for-profit entities: information about the na-
ture of and relationship between inflows and out-
flows of resources and information about service ef-
forts and accomplishments. Paragraph 49 of
Concepts Statement 4 further elaborates on the first
of those indicators:

. . . financial reporting must distinguish be-
tween resource flows that are related to op-
erations and those that are not. In this way, fi-
nancial reporting may provide information
that is useful in assessing whether the activi-
ties of a nonbusiness organization during a
particular period have drawn upon, or have
contributed to, past or future periods. Thus, it
should show the relation of resources used in
operations of a period to resource inflows
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available to finance those operations. Simi-
larly, it should provide information about
changes in resources that are not related to
operations. . . . [Footnote reference omitted.]

C129. The Board is not convinced that reporting
goodwill in the statement of financial position or the
impairment of goodwill in the statement of activities
meets that objective in Concepts Statement 4 any bet-
ter than alternative methods. For example, if good-
will was immediately written off upon acquisition,
users of financial statements could distinguish that
event as one that was not related to operations if the
write-off was displayed separately from revenues,
expenses, gains, and losses.

C130. The Board also observed that some perform-
ance measures used for not-for-profit entities are non-
financial in nature. In part, that is because many of
the individuals or entities that provide resources to a
not-for-profit entity do so for reasons other than a re-
turn on and return of their investments. For example,
donors, grantors, and potential donors have motives
other than a return on investment when making deci-
sions about whether to provide resources to a not-for-
profit entity. Paragraph 19 of Concepts Statement 4
explains that:

. . . noneconomic reasons are commonly
factors in decisions to provide resources to
particular nonbusiness organizations. For ex-
ample, contributors to philanthropic organi-
zations, such as charities, and to some mem-
bership organizations, such as churches,
generally seek no direct economic benefits.
Rather, their reasons for voluntarily providing
resources relate to their interests in furthering
the purpose and goals of the organization. . . .
[Footnote reference omitted.]

C131. In paragraphs 51–53 of Concepts State-
ment 4, the Board concluded that the accomplish-
ments of nonbusiness entities generally cannot be
measured in terms of sales, profit, or return on invest-
ment. Rather, information about service accomplish-
ments of an entity is better furnished by manager’s
explanations and sources other than financial report-
ing. Information about service efforts should focus
on how the entity’s resources (inputs such as money,
personnel, and materials) are used in providing dif-
ferent programs or services.

C132. The Board considered whether information
about goodwill helps users of financial statements
understand an entity’s service efforts and accom-

plishments. The Board concluded that other informa-
tion better serves that purpose. For example, rather
than information about the amount of goodwill rec-
ognized in that acquisition, the Board believes that a
combination of nonfinancial information and finan-
cial information would be more useful in evaluating
the combined entity’s ability to render future
services.

C133. Although the preceding discussion refers to
not-for-profit entities in general, the Board observed
that it applies largely to acquiree operations in the
combined entity that are predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments. Other not-
for-profit entities and activities, such as a hospital
whose operations in the combined entity are pre-
dominantly supported by fees it charges for its serv-
ices, are more “businesslike” in nature, and creditors
may want to compare their financial statements to
those of similar entities in the for-profit sector. Such
entities also are more likely to be able to apply the
goodwill impairment test in Statement 142 without
undue difficulty or cost.

C134. In light of respondents’ comments and the
considerations about the relative usefulness of infor-
mation about goodwill, the Board decided to modify
the proposals in the Exposure Draft to require differ-
ent initial recognition of goodwill depending on the
nature of the expected predominant means of support
of an acquiree’s operations in the combined entity.
For operations expected to be predominantly sup-
ported in the combined entity by contributions and
returns on investments, the Board concluded that
cost-benefit considerations support a requirement
that the amount that otherwise would be recognized
as a goodwill asset should be written off at the acqui-
sition date. For acquirees other than those with opera-
tions in the combined entity expected to be predomi-
nantly supported by contributions and returns on
investments, an excess of the amount in para-
graph 50(a) over the amount in paragraph 50(b) is to
be recognized as goodwill at the acquisition date.
Subsequently, the acquirer would apply the impair-
ment provisions of Statement 142 to that asset. The
Board concluded that those requirements reflect the
differences between “true” not-for-profit entities that
are sufficiently different from for-profit entities to
support different accounting for goodwill, while not
extending different accounting to not-for-profit enti-
ties that are businesslike.

C135. Paragraph 71 provides guidance on how to
present the separate charge for the excess of the
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amount in paragraph 50(a) over the amount in para-
graph 50(b) in the statement of activities. That guid-
ance is discussed in paragraph C170.

Level of the test for expected predominant means
of support

C136. As noted earlier, the Exposure Draft also
would have distinguished between the accounting for
goodwill depending on whether the main source of
support of operations in the combined entity is contri-
butions and returns on investments or other means.
But the Exposure Draft would have applied that test
in subsequently accounting for goodwill recognized
at the acquisition date, and it also would have applied
the test at the level of the acquirer’s reporting units.

C137. Many respondents who addressed the issue
raised concerns about requiring the test of support to
be at the level of the reporting unit to which the ac-
quirer assigns the acquiree. They noted that not-for-
profit entities are not subject to FASB Statement
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enter-
prise and Related Information, and thus are not fa-
miliar with the criteria for establishing reporting
units. Those respondents also said that most not-for-
profit entities view their entity as a single reporting
unit and that few regularly review their financial in-
formation by segments; one respondent said that
larger hospital systems might be an exception.

C138. The Board observed that impairment testing
at the entity level rather than at a lower level some-
times may be appropriate under Statement 142.
However, it generally accepted that requiring a not-
for-profit entity to test for support at the level of the
acquirer’s reporting units could be problematic and
costly for not-for-profit entities other than those that
are more businesslike because they are primarily sup-
ported by fees charged for their services. The Board
concluded that the test should be on the basis of the
acquirer’s expectations as of the acquisition date of
the predominant means of support of the acquiree’s
operations in the combined entity. The Board thinks
that an acquirer generally should be able to apply that
test on the basis of how it intends to integrate the ac-
quiree’s activities into its own activities.

C139. The Exposure Draft also referred to “prima-
rily supported” rather than “predominantly sup-
ported.” Primary generally connotes more than half,
and the Board decided that a higher threshold is
needed to capture only entities that are not hybrid or
more businesslike because a significant means of
their support is from fees rather than from contribu-

tions and returns on investments. The Board con-
cluded that the term predominant would be appropri-
ate. This Statement uses predominantly supported by
to mean that contributions and returns on investments
are expected to be significantly more than the total of
all other sources of revenues.

Measuring goodwill

C140. In this Statement, the Board affirmed its con-
clusion in Statement 141(R) that goodwill cannot be
measured directly; goodwill can only be measured as
a residual and that is what both this Statement and
Statement 141(R) require. Goodwill is measured as
the “residual debit” if the amount in paragraph 50(a)
exceeds the amount in paragraph 50(b).

C141. The proposed Statement 141(R) would have
required the acquirer to measure goodwill as the ex-
cess of the fair value of the acquiree as a whole over
the net amount of the recognized identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. In contrast, the Ex-
posure Draft would have required the acquirer to
measure goodwill as the excess of the acquisition-
date values of the consideration transferred, if any,
and liabilities assumed over the acquisition-date val-
ues of the identifiable assets acquired. That is, the fair
value of the consideration transferred replaced the
fair value of the acquiree as a whole in the equation
for measuring goodwill. The Exposure Draft termed
its method the net asset approach. (The proposed
Statement 141(R) would have established a pre-
sumption that, in the absence of evidence to the con-
trary, the acquisition-date fair value of the consider-
ation transferred is the best basis for measuring the
fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree on
that date. Thus, the two methods often, but not al-
ways, would have produced the same result. One
situation in which they would not is an acquisition ef-
fected without consideration.)

C142. The reason for the difference between the two
methods of measuring goodwill was the Board’s con-
clusion in developing the Exposure Draft that it was
not feasible to require not-for-profit entities to meas-
ure the fair value of the acquiree as a whole (or the
fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree).
The proposed Statement 141(R) method, which in-
cluded a presumption that the value of the consider-
ation transferred is the best measure of the acquiree
as a whole, could have been feasible for a transaction
in which a not-for-profit acquirer purchases a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity. But the Board observed
that in some acquisitions by not-for-profit entities, the
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net assets of the acquiree are contributed to the ac-
quirer for no consideration or for consideration that is
substantially less than the value of the net assets. The
presumption about the equality of the fair value of the
acquiree and the consideration transferred would not
have applied in those acquisitions, and the acquirer
would have been required to determine the fair value
of the acquirer as a whole (or the fair value of its
interest in the acquirer) using other valuation
techniques.

C143. In developing the final Statement 141(R), the
Board replaced the reference in the equation for
measuring goodwill to the fair value of the acquiree
as a whole with the value of the consideration trans-
ferred. Thus, Statement 141(R) moved in the direc-
tion of the net asset method in this Statement, and the
method of measuring goodwill in paragraph 50 of
this Statement is the same as in paragraph 34 of
Statement 141(R). However, paragraph 35 of State-
ment 141(R) requires use of the fair value of the ac-
quirer’s interest in the acquiree to measure goodwill
in the absence of readily measurable consideration.
Examples of such situations are a business combina-
tion effected by an exchange of equity interests in
which the fair value of the acquiree’s equity interests
are easier to measure than the acquirer’s interest in
the acquiree and a business combination effected
without consideration, such as by contract. The net
asset method of measuring goodwill in this State-
ment includes no such provision. Accordingly, al-
though the differences between this Statement and
Statement 141(R) in measuring goodwill were re-
duced from what they would have been under the
two Exposure Drafts, a difference remains in the ab-
sence of consideration, such as a not-for-profit acqui-
sition by gift. The Board decided that it would not be
feasible or cost-beneficial to require a not-for-profit
entity to measure goodwill on the basis of the fair
value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree. The
relative decision usefulness of goodwill recognized
by a not-for-profit entity versus goodwill recognized
in a business combination was discussed in para-
graphs C126–C135. The following paragraphs dis-
cuss the difficulty and cost of obtaining the informa-
tion needed to apply a valuation technique to
measure the fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the
acquiree, that is, the cost part of the cost-benefit ratio.

Difficulty and cost of obtaining information

C144. In an acquisition involving consideration, the
fair value of the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree
could be measured on the basis of the fair value of

the consideration transferred in accordance with a
presumption that the two amounts ordinarily are
equal. However, in an acquisition by gift, the acquirer
would have to use another valuation approach, such
as a market approach or an income approach, to esti-
mate the value of the acquirer’s interest in the ac-
quiree. The Board concluded that the application of
other valuation approaches could be significantly
more problematic for not-for-profit entities than for
for-profit entities because of the absence of available
and comprehensive comparable market transactions
for similar nonprofit activities and the absence of a
profit-driven “business” motive. Those absences
make both the market approach and the income ap-
proach to valuation more difficult, raise questions
about the quality of the resulting estimates, and raise
concerns about the costs to obtain those estimates in
certain acquisitions.

Recognizing goodwill measured by the net asset
method in acquisitions of net deficits

C145. During the Board’s deliberations, several con-
stituents expressed concerns about the nature of the
excess in an acquisition in which the liabilities as-
sumed exceed the identifiable assets acquired (a net-
deficit acquisition). Some suggested that the nature of
the excess is a contribution made by the acquirer.
Others view the nature of the excess as an acquired
unidentifiable intangible asset, that is, goodwill. The
Board’s discussions with constituents led to the fol-
lowing observations about the possible reasons an ac-
quirer would assume the net deficit of the acquiree:

a. The acquirer believes that the acquisition would
result in operating synergies.

b. The acquirer acquires identifiable or unidenti-
fiable assets that did not meet the recognition
criteria (such as a collection or an assembled
workforce).

c. The acquirer erroneously understates the
acquisition-date fair values of the identifiable ac-
quired assets.

d. The acquirer erroneously overstates the
acquisition-date fair values of the liabilities as-
sumed.

e. The acquirer contributes to the acquiree or to
the community (for example, the acquirer de-
cides to assume the liabilities of the acquiree to
preserve the acquiree’s standing in the commu-
nity or mission).

f. The acquirer “overpays” for the acquiree.
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C146. The Board concluded that many of the rea-
sons cited support the existence of goodwill, al-
though some of the reasons support the recognition
of an expense. This Statement does not require the
identification or separation of the net deficit into the
items in paragraph C145. In determining whether
goodwill should be recognized in a net-deficit acqui-
sition, the Board considered the characteristics and
conceptual recognition requirements for each of the
items. Items (a) and (b) in the list are valid sources of
recognized goodwill. Items (c) and (d) conceptually
are not part of goodwill, but the Board acknowledges
that they might be subsumed in goodwill. Item (e)
should be recognized as an expense, consistent with
Statement 116. Item (f) conceptually should be an ex-
pense but it is typically subsumed in goodwill be-
cause the “overpayment” is not known at the date of
acquisition. Therefore, of the above list of six items,
four are typically included in goodwill. Two items
(items (e) and (f)—a contribution made to the ac-
quiree or the community and an “overpayment”)
conceptually should be expensed.

C147. Because the fair value of an acquiree is not
measured, the acquirer cannot objectively determine
whether the excess in a net-deficit acquisition is
goodwill, an overpayment, or a contribution made.
The Board concluded that the excess should be rec-
ognized as goodwill rather than as contribution ex-
pense. The primary reason for its conclusion is that
the fiduciary responsibilities of an acquiring entity
and its directors would preclude them from assuming
the liabilities of a financially weaker entity unless
they believed there was some unidentifiable intan-
gible asset, such as goodwill. Additionally, if an ac-
quirer assumed an acquiree’s liabilities that exceeded
both its identifiable and unidentifiable assets, the ac-
quirer essentially would be making a charitable con-
tribution to another entity’s creditors, which would
be highly unlikely.

C148. The Board also considered whether this State-
ment should include special provisions to account for
an acquisition in which a buyer pays an amount that
is more than the fair value of its interest in the ac-
quiree. The Board acknowledged that that circum-
stance is possible and, in concept, an overpayment
should lead to recognition of an expense by the ac-
quirer. However, the Board believes that in practice
that circumstance, if it occurs, would not be detect-
able or known at the acquisition date. That is, the
Board is aware of no instances in which a buyer
knowingly would overpay a seller to acquire a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity or would be otherwise com-

pelled to make such an overpayment. Rather, the
Board believes that the relatively rare situation in
which an acquirer overpays occurs unknowingly and
generally is a result of misinformation at the acquisi-
tion date. Thus, consistent with its conclusion in
Statement 141(R) (paragraph B382), the Board con-
cluded that in practice it is not possible to identify
and reliably measure an overpayment at the acquisi-
tion date. The Board concluded that the accounting
for overpayments is best addressed through subse-
quent impairment testing when evidence of a poten-
tial overpayment first arises.

Subsequent accounting for goodwill acquired

C149. As noted in paragraph C123, concurrently
with the issuance of the Exposure Draft that preceded
this Statement, the Board issued an Exposure Draft
that would have amended Statement 142 to add a
qualitative evaluation of whether goodwill is im-
paired following an acquisition. That method was de-
signed for use by a reporting unit of a not-for-profit
entity that is primarily supported by contributions
and returns on investments.

C150. Because of the change to the Exposure
Draft’s proposals on initial recognition of goodwill of
an acquiree whose operations as part of the combined
entity are expected to be predominantly supported by
contributions and returns on investments, that
amendment to Statement 142 is no longer needed.
No goodwill will be recognized for such acquirees,
and subsequent evaluation for impairment thus will
not be needed.

C151. As did the Exposure Draft, this Statement re-
quires that the fair value method of evaluating good-
will for impairment in Statement 142 be used for ac-
quirees whose operations as part of the combined
entity are not expected to be predominantly sup-
ported by contributions and returns on investment.
Those acquirees are sufficiently similar to business
entities already applying that evaluation method to
make it appropriate and feasible to apply.

Recognizing and measuring a
contribution received

C152. Paragraph C140 notes that goodwill is the re-
sidual that results if the amount in paragraph 50(a)
exceeds the amount in paragraph 50(b). Similarly, a
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contribution received recognized in accordance
with paragraph 54 is the residual that results if the
amount in paragraph 50(b) exceeds the amount in
paragraph 50(a).11

C153. The Board observed that the net asset method
of measuring goodwill in an acquisition by gift in this
Statement is an exception to the requirements of
Statement 116 for measuring a contribution received
at its fair value at the date of gift. Paragraph 5 of
Statement 116 defines a contribution as “an uncondi-
tional transfer of cash or other assets to an entity or a
settlement or cancellation of its liabilities in a volun-
tary nonreciprocal transfer by another entity acting
other than as an owner.” The Board reached the fol-
lowing basic conclusions in Statement 116, some of
which bear on the difficulty and cost of measuring
the fair value of the contribution received in an acqui-
sition by gift:

a. The donor and the donee should recognize a con-
tribution made and a corresponding contribution
received at the same time, that is, upon occur-
rence of the underlying event, which is the nonre-
ciprocal transfer of an economic benefit.

b. Fair value is the relevant measurement attri-
bute for a contribution made and a contribution
received.

c. Contributions are generally measurable with suf-
ficient reliability by both donors and donees.

d. Certain forms of contributed resources may be
more difficult to measure reliably than others, but
the form of the contributed resources alone
should not change conclusions about whether to
recognize the underlying event.

e. A major uncertainty about the existence of value
may indicate that a specific item received or
given should not be recognized. If an item is ac-
cepted solely for a potential educational value or
historical significance and has no alternative use,
it may have uncertain value, or no value, and
should not be recognized. For example, contribu-
tions of flora, fauna, photographs, and objects
that are identified with historic persons, places, or
events often have no value or have highly re-
stricted alternative uses.

C154. For the reasons discussed in paragraph C144,
the Board rejected requiring the use of other valua-
tion approaches to measure the fair value of an ac-
quiree for acquisitions of nonprofit activities by gift.

Therefore, the net asset approach in this Statement is
an exception to the requirement of Statement 116 to
measure a contribution received at its fair value as
well as to the requirements of Statement 141(R) for
an acquisition effected in the absence of readily
measurable consideration.

C155. The Board acknowledges that this exception
could result in a potential loss of information because
a not-for-profit acquirer may:

a. Understate the measurement of the assets ac-
quired (that is, goodwill and other intangible as-
sets that are not identifiable) and the contribution
received by the acquirer. For example, the ac-
quirer may be the recipient of a contribution of an
acquiree that has significant goodwill or signifi-
cant value in its workforce.

b. Omit from recognition the assets acquired and
contributions received by the acquirer. For ex-
ample, the acquirer may transfer consideration
that is less than the fair value of the identifiable
net assets of the acquiree (that is, the acquirer
would receive a partial gift or would pay less than
the fair value of the acquiree). In those circum-
stances, if the acquiree has significant goodwill or
significant value in its workforce, the acquirer
would recognize none of the contribution re-
ceived for those assets.

However, the Board considers that potential loss to
be outweighed by the reduction in costs. A not-for-
profit acquirer would not be required to measure the
fair value of the acquiree as a whole, which signifi-
cantly reduces the costs of applying this Statement.

C156. The Board considered whether an excess of
the amount in paragraph 50(b) over the amount in
paragraph 50(a) should in some circumstances be
recognized as a bargain purchase rather than a contri-
bution received. In theory at least, a not-for-profit en-
tity could acquire a business or a nonprofit activity in
a forced or liquidation sale in which the net assets ac-
quired exceed the consideration paid; in that situa-
tion, Statement 141(R) would require recognition of
a bargain purchase. The Board observed, however,
that regardless of whether the amount is termed a
contribution received or a bargain purchase, the ac-
counting treatment is the same—either would be rec-
ognized as a credit in the statement of activities for
the period. Therefore, the Board concluded that little

11See footnote 4 on the terminology used to describe an excess of the amount in paragraph 50(b) over the amount in paragraph 50(a).
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benefit would be achieved by establishing criteria for
recognizing a bargain purchase rather than a contri-
bution received. Therefore, paragraph 72 of this
Statement suggests that in an acquisition by gift, the
excess might be described either as “excess of assets
acquired over liabilities assumed in donation of En-
tity XY” or as “contribution received in donation of
Entity XY.” If a not-for-profit entity, in effect,
achieves a bargain purchase, the amount might be de-
scribed as “excess of fair value of net assets acquired
over consideration paid in acquisition of Entity XY.”
However, because both amounts are an immediate
credit to the statement of activities, the Board con-
cluded that this Statement should not require an ac-
quirer to distinguish between a contribution re-
ceived and a bargain purchase in describing an ex-
cess of the amount in paragraph 50(b) over the
amount in paragraph 50(a).

C157. Paragraph 73 provides additional guidance on
how to present an inherent contribution received in
the statement of activities. That guidance is discussed
in paragraphs C171–C175.

Measuring the consideration transferred, including
contingent consideration

C158. The recognized amount of goodwill or a con-
tribution received depends in part on the amount of
consideration, if any, transferred in exchange for the
acquiree. Paragraph 56 of this Statement requires an
acquirer to measure consideration transferred at its
fair value as of the acquisition date. The following
paragraphs discuss the Board’s conclusions on meas-
uring and recognizing contingent consideration.

C159. Opinion 16 defines contingent consideration
as “consideration which is issued or issuable at the
expiration of the contingency period or which is held
in escrow pending the outcome of the contingen-
cy . . .” (paragraph 78). Under the guidance in Opin-
ion 16, an acquirer’s obligations to make payments
conditioned on the outcome of future events usually
were not recognized at the acquisition date. Rather,
acquirers usually recognized those obligations when
the contingency was resolved and consideration was
issued or became issuable. In general, issuing addi-
tional securities or distributing additional cash or
other assets upon resolving contingencies based on
reaching particular earnings levels resulted in de-
layed recognition of an additional element of cost of
an acquiree. In contrast, issuing additional securities
or distributing additional assets upon resolving con-
tingencies based on security prices did not change the
recognized cost of an acquiree.

C160. In developing Statement 141(R), the Board
concluded that the delayed recognition of contingent
consideration was unacceptable because it ignored
the fact that the acquirer’s agreement to make contin-
gent payments is the obligating event in a business
combination transaction. Although the amount of the
future payments the acquirer will make is conditional
on future events, the obligation to make the payments
if the specified future events occur is unconditional.
The same is true for a right to the return of previously
transferred consideration if specified conditions are
met. Failure to recognize that obligation or right at
the acquisition date would not faithfully represent the
economic consideration exchanged at that date. Thus,
the Board concluded that obligations and rights asso-
ciated with contingent consideration arrangements
should be measured and recognized at their
acquisition-date fair values.

C161. To the extent that contingent consideration ar-
rangements exist, the Board concluded that not-for-
profit entities should account for them in the same
manner that Statement 141(R) requires for business
entities. That is, contingent consideration, like other
consideration transferred, should be measured at its
acquisition-date fair value. Paragraphs B347–B351
of Statement 141(R) further discuss its requirements
for the recognition and measurement of contingent
consideration.

Additional Guidance for Applying the
Acquisition Method

Acquisitions in stages

C162. A not-for-profit entity may acquire an ac-
quiree in stages. For example, an entity that owns
20 percent of a for-profit entity may purchase another
60 percent of that entity, thereby obtaining control. In
acquisitions achieved in stages, consistent with State-
ment 141(R), the acquirer would remeasure its non-
controlling ownership investment at its acquisition-
date fair value and recognize any gains or losses in
the statement of activities. Paragraph B384 of State-
ment 141(R) includes the following reasons for that
decision:

The Boards concluded that a change from
holding a noncontrolling investment in an en-
tity to obtaining control of that entity is a sig-
nificant change in the nature of and economic
circumstances surrounding that investment.
That change warrants a change in the classifi-
cation and measurement of that investment.
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Once it obtains control, the acquirer no longer
is the owner of a noncontrolling investment
asset in the acquiree. As in present practice,
the acquirer ceases its accounting for an in-
vestment asset and begins reporting in its fi-
nancial statements the underlying assets, li-
abilities, and results of operations of the
acquiree. In effect, the acquirer exchanges its
status as an owner of an investment asset in
an entity for a controlling financial interest in
all of the underlying assets and liabilities of
that entity (acquiree) and the right to direct
how the acquiree and its management use
those assets in its operations.

C163. The Board concluded that those same reasons
apply to a not-for-profit entity that gains control of an
acquiree in stages. Paragraphs B385–B389 of State-
ment 141(R) further discuss that requirement.

Measurement period

C164. In response to concerns about the quality and
availability of information necessary to recognize all
assets acquired and liabilities assumed or incurred
and to measure their fair values at the acquisition
date, this Statement establishes a measurement pe-
riod during which the acquirer may adjust provi-
sional amounts recognized at the acquisition date
(paragraphs 61–65). The purpose and requirements
of the measurement period are consistent with the re-
lated requirements in Statement 141(R).

C165. The Board concluded that in applying the re-
quirements for the measurement period, an acquirer
should:

a. Only consider information that pertains to the
values as of the acquisition date in recording as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed in an acqui-
sition. Information discovered about an event that
occurred after the acquisition date should be rec-
ognized as part of the postacquisition accounting.

b. Provide users of its financial statements with rel-
evant information about the status of items that
have been measured only provisionally. There-
fore, paragraph 90(a) of this Statement requires
the acquirer to disclose specified information
about amounts recognized in the financial state-
ments for the acquisition that have been deter-
mined only provisionally.

c. End the measurement period as soon as it re-
ceives the necessary information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition

date or learns that the information is not obtain-
able. However, the measurement period should
not exceed one year after the acquisition date.
As in Statement 141(R), the Board decided
to place constraints on the period of time for
which it is deemed reasonable to seek necessary
information.

d. Adjust comparative information in previously is-
sued financial statements, including any change
in depreciation, amortization, or other income ef-
fect recognized as a result of completing the ini-
tial accounting. The Board acknowledged con-
cerns that retrospective adjustments and adjusting
previously issued comparative information are
more costly. But it concluded that the cost of this
presentation requirement is acceptable because it
significantly improves the quality of comparative
information reported in financial statements.

C166. Respondents to the Exposure Draft that com-
mented on the measurement period generally agreed
both that a measurement period should be provided
and that the limit of one year is reasonable.

Determining what is part of the
acquisition transaction

C167. This Statement (paragraph 67) requires the
acquirer to identify any amounts that are not part of
what the acquirer and the acquiree (or its former
owners) exchanged in the acquisition. The acquirer is
to recognize as part of applying the acquisition
method only the consideration transferred for the ac-
quiree. Separate transactions are accounted for in ac-
cordance with the relevant GAAP. This requirement
was discussed earlier (paragraphs C64–C69) because
recognizing as part of the acquisition accounting only
items that are part of the acquisition transaction also
is a recognition condition. The following paragraphs
discuss a more specific aspect of that requirement—
accounting for acquisition-related costs.

Acquisition-related costs

C168. The Board observed that transaction-related
costs incurred by business entities are similar to those
incurred by not-for-profit acquirers. Paragraph 27 of
Statement 141(R) requires that those costs be ac-
counted for separately from the business combina-
tion. The Board concluded in this Statement that that
same requirement should apply to transaction-related
costs incurred in connection with an acquisition by a
not-for-profit entity.

C169. The primary reason for the requirement in
Statement 141(R) is that transaction-related costs are
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not part of what a buyer and a seller exchange in a
business combination. Rather, they are separate pay-
ments in exchange for services and generally do not
represent assets of the acquirer at the acquisition date
because they are consumed as the services are ren-
dered. The Board decided that the nature of acqui-
sition-related costs is the same in an acquisition by a
not-for-profit entity as in a business combination.
Thus, the same treatment of those costs is appropriate
in both transactions.

Presentation

Statement of Activities

Write-off of goodwill for acquiree operations
expected as part of the combined entity to be
predominantly supported by contributions and
returns on investments

C170. If the acquirer is within the scope of the health
care Guide, the separate charge for an excess of the
amount in paragraph 50(a) over the amount in para-
graph 50(b) is to be presented within the perform-
ance indicator. The Board understands that the pur-
pose of the performance indicator presented by
entities subject to the health care Guide is to provide
an indicator comparable to a business entity’s income
from continuing operations. The Board concluded
that presentation within the performance indicator is
appropriate because the write-off is similar in nature
to an immediate impairment of goodwill, which a
business entity would recognize within income from
continuing operations.

Inherent contribution received

C171. Consistent with Statement 116 and FASB
Statement No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-
Profit Organizations, this Statement requires an in-
herent contribution received to be reported as an in-
crease in permanently restricted net assets,
temporarily restricted net assets, or unrestricted net
assets depending on the type of donor-imposed re-
strictions assumed by the acquiring entity.

C172. The Board also decided that determining
whether a contribution received in an acquisition is
included as part of “operations,” if such a measure is
reported, should be left to the discretion of the entity
(or other guidance). Requiring contributions received
in an acquisition to be presented within operating or
nonoperating classes (or other classes) would be
more restrictive than the requirements of State-

ment 117. The Board concluded that it is clear from
Statement 117 that the requirements allow flexibility
in determining operating and nonoperating items, as
well as other classifications, provided the measure is
clear or otherwise defined.

C173. The health care Guide, however, defines a
performance indicator and provides guidance on
what is included in and excluded from the indicator.
Therefore, the Board considered whether it should
provide guidance specifying whether an acquirer of a
business or nonprofit activity that applies the provi-
sions of the health care Guide should include those
contributions received in the performance indicator.

C174. In reaching its conclusions about the presen-
tation of a contribution received in an acquisition, the
Board considered whether the contribution of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity, as a whole, would meet
the existing criteria in the health care Guide. Para-
graph 10.21c of the health care Guide requires that
receipt of restricted contributions (both tempo-
rary and permanent restrictions, as defined by State-
ment 116) be reported separately from the perform-
ance indicator. Consistent with the health care Guide,
if the donor restricts the use of the acquired business
or nonprofit activity, the associated contribution re-
ceived that is recognized in the acquisition should be
presented separately from the performance indicator.
Therefore, the Board concluded that an unrestricted
contribution should be presented within the perform-
ance indicator.

C175. Presenting an unrestricted contribution re-
ceived within the performance indicator is a change
from the Exposure Draft, which would have required
that unrestricted contributions also be reported sepa-
rately from the performance indicator. That proposal
was based on an analogy of a contribution of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity to a contribution of long-
lived assets, which the health care Guide requires to
be reported separately from the performance indica-
tor. In reconsidering that guidance in the context of
the requirement to include a write-off of goodwill at
the acquisition date for acquiree operations expected
to be predominantly supported by contributions and
returns on investments, the Board concluded that a
better analogy is to unrestricted contributions in gen-
eral (that is, other than contributions of long-lived as-
sets), which the Guide includes in the performance
indicator. The Board also observed that to exclude an
unrestricted contribution received from the perform-
ance indicator would be inconsistent with including a
write-off of goodwill at the acquisition date for ac-
quiree operations that qualify for that provision
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within that indicator. The Board could not identify a
valid rationale to support that inconsistency. Accord-
ingly, the Board concluded that an unrestricted con-
tribution received in an acquisition should be pre-
sented within the performance indicator.

Cash Flow Statement

C176. FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash
Flows, as amended, establishes standards for provid-
ing a statement of cash flows in the general-purpose
financial statements of not-for-profit entities. It re-
quires that entities classify cash receipts and pay-
ments according to whether they result from invest-
ing, financing, or operating activities. In this
Statement, the Board considered whether cash in-
flows and outflows resulting from an acquisition
should be presented as an investing or financing ac-
tivity. Consistent with Statement 95, an acquisition
that is an exchange of commensurate values gener-
ally would be reported as an investing activity to the
extent of cash consideration paid. However, if the as-
sets acquired are resources that by donor stipulation
must be used for long-term purposes, some portion
of the transaction might be considered a financing
transaction.

C177. Paragraph 18 of Statement 95, as amended by
Statement 117, states:

Financing activities include obtaining re-
sources from owners and providing them
with a return on, and a return of, their invest-
ment; receiving restricted resources that by
donor stipulation must be used for long-term
purposes; borrowing money and repaying
amounts borrowed, or otherwise settling the
obligation; and obtaining and paying for
other resources obtained from creditors on
long-term credit.

In this Statement, the Board concluded that, unlike
resources that by donor stipulation must be used for
long-term purposes (such as gifts restricted to the cre-
ation of permanent or term endowments, gifts subject
to life estates, and gifts for the purchase of long-lived
assets), the cash flows associated with the acquisition
of a business would not be mistakenly identified by
users of the financial statements as resources freely
available for use. Therefore, paragraph 75 requires
the entire portion of any net cash flow (cash paid as
consideration transferred, if any, less cash of the ac-
quiree that is acquired) from an acquisition to be re-
ported as an investing activity outflow or inflow.

Disclosures for an Acquisition

C178. The Board used the disclosure requirements
in Statement 141(R) as its point of reference for for-
mulating the disclosure requirements for an acquisi-
tion in this Statement. The Board considered whether
those disclosure requirements should apply to not-
for-profit entities and whether they would result in
useful information for the users of those entities’ fi-
nancial statements.

C179. The disclosure requirements in State-
ment 141(R) include overall objectives for the disclo-
sure of information. Additionally, that Statement
specifies particular disclosures that generally would
be required to meet the disclosure objectives and re-
quires that an acquirer disclose any additional infor-
mation it believes is necessary to meet those objec-
tives. In this Statement, the Board concluded that the
disclosure objectives for a not-for-profit entity should
be the same as those required for a business entity, to
the extent that they apply. Those objectives are that
the acquirer disclose information that enables users
of its financial statements to evaluate:

a. The nature and financial effect of an acquisition
that occurs either:
(1) During the current reporting period; or
(2) After the reporting date but before the finan-

cial statements are issued or are available to
issue (paragraph 85)

b. The financial effects of adjustments recognized in
the current reporting period that relate to acquisi-
tions that occurred in the current or previous re-
porting periods (paragraph 89).

C180. The Board then considered whether any com-
pelling differences between business entities and not-
for-profit entities exist that would call for differences
from the guidance for the specific disclosures that are
generally required to meet the disclosure objectives
in Statement 141(R). In developing the Exposure
Draft, the Board found no such compelling differ-
ences, and most respondents to the Exposure Draft
also generally agreed with the objectives and the
minimum disclosures specified to meet them. (Para-
graphs C185−C192 discuss the public entity disclo-
sures, including the comments on them.)

C181. A few respondents suggested additional dis-
closures. For example, two respondents suggested re-
quired disclosures of any opt-out clauses in the acqui-
sition agreement. The Board observed that opt-out
clauses are not unique to not-for-profit entities and
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that Statement 141(R) does not require business enti-
ties to make that specific disclosure. The Board also
observed that regardless of the type of entity in-
volved, the terms and conditions of so-called opt-out
clauses can vary significantly and may in some situa-
tions indicate that an acquisition has not yet occurred.
For those reasons, this Statement does not explicitly
require disclosure of opt-out clauses for acquisitions
by not-for-profit entities. The Board also observed
that the detailed disclosures listed in paragraphs 86
and 90 of this Statement are the minimum disclo-
sures required to meet the disclosure objectives. An
entity is not precluded from disclosing information
about any opt-out clauses if it thinks that information
is important to achieving those objectives.

C182. Other respondents suggested required disclo-
sure of any portion of the consideration transferred
(payments or other arrangements) and any assets ac-
quired or liabilities assumed or incurred that are not
part of the acquisition. The Board added that disclo-
sure (paragraph 86(o)), which Statement 141(R) also
requires.

C183. After considering the comments on the Expo-
sure Draft, the Board affirmed its conclusion that the
disclosure objectives and related minimum disclo-
sure requirements for an acquisition by a not-for-
profit entity should be the same as for a business
combination. However, the Board modified some
disclosure requirements for differences that originate
from:

a. Accounting requirements in this Statement that
differ from those in Statement 141(R). For ex-
ample, this Statement’s requirements on recog-
nizing and measuring goodwill differ in some re-
spects from those in Statement 141(R).

b. Existing accounting requirements for not-for-
profit entities that differ from those for business
entities. For example, not-for-profit entities
present a statement of changes in net assets rather
than an income statement.

Therefore, although the disclosure objectives are the
same for a not-for-profit entity and a business entity,
the disclosure requirements in this Statement and
the requirements in Statement 141(R) are slightly
different.

C184. This Statement reflects a few changes to the
disclosures proposed in the Exposure Draft as a result
of changes made to the disclosures for a business
combination between the proposed and the final

Statement 141(R). For example, in response to re-
quests from some commentators on the proposed
Statement 141(R), the Board added required disclo-
sure of information about receivables acquired. Para-
graphs B258–B260 of Statement 141(R) discuss the
comments received and why the Board required that
disclosure. The Board concluded that the disclosure
would be equally useful to the users of a not-for-
profit entity’s financial statements.

Public Entity Disclosures

C185. Statement 141(R) (paragraph 68(r)) requires
additional disclosures by a public business enter-
prise, as defined. Specifically, Statement 141(R) re-
quires a public business enterprise to disclose:

a. The amounts of revenue and earnings of the ac-
quiree since the acquisition date included in the
consolidated income statement for the reporting
period

b. The revenue and earnings of the combined entity
for the current reporting period as though the ac-
quisition date for all business combinations that
occurred during the year had been as of the be-
ginning of the annual reporting period (supple-
mental pro forma information)

c. If comparative financial statements are presented,
the revenue and earnings of the combined entity
for the comparable prior reporting period as
though the acquisition date for all business com-
binations that occurred during the current year
had occurred as of the beginning of the compa-
rable prior annual reporting period (supplemental
pro forma information).

The Board considered the potential usefulness of
similar additional disclosure requirements for a not-
for-profit acquirer that is a public entity.

C186. First, the Board observed that a not-for-profit
entity may have public debt outstanding, and it con-
cluded that disclosure requirements for public entities
should apply equally to public entities that are busi-
ness entities and those that are not-for-profit entities,
including those that are obligated for conduit debt.
Therefore, paragraph 3(w) of this Statement defines a
public entity consistent with the definition used in
paragraph 9 of Statement 131, as amended by FASB
Staff Position FAS 126-1, Applicability of Certain
Disclosure and Interim Reporting Requirements for
Obligors for Conduit Debt Securities.

C187. The public entity disclosure in para-
graph C185(a), which this Statement refers to as the
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acquired growth disclosure, was added in State-
ment 141 and carried forward in Statement 141(R) in
response to requests from users for information that
would enable them to distinguish between “organic”
and acquisition-related growth. A group of users of
financial statements of not-for-profit entities was
asked to consider whether that type of information
also would be useful in evaluating public not-for-
profit entities. Those users said that the acquired
growth disclosure could be useful in providing infor-
mation to evaluate the potential future achievements
of the consolidated entity.

C188. The Board believes that the disclosures of
revenue growth and the ability to fund issued debt
based on consolidated activity are equally important
to users of the financial statements regardless of
whether the entity is a not-for-profit or business en-
tity. Therefore, the Board concluded that a public not-
for-profit entity should be required to provide the
same information as a public business entity, if prac-
ticable. Paragraph B425 of Statement 141(R) ex-
plains the Board’s rationale for providing a practical
exception to the acquired growth disclosure if obtain-
ing that information is impracticable:

The [FASB and the IASB] agreed with us-
ers that the information about postcombina-
tion revenues and earnings of the acquiree is
useful. However, for practical reasons, the
Boards concluded that this Statement should
provide an exception to that requirement if
distinguishing the postcombination earnings
of the acquiree from earnings of the com-
bined entity is impracticable. The Boards also
decided that in those circumstances the ac-
quirer should disclose that fact and the rea-
sons why it is impracticable to provide the
postcombination information. The period for
that disclosure is limited to the end of the cur-
rent annual period because the Boards con-
cluded that the information needed to provide
the disclosure during that period generally
will be available. A short period often is re-
quired to fully integrate an acquiree’s opera-
tions with those of the acquirer. The Boards
also observed that the usefulness of the sepa-
rate information diminishes as the operations
of the acquiree are integrated with the com-
bined entity.

C189. Opinion 16, as modified by FASB Statement
No. 79, Elimination of Certain Disclosures for Busi-
ness Combinations by Nonpublic Enterprises, re-

quired disclosures similar to the pro forma disclo-
sures in paragraphs C185(b) and C185(c) (referred to
as the pro forma disclosures) by acquirers that are
public entities that apply the purchase method. Para-
graph 96 of that Opinion stated that those entities:

. . . should include as supplemental infor-
mation the following results of operations on
a pro forma basis:

a. Results of operations for the current pe-
riod as though the companies had com-
bined at the beginning of the period, un-
less the acquisition was at or near the
beginning of the period.

b. Results of operations for the immediately
preceding period as though the compa-
nies had combined at the beginning of
that period if comparative financial state-
ments are presented.

C190. In assessing the benefits of requiring the pro
forma disclosures for public not-for-profit entities,
the Board sought feedback from various users of the
financial statements of those entities. Those users
generally supported requiring the pro forma disclo-
sures. However, their views differed about the type of
information that would be most beneficial, for ex-
ample, whether the information should be provided
on a historical or a forecasted basis and whether the
information should be based on the statement of fi-
nancial position, the statement of activities, or the
statement of cash flows.

C191. The views of respondents to the Exposure
Draft on the public entity disclosures were mixed,
with about half of those who commented agreeing
with the proposed disclosures. Others suggested
modifications, generally to provide an impracticabil-
ity exception, or suggested a cost-benefit exception
for not-for-profit entities. The Board observed that
this Statement provides an impracticability exception
to all of the required public entity disclosures. With
that exception, the Board thinks the disclosures will
not impose an undue burden on public not-for-profit
entities.

C192. Additionally, to increase the consistency of
application of the disclosures, the Board decided that
this Statement should be explicit about the metrics on
which the pro forma and acquired growth disclosures
are based. Therefore, this Statement would require
separate disclosure of the amounts of revenue,
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changes in unrestricted net assets, changes in tempo-
rarily restricted net assets, and changes in perma-
nently restricted net assets for purposes of provid-
ing the public entity disclosures required in this
Statement.

Effective Date and Transition

C193. This Statement is effective for mergers for
which the merger date is on or after December 15,
2009 and for acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the beginning of the first annual re-
porting period beginning on or after December 15,
2009. The Exposure Draft said that the final State-
ment would be effective for fiscal years that begin
“approximately six months after the issuance of a fi-
nal Statement.” The issuance date of this Statement
provides a slightly longer period between issuance
and effective date. The Board notes that the period
between the issuance date and the effective date
would help not-for-profit entities to:

a. Reduce the potential for situations in which nego-
tiations had already been underway, requiring a
mid-deal change in accounting (that is, the elimi-
nation of the pooling method).

b. Prepare for this Statement’s implementation, es-
pecially for many of the smaller not-for-profit en-
tities that have small accounting departments
with few employees.

c. Enlist the advice of others to assist in transition, if
needed.

d. Train staff on the accounting for mergers and
acquisitions.

C194. In response to a suggestion from a respondent
to the Exposure Draft, the Board considered provid-
ing a delayed effective date for smaller not-for-profit
entities. The reason given for that suggestion was that
smaller not-for-profit entities might benefit from the
experiences of larger entities in applying this State-
ment. The Board decided against a delayed effective
date for smaller entities for several reasons:

a. As already noted, this Statement provides more
than the six-month period suggested in the
Exposure Draft before all entities are required to
apply it.

b. A delayed effective date would postpone im-
provements to current mergers and acquisitions
accounting guidance and impair comparability.

c. This Statement applies to merger and acquisition
transactions, and its effective date is transaction
based. Mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit

entities occur relatively infrequently, and gener-
ally may be less frequent for smaller than for
larger entities. Thus, it is not clear that a delayed
effective date for smaller entities would gain
much in terms of experiences from which a
smaller not-for-profit entity could benefit.

d. Any dividing line between “smaller” and “larger”
not-for-profit entities for purposes of different ef-
fective dates would necessarily be arbitrary.

C195. The Board decided that the provisions of this
Statement should be applied prospectively. Prospec-
tive application of this Statement is consistent with
the transition requirements of Opinion 16, State-
ment 141, and Statement 141(R). Consistent with the
Board’s reasons for rejecting retrospective applica-
tion in prior pronouncements for business combina-
tions, the Board concluded that retrospective applica-
tion would be impractical and burdensome for many
entities because the information needed may not ex-
ist or may no longer be obtainable.

C196. Because the Board wants this Statement to be
adopted at the same time as changes to the account-
ing for noncontrolling ownership interests, the Board
decided that this Statement should be effective as of
the beginning of an annual period, as is FASB State-
ment No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. The Board decided to
coordinate the effective dates for this Statement and
the requirements for a noncontrolling ownership in-
terest in a subsidiary for the same reasons given
in Statement 141(R). Paragraph B430 of State-
ment 141(R) explains that the amendment toARB 51
that addresses the subsequent accounting for an ac-
quiree in consolidated financial statements is related
to provisions in Statement 141(R) that address the
initial accounting for an acquiree at the acquisition
date. The Boards concluded that linking the timing of
the changes in accounting required by that amend-
ment to those required by Statement 141(R) would
minimize disruptions to practice, which benefits both
preparers and users of financial statements. The
Board affirmed that conclusion in developing the ef-
fective date of this Statement.

C197. In addition, because this Statement is effec-
tive at the beginning of a fiscal year for acquisitions,
not-for-profit entities would cease amortizing previ-
ously recognized goodwill in the same way as other
first-time adopters of Statement 142. One of the pri-
mary factors that led the Board to require the applica-
tion of Statement 142 at the beginning of a fiscal year
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is that the Board believes that amortization of all pre-
viously recognized goodwill should stop within com-
parable annual periods following issuance of that
Statement.

C198. Like Statement 141(R), this Statement
prohibits early adoption. Paragraph B431 of State-
ment 141(R) notes that the FASB’s Investors Techni-
cal Advisory Committee and other users of financial
statements told the FASB that providing alternatives
for when entities adopt a new standard impairs com-
parability. The Board decided that the comparability
problems caused by some entities adopting a State-
ment before its effective date apply equally to busi-
ness entities and not-for-profit entities.

Effective Date for Related Pronouncements
and Amendments

C199. Because not-for-profit entities were excluded
from the scope of the following upon their issuance,
this Statement also provides effective dates for:

a. Statement 142’s requirements on subsequent ac-
counting for goodwill and other intangible assets
acquired in an acquisition by a not-for-profit en-
tity. (Statement 142 refers to assets acquired in a
business combination.)

b. The amendments Statement 160 made to
ARB 51 and to other existing pronouncements.

c. The amendments Statement 141(R) made to ex-
isting pronouncements.

To be consistent with the basic effective date of this
Statement, those requirements are to be applied pro-
spectively in the first set of initial or annual financial
statements for a reporting period beginning on or af-
ter December 15, 2009.

Transition for Previously Recognized Goodwill

C200. This Statement (paragraph 95) requires an ac-
quirer that is predominantly supported by contribu-
tions and returns on investments to write off previ-
ously recognized goodwill by a separate charge in the
statement of activities for the effect of the accounting
change. An acquirer that is not predominantly sup-
ported by contributions and returns on investments is
required to subject previously recognized goodwill to
the transitional impairment evaluation required by
paragraphs 55–58 of Statement 142. The Board con-
cluded that those requirements are more consistent
with this Statement’s requirement for recognizing
goodwill in an acquisition and the reasons for those

requirements than other alternatives would be. For
example, the Board considered requiring that good-
will of a unit predominantly supported by contribu-
tions and returns on investments continue to be amor-
tized, while all other goodwill would be subjected to
the transitional impairment test. But the Board de-
cided that that alternative would be inconsistent with
this Statement’s requirement to write off acquired
goodwill at the acquisition date for an acquiree
whose operations are expected as part of the com-
bined entity to be predominantly supported by contri-
butions and returns on investment.

C201. The Board also considered limiting the write-
off of previously recognized goodwill in para-
graph 95 to goodwill assigned to a reporting unit that
is predominantly supported by contributions and re-
turns on investments rather than applying that re-
quirement to an acquirer as a whole. However, before
the amendment to Statement 142 to make it apply to
goodwill acquired in an acquisition by a not-for-
profit entity, such entities were not required to assign
goodwill to reporting units. The Board observed that
an acquirer that is predominantly supported by con-
tributions and returns on investments will not be re-
quired to recognize goodwill for future acquisitions
unless it acquires operations that do not qualify for
that exemption from recognizing goodwill. Requir-
ing such an entity to develop procedures for assign-
ing previously recognized goodwill to reporting units
although it is unlikely to need those procedures in the
future (barring a significant change in its operations)
would be impractical and would not pass a reason-
able cost-benefit test. In contrast, an acquirer that is
not supported, as a whole, by contributions and re-
turns on investments may be required to recognize
goodwill in future acquisitions; if so, that goodwill
must be assigned to reporting units. Accordingly,
such an entity may need procedures for assigning
goodwill to reporting units for purposes other than
transition to this Statement, although it too would not
have assigned previously recognized goodwill to re-
porting units when it was acquired.

Transition for Previously Recognized Intangible
Assets Other Than Goodwill

C202. Statement 142 has applied to a not-for-profit
entity’s intangible assets other than goodwill ac-
quired other than in an acquisition by a not-for-profit
entity since its initial effective date. However, an en-
tity that had a previous acquisition accounted for us-
ing the purchase method in Opinion 16 might have
recognized intangible assets other than goodwill, and
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Statement 142 was not effective for those assets. Be-
cause the situations are essentially the same, the
Board concluded that the transition guidance for such
intangible assets should be essentially the same as
that provided in paragraph 53 of Statement 142 for
all previously recognized intangible assets. Para-
graph 100 of this Statement provides that guidance.

Benefits and Costs

C203. The objective of financial reporting is to pro-
vide information that is useful to present and poten-
tial investors, creditors, donors, and other capital
market participants in making rational investment,
credit, and similar resource allocation decisions.
However, the benefits of providing information for
that purpose should justify the related costs. Present
and potential investors, creditors, donors, and other
users of financial information benefit from improve-
ments in financial reporting, while the costs to imple-
ment a new standard are borne primarily by the
present stakeholders in the reporting entity. The
Board’s assessment of the benefits and costs of issu-
ing an accounting standard is unavoidably more
qualitative than quantitative because there is no
method to objectively measure the costs to imple-
ment an accounting standard or to quantify the value
of improved information in financial statements.

C204. The Board believes that the requirements of
this Statement will result in improved financial re-
porting in several ways. Some of those benefits have
already been achieved for business entities through
the issuance of Statements 141 and 142 in June 2001
and Statement 141(R) in December 2007. This State-
ment will result in the following improvements:

a. Improve the relevance and comparability of
reported financial information. The Exposure
Draft would have required all combinations of
not-for-profit entities to be accounted for as ac-
quisitions. Input the Board received on the Expo-
sure Draft convinced it that forcing all combina-
tions of not-for-profit entities into a single
mold—a mold that does not fit some of them
well—would impair not only comparability but
also the relevance of information provided for
combinations that are in substance mergers.
Therefore, this Statement establishes definitions
and related guidance for distinguishing between a
merger and an acquisition and provides account-
ing guidance for both types of combinations.

Not-for-profit entities currently apply Opin-
ion 16 by analogy. That Opinion and related in-
terpretative guidance permit the use of the pool-
ing method in circumstances in which there has
been no exchange of consideration; otherwise,
the purchase method should be used. Because an
entity can choose whether to use the pooling or
purchase method in certain transactions, eco-
nomically similar transactions are being ac-
counted for using different methods that produce
dramatically different financial results. For ex-
ample, a not-for-profit entity may choose to use
the pooling method solely because the transac-
tion does not involve consideration. As a result of
the guidance this Statement provides on distin-
guishing a merger from an acquisition, entities no
longer will have wide discretion in selecting be-
tween two different accounting methods.

b. Provide more complete financial information.
The explicit criteria for recognition of intangible
assets apart from goodwill in this Statement will
provide more information about the assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed in acquisitions.
Not-for-profit entities currently analogize to
Opinion 16, which requires the recognition of in-
tangible assets apart from goodwill. However, the
Opinion 16 criteria for determining whether an
acquired intangible asset should be recognized
apart from goodwill are vague and often result in
intangible assets not being separately identified
and recognized, but instead being subsumed into
goodwill.

c. Better reflect the value of the assets received
and liabilities assumed. This Statement will re-
quire an acquirer to measure the identifiable as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed at their
acquisition-date fair values (with limited excep-
tions) regardless of whether the acquisition re-
sults from a purchase, contribution, or other
means. Not-for-profit entities currently analogize
to Opinion 16, which requires the use of the ac-
quiree’s carryover basis (for the pooling method)
or an allocation of the cost based on “estimated
fair values” (for the purchase method). Some of
the Opinion 16 purchase method requirements
are inconsistent with fair value measurement
objectives.

d. Better reflect the contributions that are re-
ceived in some acquisitions by not-for-profit
entities. This Statement will require an acquirer
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to recognize a contribution received in circum-
stances in which the sum of the fair values of the
identifiable assets acquired exceeds the fair val-
ues of the liabilities assumed and any consider-
ation transferred. It appears that some not-for-
profit entities that use the purchase (acquisition)
method do not recognize any contribution re-
ceived and currently reduce the amounts assigned
to noncurrent assets acquired and possibly recog-
nize negative goodwill.

e. Improve the comparability and the usefulness
of disclosures. This Statement provides broad re-
quirements for both the new entity resulting from
a merger and the acquirer in an acquisition to dis-
close information about the financial effects of a
merger or acquisition, respectively. That informa-
tion will be required for all merging and acquir-
ing entities and will be useful in making resource
allocation decisions, in assessing services and
ability to provide services, and in assessing man-
agement’s stewardship and performance.

C205. Additionally, by focusing on the fundamental
requirements for recognizing and measuring all
mergers and acquisitions, this Statement, like State-
ment 141(R), will assist the Board in establishing
principles-based standards that simplify GAAP
whenever possible while improving the comparabil-
ity and understanding of the resulting information.
The principles and related requirements for an acqui-
sition in this Statement and the principles in State-
ment 141(R) are similar. But the requirements and
application guidance in this Statement take into con-
sideration the characteristics of not-for-profit entities
and the transactions and events in which they com-
monly engage, such as receiving contributions of a
business or nonprofit activity and acquiring perma-
nent collection items.

C206. The Board concluded that the guidance in this
Statement is not overly complex. Indeed, it elimi-
nates guidance in Opinion 16 and its related imple-
mentation guidance that many have found to be com-
plex, costly, and arbitrary and that has been the

source of considerable uncertainties and costs in the
marketplace. In addition, the Board sought to reduce
the costs of applying this Statement without signifi-
cantly reducing the expected benefits by:

a. Requiring the carryover method rather than the
fresh-start method for a merger. As discussed in
paragraphs C23 and C24, although the Board
considers the fresh-start method to be the concep-
tually appropriate way to account for a merger,
that method raises various issues that need to be
considered broadly before the Board imposes it
in a given situation. Therefore, this Statement
does not introduce a new method of accounting
but rather clarifies particular aspects of the pool-
ing method in Opinion 16.

b. Requiring the acquirer in an acquisition effected
without the transfer of consideration to measure
goodwill or a contribution received by comparing
the acquisition-date values of the identifiable as-
sets acquired with the acquisition-date values of
the liabilities assumed. That requirement is differ-
ent from the requirements of Statement 141(R)
that would require substituting the fair value of
the acquirer’s interest in the acquiree for consid-
eration transferred in the equation for measur-
ing goodwill or a contribution received in that
situation.

c. Requiring that particular assets and liabilities (for
example, those related to certain collection items,
deferred taxes, pensions, and other postemploy-
ment benefits) continue to be recognized and
measured in accordance with existing accounting
standards rather than at fair value.

d. Applying its provisions prospectively rather than
retrospectively.

The Board acknowledges that those steps may result
in some sacrifice to the benefits of improved financial
reporting in accordance with this Statement. How-
ever, the Board believes that the benefits would not
justify the complexities and costs that would result
from imposing the fair value measurement require-
ment to the acquiree and to all assets and liabilities
and from requiring retrospective application at this
time.
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Appendix D

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Introduction

D1. Before the issuance of FASB Statement
No. 141, Business Combinations, the guidance on ac-
counting for business combinations was provided by
APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, which
the Accounting Principles Board of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
issued in 1970. However, because neither State-
ment 141 nor Opinion 16 applied to not-for-profit en-
tities, those pronouncements did not address the ac-
counting and reporting for combinations of not-for-
profit entities.

D2. Because of that lack of guidance for not-for-
profit entities, the Accounting Standards Executive
Committee (AcSEC) of the AICPA considered
whether those entities should apply the guidance in
Opinion 16. In 1994, AcSEC issued AICPA State-
ment of Position 94-2, The Application of the Re-
quirements of Accounting Research Bulletins, Opin-
ions of the Accounting Principles Board, and
Statements and Interpretations of the Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board to Not-for-Profit Organi-
zations (SOP 94-2). In SOP 94-2, AcSEC concluded
that not-for-profit entities should apply the guidance
in Opinion 16, which provided for two methods of
accounting for business combinations—the pooling
method and the purchase method. Those methods
were not alternatives for one another.

D3. The Opinion 16 criteria for applying the pooling
method included an exchange of common stock of
the combining entities; however, not-for-profit enti-
ties generally do not have common stock. Thus, Ac-
SEC considered whether that method should ever be
applied to combinations of not-for-profit entities. Ac-
SEC concluded that in certain circumstances, the
pooling method better reflects the substance of a
combination of not-for-profit entities than does the
acquisition method (formerly known as the purchase
method). An example of those circumstances that
AcSEC cited was the formation of a new entity
through the combination of two or more existing en-
tities without the exchange of consideration.

D4. Additional guidance on accounting for combi-
nations of health care entities is included in the
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Health Care
Organizations. That guidance describes combina-
tions that involve the receipt or payment of monetary
consideration, the change in legal title to assets, or the
assumption of liabilities as being similar to a pur-
chase transaction. Transactions that result in a change
in control (for example, through a change in an enti-
ty’s sole corporate member) are described as being
similar to a pooling.

D5. The Board observed that currently there is diver-
sity in practice in the accounting for combinations of
not-for-profit entities and the use of the pooling
method and acquisition method. That diversity stems
in part from the limited guidance described above
and the absence of specified criteria for determining
the method to be used, and perhaps also from differ-
ent views about what constitutes consideration ex-
changed. Many combinations of not-for-profit enti-
ties are currently accounted for in a manner similar to
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the pooling method. However, some not-for-profit
entities and their auditors apply the acquisition
method to all combinations that involve a change in
control, while others apply the pooling method to
those combinations unless monetary consideration
has been exchanged.

Reasons the FASB Took on the Business
Combinations Project

D6. In 1996, the Board added to its agenda a project
on accounting for business combinations. The objec-
tive of that project was to improve the transparency
of accounting for and reporting of combinations by
all entities, including the accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets. A principal reason for taking
on the business combinations project was the in-
crease in combinations that brought greater attention
to the fact that two transactions that are economically
similar may be accounted for by different
methods—either the pooling method or the purchase
method—that produce dramatically different finan-
cial statement results. Consequently, both the rep-
resentational faithfulness and the comparability
of those financial statements suffered. (Para-
graphs C9–C11 of FASB Statement No. 141 (revised
2007), Business Combinations, provide a fuller dis-
cussion of the reasons the FASB took on the project
on business combinations.)

Conduct of the Business Combinations Project

D7. In 1999, the Board decided that the project ob-
jectives would best be achieved through several
phases focused on specific issues. The Board also af-
firmed its decision that its project on business combi-
nations should include combinations of not-for-profit
entities. However, later that year the Board decided
to address combinations of not-for-profit entities
separately from the first phases of the business com-
binations project (phases one through three). Para-
graphs D8–D10 summarize the significant steps
taken during those phases of the project. State-
ment 141(R), paragraphs C13–C36, provides a more
comprehensive discussion of the conduct of phases
one through three of the business combinations
project.

D8. In the first phase of the business combinations
project, which ended in June 2001 with the concur-
rent issuance of Statement 141 and FASB Statement
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the
Board reconsidered the methods of accounting for
business combinations and the accounting for good-

will and other intangible assets required in Opin-
ion 16 and APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible As-
sets (which also was issued in 1970). The second
phase began immediately after the issuance of State-
ments 141 and 142.

D9. In the second and third phases of the project, the
Board considered issues related to the application of
the acquisition method by business entities, includ-
ing how that method should be applied to business
combinations achieved in stages (step acquisitions)
and combinations involving mutual entities. State-
ment 141(R) is a result of the Board’s deliberations of
those issues and revises Statement 141 to incorporate
the decisions reached on those issues. (The scope of
Statement 141(R) includes mutual entities, but ex-
cludes not-for-profit entities.)

D10. During the second phase of the project, the
Board recognized that it would need to address the
accounting for a noncontrolling interest in a subsid-
iary that results at the date of a business combination.
The Board intended that the issue be addressed as
part of the redeliberations of the Exposure Draft, Ac-
counting for Financial Instruments with Characteris-
tics of Liabilities, Equity, or Both. However, it be-
came evident that the broad project on liabilities and
equity would not be completed before issuance of the
final Statement on business combinations. Conse-
quently, the Board decided to broaden the project’s
scope to include issues related to the noncontrolling
interest in a subsidiary. That decision resulted in the
issuance of FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrol-
ling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements,
which amends the guidance in ARB No. 51, Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. However, the scope of
Statement 160 excludes not-for-profit entities. The
Board concluded that not-for-profit entities should
continue to apply the guidance in ARB 51 (as it was
before the amendments made by Statement 160) and
any other applicable standards, until the Board devel-
oped interpretive guidance for not-for-profit entities.

D11. The fourth phase of the project, which resulted
in this Statement, addresses the accounting for and
reporting of combinations of not-for-profit entities.

Fourth Phase—Combinations Involving
Not-for-Profit Entities

D12. Paragraphs D1–D5 discuss the context within
which the need for guidance on not-for-profit combi-
nations arose. The Board began considering guidance
on combinations of not-for-profit entities, the ac-
counting for goodwill and intangible assets acquired
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in a not-for-profit merger or acquisition, and noncon-
trolling interests largely because of the lack of consis-
tent application of Opinion 16 in practice and the re-
sulting disparity in the accounting for economically
similar transactions between not-for-profit entities.
The Board observed that, through issuance of this
Statement, it could improve the comparability of re-
ported financial information, provide more complete
financial information, better reflect the underlying
economics of not-for-profit combinations, and im-
prove the comparability and the usefulness of not-
for-profit combination disclosures.

D13. In January 2000, the FASB held an open edu-
cational meeting with members of its newly formed
not-for-profit resource group (then known as the not-
for-profit working group). The purpose of the meet-
ing was to solicit input about a number of issues, in-
cluding the frequency with which not-for-profit
combinations were occurring, the differences be-
tween for-profit and not-for-profit entities and the fi-
nancial reporting implications of those differences,
and the proposed differences-based approach to
drafting the guidance on not-for-profit mergers and
acquisitions. (The differences-based approach pre-
sumes that the guidance applicable to business com-
binations also would apply to not-for-profit combina-
tions unless a unique characteristic of not-for-profit
entities warrants a different accounting treatment.)
Input from that meeting helped the Board reach its
decisions on several key issues, including the method
of accounting for mergers and acquisitions by not-
for-profit entities and the criteria to be used to iden-
tify the acquiring not-for-profit entity. The Board de-
liberated those and other issues at several additional
educational meetings and 20 public decision-making
meetings. The decisions made during that time
served as the foundation for the October 2006 Expo-
sure Drafts, Not-for-Profit Organizations: Mergers
and Acquisitions, and Not-for-Profit Organizations:
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Acquired in a
Merger or Acquisition. The comment period for
those Exposure Drafts ended in January 2007. Be-
tween the time of issuance and the end of the com-
ment period, the FASB received more than 45 com-
ment letters. (Twenty-four constituents responded to
the Exposure Draft on mergers and acquisitions.
Twenty-one constituents responded to the Exposure
Draft on goodwill and other intangible assets ac-
quired in a merger or acquisition. The Board also re-
ceived an additional 15 letters from affiliated organi-
zations of one of those constituents supporting views
of that constituent.)

D14. The Exposure Drafts addressed three primary
areas:

a. Not-for-profit combinations (the requirements in-
cluded in this Statement) and the subsequent ac-
counting for any goodwill recognized (the re-
quirements included in Statement 142)

b. The accounting for goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired in a combination of not-for-profit
entities (the requirements included in this State-
ment and Statement 142)

c. The accounting for a noncontrolling ownership
interest in a subsidiary.

D15. On March 27, 2007, the Board held a round-
table to solicit additional input on the views and is-
sues raised by respondents to the October 2006 Ex-
posure Drafts. Eleven constituents participated in the
roundtable.

D16. The Board met in eight public Board meetings
to redeliberate the issues and comments received on
the Exposure Drafts. Based on its redeliberations, the
Board decided to revise the not-for-profit guidance in
the following areas:

a. Distinguishing between an acquisition by a not-
for-profit entity and a merger of not-for-profit en-
tities (paragraphs C9–C21)

b. Applying the carryover method of accounting to
a merger of not-for-profit entities, as defined by
paragraph 3(q) of this Statement (paragraphs C22
and C23)

c. Measuring a noncontrolling interest in an ac-
quiree (paragraphs C89–C93)

d. Eliminating the qualitative approach to goodwill
impairment (paragraphs C123–C134)

e. Writing off goodwill for an acquiree whose op-
erations are expected to be predominantly sup-
ported by contributions and returns on invest-
ments (paragraphs C123–C139)

f. Adding pro forma disclosures by not-for-
profit entities that meet the definition of a public
entity in paragraph 3(w) of this Statement (para-
graphs C48 and C49 and C185–C192).

D17. In May 2008, the FASB issued a Request for
Additional Comments on a Potential Revision to the
October 2006 Proposed Statement, Not-for-Profit
Organizations: Mergers and Acquisitions (the Re-
quest), to seek additional feedback on its tentative de-
cision to distinguish between a not-for-profit merger
and an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity using the
ceding of control criterion. Of the 16 constituents
who responded to the Request, all but 2 supported the
basic principle.
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D18. The FASB also solicited volunteers to partici-
pate in field visits with the objective of testing the
workability of the proposed guidance and to evaluate
the costs and benefits of the tentative decision to dis-
tinguish between a merger of not-for-profit entities
and an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity. During
July and August 2008, the FASB held five field visits
with the senior management and auditors of organi-
zations that had recently engaged in transactions
qualifying for pooling accounting under Opinion 16.
The field visit participants also supported the Board’s
tentative decision. Later that same year, the Board af-
firmed its tentative decision. This Statement requires
that the carryover method of accounting, rather than
the acquisition method, be applied in situations in
which a merger (as defined by paragraph 3(q)) of
not-for-profit entities occurs.

D19. In developing the final guidance on mergers
and acquisitions by not-for-profit entities, the Board
also considered how the post-Exposure Draft revi-
sions to Statement 141(R) would affect this State-
ment and whether to make any conforming changes
to its provisions. Appendix C of this Statement pro-
vides additional information about which portions of
this Statement were changed as a result of the post-
Exposure Draft revisions made to Statement 141(R).

D20. This document includes the decisions reached
as a result of the Board’s deliberations of the October
2006 Exposure Drafts and the May 2008 Request.
This Statement also includes amendments to State-
ment 142 to make it fully applicable to not-for-profit
entities. Those amendments are included because the
Board decided not to finalize the Exposure Draft on
goodwill and other intangibles acquired in a merger
or acquisition in light of its decision to eliminate the
qualitative impairment approach, as discussed in
paragraphs C122–C133.

Appendix E

AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS AND OTHER
AUTHORITATIVE LITERATURE

E1. ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial State-
ments, is amended as follows: [Added text is under-
lined and deleted text is struck out.]

a. Footnote a to paragraph 3:

Not-for-profit organizations shall continue to ap-
ply ARB 51 as it was before the amendments

made by FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrol-
ling Interests in Consolidated Financial State-
ments, until the Board issues interpretative guid-
ance. FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit
Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions, provides ad-
ditional guidance on not-for-profit entities’appli-
cation of the provisions of ARB 51. In addition,
AICPA Statement of Position 94-3, Reporting of
Related Entities by Not-for-Profit Organizations,
and the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide,
Health Care Organizations, also provide guid-
ance on the application of consolidation policy
by not-for-profit organizations.

b. Paragraph 26, as added:

The noncontrolling interest shall be reported in
the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity (net assets), separately from the
parent’s equity or net assets. That amount shall
be clearly identified and labeled, for example, as
noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries (para-
graph A3). An entity with noncontrolling inter-
ests in more than one subsidiary may present
those interests in aggregate in the consolidated
financial statements. For a not-for-profit entity,
the effects of donor-imposed restrictions, if any,
on a partially owned subsidiary’s net assets shall
be reported in accordance with FASB State-
ments No. 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-
Profit Organizations, and No. 124, Accounting
for Certain Investments Held by Not-for-Profit
Organizations. (Paragraphs A8–A13 illustrate
the reporting requirements.)

c. Paragraph 29, as added:

Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, net income or
loss, and other comprehensive income (and
similar amounts reported by not-for-profit enti-
ties) shall be reported in the consolidated finan-
cial statements at the consolidated amounts,
which include the amounts attributable to the
owners of the parent and the noncontrolling
interest.

d. Paragraph 33, as added:

Changes in a parent’s ownership interest while
the parent retains its controlling financial interest
in its subsidiary shall be accounted for as equity
transactions (investments by owners and distri-
butions to owners acting in their capacity as
owners). Therefore, no gain or loss shall be rec-
ognized in consolidated net income or compre-
hensive income (changes in net assets). The car-
rying amount of the noncontrolling interest shall
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be adjusted to reflect the change in its ownership
interest in the subsidiary. Any difference be-
tween the fair value of the consideration re-
ceived or paid and the amount by which the non-
controlling interest is adjusted shall be
recognized in equity (net assets) attributable to
the parent.

Example 1

Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common
stock outstanding, all of which are owned by
its parent, ABC Co. The carrying amount of
Subsidiary A’s equity is $200,000. ABC Co.
sells 2,000 of its shares in Subsidiary A to an
unrelated entity for $50,000 in cash, reduc-
ing its ownership interest from 100 percent
to 80 percent. That transaction is accounted
for by recognizing a noncontrolling interest
in the amount of $40,000 ($200,000 ×
20 percent). The $10,000 excess of the cash
received ($50,000) over the adjustment to
the carrying amount of the noncontrolling
interest ($40,000) is recognized as an in-
crease in additional paid-in capital attribut-
able to ABC Co. (If the parent is a not-for
profit entity, the $10,000 increase in addi-
tional paid-in capital in this example is rec-
ognized instead as an increase in net assets,
generally of the unrestricted class.)

Example 2

Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of common
stock outstanding. Of those shares, 9,000 are
owned by its parent,ABC Co., and 1,000 are
owned by other shareholders (a noncontrol-
ling interest in Subsidiary A). The carrying
amount of SubsidiaryA’s equity is $300,000.
Of that amount, $270,000 is attributable to
ABC Co., and $30,000 is a noncontrolling
interest in Subsidiary A. Subsidiary A issues
2,000 previously unissued shares to a third
party for $120,000 in cash, reducing
ABC Co.’s ownership interest in Subsidiary
A from 90 percent to 75 percent (9,000
shares owned by ABC Co. ÷ 12,000 issued
shares).

Even though the percentage of ABC Co.’s
ownership interest in Subsidiary A is re-
duced when Subsidiary A issues shares to
the third party, ABC Co.’s investment in
Subsidiary A increases to $315,000, calcu-

lated as 75 percent of Subsidiary A’s equity
of $420,000 ($300,000 + $120,000). There-
fore, ABC Co. recognizes a $45,000 in-
crease in its investment in Subsidiary A
($315,000 – $270,000) and a corresponding
increase in its additional paid-in capital (that
is, the additional paid-in capital attributable
to ABC Co.). In addition, the noncontrolling
interest is increased to $105,000, calculated
as 25 percent of $420,000. (If the parent is a
not-for profit entity, the $45,000 increase of
additional paid-in capital in this example is
recognized instead as an increase in net as-
sets, generally of the unrestricted class.)

e. Paragraph 34, as added:

A change in a parent’s ownership interest might
occur in a subsidiary that has accumulated other
comprehensive income. If that is the case, the
carrying amount of accumulated other compre-
hensive income shall be adjusted to reflect the
change in the ownership interest in the subsid-
iary through a corresponding charge or credit to
equity (net assets) attributable to the parent.

[The remainder of the paragraph is omitted
because it is unaffected by this Statement.]

f. Paragraph 36, as added:

If a parent deconsolidates a subsidiary through a
nonreciprocal transfer to owners, such as a
spinoff, the accounting guidance in APB Opin-
ion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Trans-
actions, applies. Otherwise, a parent shall ac-
count for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary by
recognizing a gain or loss in net income (or a
change in net assets) attributable to the parent,
measured as the difference between:

a. The aggregate of:
(1) The fair value of any consideration

received
(2) The fair value of any retained non-

controlling investment in the former
subsidiary at the date the subsidiary is
deconsolidated

(3) The carrying amount of any noncontrol-
ling interest in the former subsidiary (in-
cluding any accumulated other compre-
hensive income attributable to the
noncontrolling interest) at the date the
subsidiary is deconsolidated
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b. The carrying amount of the former subsid-
iary’s assets and liabilities.

g. Paragraphs 39A and 39B and their related head-
ing are added as follows:

Not-for-Profit Entities

39A. A not-for-profit entity (parent) that has
one or more consolidated subsidiaries with a
noncontrolling interest shall provide a schedule
of changes in consolidated net assets attributable
to the parent and the noncontrolling interest ei-
ther in notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments or on the face of financial statements, if
practicable. That schedule shall reconcile begin-
ning and ending balances of the parent’s control-
ling interest and the noncontrolling interests for
each class of net assets for which a noncontrol-
ling interest exists during the reporting period.

39B. The schedule required by paragraph 39A
shall, at a minimum, include all of the following:

a. A performance indicator, if the entity is
within the scope of the AICPAAudit and Ac-
counting Guide, Health Care Organizations

b. Amounts of discontinued operations
c. Amounts of extraordinary items
d. Changes in ownership interests in a subsid-

iary, including investments by and distribu-
tions to noncontrolling interests acting in
their capacity as owners, which shall be re-
ported separate from any revenues, expenses,
gains, or losses and outside any measure of
operations, if reported

e. An aggregate amount of all other changes in
unrestricted net assets (or other net asset
classes, if restricted) for the period.

(Paragraph A13 illustrates the requirements of
paragraphs 39A and 39B using a reconciling
schedule in notes to the consolidated financial
statement.)

h. Paragraph A1, as added:

This appendix discusses generalized situations
and provides examples with simplified assump-
tions to illustrate how to apply the provisions of
this ARB, as amended by FASB Statements
No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, and No. 164, Not-
for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions.
The examples do not address all possible situa-
tions or applications of this ARB.

i. Paragraphs A8–A13 and their related headings
are added as follows:

[This Statement adds the following im-
plementation guidance to ARB 51, but it is
not shown as underlined text for ease of
readability.]

Illustrations of the Presentation and
Disclosure Requirements for a Not-for-Profit
Parent with One or More Less-Than-Wholly-
Owned Subsidiaries

A8. The example uses simplified assumptions
and highly aggregated amounts to illustrate how
to apply the provisions of ARB 51, as amended.
It does not illustrate all possible situations or ap-
plications of ARB 51 or of other generally ac-
cepted accounting principles. For example, the
consolidated statement of financial position
(paragraph A11) and consolidated statement of
operations and other changes in unrestricted net
assets (paragraph A12) show relatively few
highly aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues, and expenses rather than details such
as expenses by function or nature. The consoli-
dated statement of financial position also does
not classify assets and liabilities, which is re-
quired for a not-for-profit hospital under para-
graph 1.06 of the AICPA Audit and Accounting
Guide, Health Care Organizations, which states
that “health care organizations should classify
assets and liabilities as current and noncurrent.”
The example also omits a statement of cash
flows, which does not bear on the presentation
and disclosure requirements for noncontrolling
interests.

A9. Formats or levels of detail other than those
presented in this example may be appropriate
for other situations. For example, the related net
assets and noncontrolling interest would be pre-
sented in temporarily or permanently restricted
net assets if donor-imposed restrictions on the
use of the subsidiary’s net assets existed in this
example (paragraph 26).

A10. The example is based on the following
assumptions:

Assumptions for all years

a. Hospital A, a not-for-profit tax-exempt en-
tity has one subsidiary, Subsidiary A. That
ownership interest in Subsidiary A was pur-
chased; there are no donor-imposed restric-
tions on the use of Subsidiary A’s net assets.
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b. Subsidiary A is an investor-owned entity
that is subject to income taxes. The tax rate
for all years is 40 percent.

c. Subsidiary A has 10,000 shares of com-
mon stock outstanding and does not pay
dividends.

Assumptions for 20X2

d. On January 1, 20X2, Hospital A sells 2,000
of its 10,000 shares in Subsidiary A to an
unrelated entity for $50,000 in cash, reduc-
ing its ownership interest from 100 percent
to 80 percent. Immediately before the sale,
Subsidiary A’s equity was as follows:

The accumulated other comprehensive in-
come balance of $5,000 represents an unre-
alized gain on a portfolio of securities pur-
chased by Subsidiary A for $100,000,
which it classifies as available-for-sale se-
curities at the carrying amount of $105,000
and are the only investment securities of the
consolidated group.

The sale of Subsidiary A’s shares is ac-
counted for as an equity transaction (within
unrestricted net assets) in the consolidated
financial statements of Hospital A, as
follows:

(1) A noncontrolling interest is recognized
in unrestricted net assets in the amount
of $41,000 ($205,000 × 20 percent).

(2) Unrestricted net assets attributable to
Hospital A are increased by $9,000,
calculated as the difference between
the cash received ($50,000) and the
carrying amount of the noncontrolling
interest ($41,000).

(3) The top-level (consolidated) journal
entry to record the sale of Subsid-
iary A’s shares to the noncontrolling
shareholder is as follows:

e. For the year ended December 31, 20X2, the
amount of Subsidiary A’s net income in-
cluded in the consolidated financial state-
ments is $20,000, which included a net loss
for discontinued operations of $7,000.

Assumptions for 20X3

f. On January 1, 20X3, Hospital A purchases
1,000 shares in Subsidiary A from the non-
controlling shareholders (50 percent of the
noncontrolling interest) for $30,000 cash,
increasing its ownership interest from
80 percent to 90 percent. Immediately be-
fore that purchase, the carrying amount of
the noncontrolling interest in Subsidiary A

was $48,000. The purchase of shares from
the noncontrolling shareholders is ac-
counted for as an equity transaction in
the consolidated financial statements, as
follows:

(1) The noncontrolling interest balance
within unrestricted net assets is re-
duced by $24,000 ($48,000 × 50 per-
cent interest acquired by Hospital A).

(2) Unrestricted net assets attributable to
Hospital A are decreased by $6,000,
calculated as the difference between
the cash paid ($30,000) and the adjust-
ment to the carrying amount of the
noncontrolling interest ($24,000).
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(3) The top-level (consolidated) journal entry to record that purchase of Subsidiary A’s shares from
the noncontrolling shareholders is as follows:

g. For the year ended December 31, 20X3, the amount of Subsidiary A’s net income included in the
consolidated financial statements is $15,000.

Consolidated statement of financial position

A11. This consolidated statement of financial position illustrates the requirement in paragraph 26 that
HospitalApresent the noncontrolling interest in the consolidated statement of financial position within net
assets, but separately from the parent’s net assets.

Consolidated statement of operations and other changes in unrestricted net assets

A12. This consolidated statement of operations and other changes in unrestricted net assets illustrates
how the requirements in paragraph 39B(a) for disclosure of the amounts of a performance indicator of a
health care entity for an excess of revenues over expenses from continuing operations might be presented
on the face of a consolidated statement of operations and other changes in unrestricted net assets.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements:
changes in consolidated unrestricted net assets
attributable to the parent’s controlling
financial interest and to noncontrolling
interests in subsidiaries

A13. This note depicting the changes in con-
solidated net assets attributable to the controlling
financial interest of Hospital A (parent) and the
noncontrolling interests illustrates the require-
ments in paragraph 39A that a not-for-profit en-
tity present a schedule that reconciles the

beginning- and the end-of-the-period carrying
amounts of the parent’s controlling interest and
the noncontrolling interests for each class of net
assets for which a noncontrolling interest exists.
This note also illustrates the disclosure require-
ments in paragraphs 39B(a), 39B(b), and 39B(d)
for the amounts of a performance indicator of a
health care entity (which is equivalent to income
from continuing operations), discontinued op-
erations, and other changes in ownership inter-
ests in a subsidiary.

E2. APB Opinion No. 28, Interim Financial Report-
ing, is amended as follows:

a.Paragraph 21 and its related footnote 3a, as
amended:

Extraordinary items should be disclosed sepa-
rately and included in the determination of net
income for the interim period in which they oc-
cur. In determining materiality, extraordinary
items should be related to the estimated income
for the full fiscal year. Effects of disposals of a
component of an entity and unusual and infre-
quently occurring transactions and events that
are material with respect to the operating results
of the interim period but that are not designated
as extraordinary items in the interim statements
should be reported separately. In addition, mat-
ters such as unusual seasonal results, and busi-

ness combinations, and mergers of and acquisi-
tions by not-for-profit entities should be
disclosed to provide information needed for a
proper understanding of interim financial
reports.3a Extraordinary items, gains or losses
from disposal of a component of an entity, and
unusual or infrequently occurring items should
not be pro-rated over the balance of the fiscal
year.

3aDisclosures required in interim financial information related
to a business combinations are set forth as follows:in para-
graphs 67−73 of FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007),
Business Combinations.

a. If related to a business combination, see paragraphs 67–73
of FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Com-
binations.

b. If related to a merger of not-for-profit entities, see para-
graphs 17–19 of FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit
Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions.
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c. If related to an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activ-
ity by a not-for-profit entity see paragraphs 85–91 of
Statement 164.

E3. APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Non-
monetary Transactions, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 4(aa) is added as follows:

An acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity or a merger of not-for-
profit entities accounted for in accordance with
the provisions of FASB Statement No. 164, Not-
for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions,

E4. FASB Statement No. 2, Accounting for
Research and Development Costs, is amended as
follows:

a. Paragraph 3B is added as follows:

This Statement does not apply to research and
development assets acquired in an acquisition of
a business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity. Tangible and intangible assets ac-
quired in an acquisition of a business or non-
profit activity by a not-for-profit entity that are
used in research and development activities are
recognized and measured at fair value in accord-
ance with FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-
Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions, re-
gardless of whether they have an alternative
future use. After initial recognition, tangible as-
sets acquired in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity that
are used in research and development activities
are accounted for in accordance with their na-
ture. After initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in an acquisition of a business or non-
profit activity by a not-for-profit entity that are
used in research and development activities
are accounted for in accordance with State-
ment 142, as amended.

b. Paragraph 12, as amended:

Research and development costs encompassed
by this Statement shall be charged to expense
when incurred. As noted in paragraph 3A, this
Statement does not apply to tangible and intan-
gible assets acquired in a business combination
that are used in research and development activi-
ties. As noted in paragraph 3B, this Statement
also does not apply to tangible and intangible as-
sets acquired in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity that
are used in research and development activities.

E5. FASB Statement No. 5, Accounting for Contin-
gencies, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 7B is added as follows:

This Statement does not apply to contingent
gains or losses that are recognized at the acquisi-
tion or merger date in an acquisition of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit en-
tity or merger of not-for-profit entities. FASB
Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities:
Mergers and Acquisitions, provides the subse-
quent accounting and disclosure requirements
for contingent gains or losses recognized as part
of an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activ-
ity by a not-for-profit entity or a merger of not-
for-profit entities. This Statement does, however,
apply to contingent gains or losses that were ac-
quired or assumed in an acquisition of a business
or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity or
merger of not-for-profit entities but that were not
recognized at the acquisition or merger date be-
cause they did not meet the recognition thresh-
old in Statement 164 at that date.

E6. FASB Statement No. 52, Foreign Currency
Translation, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 101, as amended:

The functional currency approach applies
equally to translation of financial statements of
foreign investees whether accounted for by the
equity method or consolidated. It also applies to
translation after a business combination or after
a combination of not-for-profit entities—that is,
after an acquisition of a business or nonprofit ac-
tivity by a not-for-profit entity or a merger of
not-for-profit entities. Therefore, the foreign
statements and the foreign currency transactions
of an investee that are accounted for by the eq-
uity method should be translated in conformity
with the requirements of this Statement in apply-
ing the equity method. Likewise, after a business
combination, the amount assigned at the acquisi-
tion date to the assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed (including goodwill or the gain recog-
nized for a bargain purchase) should be trans-
lated in conformity with the requirements of this
Statement. Accumulated translation adjustments
attributable to noncontrolling interests should be
allocated to and reported as part of the noncon-
trolling interest in the consolidated enterprise.
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E7. FASB Statement No. 68, Research and Devel-
opment Arrangements, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 11, as amended:

If the enterprise’s obligation is to perform re-
search and development for others and the enter-
prise subsequently decides to exercise an option
to purchase the other parties’ interests in the re-
search and development arrangement or to ob-
tain the exclusive rights to the results of the re-
search and development, the nature of those
results and their future use shall determine the
accounting for the purchase transaction or busi-
ness combination (or acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity).3

E8. FASB Statement No. 86, Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 2, as amended:

This Statement establishes standards of financial
accounting and reporting for the costs of com-
puter software to be sold, leased, or otherwise
marketed as a separate product or as part of a
product or process, whether internally devel-
oped and produced or purchased. It identifies the
costs incurred in the process of creating a soft-
ware product that are research and development
costs and those that are production costs to be
capitalized, and it specifies amortization, disclo-
sure, and other requirements. As used in this
Statement, the terms computer software product,
software product, and product encompass a
computer software program, a group of pro-
grams, and a product enhancement.1 This
Statement does not address the accounting and
reporting of costs incurred for computer soft-
ware created for internal use or for others under
a contractual arrangement. This Statement does
not apply to research and development assets ac-
quired in a business combination or in a combi-
nation of not-for-profit entities—that is, an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity by a
not-for-profit entity or a merger of not-for-profit
entities. Tangible and intangible assets acquired
in a business combination those transactions
(business combinations or combinations of not-
for-profit entities) that are used in research and
development activities are recognized and meas-
ured at fair value in accordance with FASB
Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business

Combinations, or No. 164, Not-for-Profit Enti-
ties: Mergers and Acquisitions. (A merger of
not-for-profit entities results in tangible and in-
tangible assets being recognized and measured
at their carryover amounts in accordance with
Statement 164.) However, this Statement applies
to any costs incurred after the date of a business
combination or combination of not-for-profit en-
tities for computer software to be sold, leased, or
otherwise marketed as a separate product or as
part of a product or process, whether internally
developed and produced or purchased.

E9. FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for In-
come Taxes, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 11(h), as amended:

Business combinations and combinations of not-
for-profit entities. There may be differences be-
tween the tax bases and the recognized values of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a busi-
ness combination. There also may be differences
between the tax bases and the recognized values
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an
acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity by
a not-for-profit entity or between the tax bases
and the recognized values of the assets and li-
abilities carried over to the records of a new en-
tity formed by the merger of two or more not-
for-profit entities. Those differences will result
in taxable or deductible amounts when the re-
ported amounts of the assets or liabilities are re-
covered or settled, respectively.

b. Paragraph 16, as amended:

An enterprise shall recognize a deferred tax li-
ability or asset for all temporary differences6

and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards
in accordance with the provisions of para-
graph 17. Deferred tax expense or benefit is
the change during the year in an enterprise’s de-
ferred tax liabilities and assets.7 For deferred tax
liabilities and assets recognized in a business
combination or in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity dur-
ing the year, it is the change since the acquisition
date. Total income tax expense or benefit for
the year is the sum of deferred tax expense or
benefit and income taxes currently payable or
refundable.
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c. Paragraph 259, as amended:

This Statement requires recognition of deferred
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets (and related
valuation allowances, if necessary) for the de-
ferred tax consequences of differences between
the tax bases and the recognized values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination or in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity. A de-
ferred tax liability is not recognized when the re-
ported amount of goodwill exceeds the tax basis
of goodwill or the portion thereof for which am-
ortization is not deductible for tax purposes
(paragraph 262) and leveraged leases (para-
graphs 256–258). Acquired Opinion 23 differ-
ences are accounted for in accordance with the
requirements of Opinion 23, as amended by this
Statement (paragraphs 31–34).

d. Paragraph 261, as amended:

In a taxable business combination or acquisition
of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity, the consideration paid is assigned to
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed for fi-
nancial reporting and tax purposes. However,
the amounts recognized for particular assets and
liabilities may differ for financial reporting and
tax purposes. A deferred tax liability and asset
are recognized for the deferred tax conse-
quences of those temporary differences in ac-
cordance with the recognition and measurement
requirements of this Statement. For example, a
portion of the amount of goodwill for financial
reporting may be allocated to some other asset
for tax purposes, and amortization of that other
asset may be deductible for tax purposes. If a
valuation allowance is recognized for that de-
ferred tax asset at the acquisition date, recog-
nized benefits for those tax deductions after the
acquisition date should be applied in accordance
with paragraph 26.

e. Paragraph 264, as amended:

Changes in the acquirer’s valuation allowance, if
any, that results from the business combination
(or acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity) shall reflect any provi-
sions in the tax law that restrict the future use of
either of the combining enterprises’ deductible
temporary differences or carryforwards to re-
duce taxable income or taxes payable attribut-

able to the other enterprise subsequent to the
business combination (or acquisition of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit en-
tity). Any changes in the acquirer’s valuation al-
lowance should be accounted for in accordance
with paragraph 266. For example, the tax law
may limit the use of the acquired enterprise’s de-
ductible temporary differences and carry-
forwards to subsequent taxable income of the
acquired enterprise included in a consolidated
tax return for the combined enterprise. In that
circumstance, or if the acquired enterprise will
file a separate tax return, the need for a valuation
allowance for some portion or all of the acquired
enterprise’s deferred tax assets for deductible
temporary differences and carryforwards is
assessed based on the acquired enterprise’s
separate past and expected future results of
operations.

f. Paragraph 266, as amended:

The tax law in some tax jurisdictions may per-
mit the future use of either of the combining en-
terprises’ deductible temporary differences or
carryforwards to reduce taxable income or taxes
payable attributable to the other enterprise sub-
sequent to the business combination (or acquisi-
tion of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity). If the combined enterprise
expects to file a consolidated tax return, an ac-
quirer may determine that as a result of the busi-
ness combination, (or acquisition of a business
or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity) its
valuation for its deferred tax assets should be
changed. For example, the acquirer may be able
to utilize the benefit of its tax operating loss
carryforwards against the future taxable profit of
the acquiree. In such cases, the acquirer reduces
its valuation allowance based on the weight of
available evidence. However, that reduction
does not enter into the accounting for the busi-
ness combination (or acquisition of a business
or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity)
but is recognized as an income tax benefit (or
credited directly to contributed capital (refer to
paragraph 26)).

g. Footnote 18a to paragraph 270, as amended:

Statement 141 prohibited the use of the pooling-
of-interests method for all business com-
binations initiated after June 30, 2001. State-
ment 141(R), which replaces Statement 141,
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continues to prohibit the use of the pooling-of-
interests method. FASB Statement No. 164,
Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisi-
tions, requires the use of the carryover method
(which is similar to the pooling-of-interests
method) for those combinations of not-for-profit
entities that meet the criteria for and definition of
a merger of not-for-profit entities.

E10. FASB Statement No. 133, Accounting for De-
rivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, is
amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 11(c), as amended:

Contracts between an acquirer and a seller to en-
ter into a business combination (or an acquisi-
tion by a not-for-profit entity or a merger of not-
for-profit entities as defined by FASB Statement
No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and
Acquisitions) at a future date.

b. Paragraph 29(f), as amended:

The forecasted transaction does not involve a
business combination subject to the provisions
of FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007),
Business Combinations, (or acquisition by or
merger of not-for-profit entities subject to the
provisions of Statement 164) and is not a trans-
action (such as a forecasted purchase, sale, or
dividend) involving (1) a parent company’s in-
terests in consolidated subsidiaries, (2) a non-
controlling interest in a consolidated subsidiary,
(3) an equity-method investment, or (4) an enti-
ty’s own equity instruments.

E11. FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Busi-
ness Combinations, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph E1:

The following amendments do not apply to
mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit orga-
nizations. The applicability of these amend-
ments to mergers and acquisitions by not-for-
profit organizations will be further considered as
part of a separate FASB project that was ex-
posed for comment in proposed Statements,
Not-for-Profit Organizations: Mergers and Ac-
quisitions, and Not-for-Profit Organizations:
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Acquired
in a Merger or Acquisition.

b. Paragraph F2:

The following amendments do not apply to
mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit orga-
nizations. The applicability of these amend-
ments to mergers and acquisitions by not-for-
profit organizations will be further considered as
part of a separate FASB project that was ex-
posed for comment in proposed Statements,
Not-for-Profit Organizations: Mergers and Ac-
quisitions, and Not-for-Profit Organizations:
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Acquired
in a Merger or Acquisition.

E12. FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 1, as amended:

This Statement addresses financial accounting
and reporting for intangible assets acquired indi-
vidually or with a group of other assets (but not
those acquired in a business combination or in
an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity) at acquisition. This
Statement also addresses financial accounting
and reporting for goodwill and other intangible
assets subsequent to their acquisition. FASB
Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business
Combinations, addresses financial accounting
and reporting for goodwill and other intangible
assets acquired in a business combination at ac-
quisition. FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-
Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions, ad-
dresses financial accounting and reporting for
goodwill and other intangible assets acquired in
an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity at acquisition.

b. Paragraph 2:

This Statement supersedes APB Opinion
No. 17, Intangible Assets; however, it carries
forward without reconsideration the provisions
in Opinion 17 related to internally developed in-
tangible assets. The Board did not reconsider
those provisions because they were outside the
scope of its separate projects on (a) business
combinations and acquired intangible assets and
(b) mergers and acquisitions by not-for-profit
entities, including acquired intangible assets.
The guidance carried forward from Opinion 17
has been quoted, paraphrased, or rephrased as
necessary so that it can be understood in the con-
text of this Statement. The original source of that
guidance has been noted parenthetically.
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c. Paragraph 4 and its related footnote 3, as
amended:

The initial recognition and measurement provi-
sions of this Statement apply to intangible as-
sets2 acquired individually or with a group of
other assets (but not those acquired in a business
combination or in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity).3

The remaining provisions of this Statement
apply to goodwill that an entity4 recognizes
in accordance with Statement 141(R) or State-
ment 164 and to other intangible assets that an
entity acquires, whether individually, with a
group of other assets, or in a business combina-
tion or in an acquisition of a business or non-
profit activity by a not-for-profit entity. While
goodwill is an intangible asset, the term intan-
gible asset is used in this section to refer to an in-
tangible asset other than goodwill.

2Terms defined in Appendix F, the glossary, are set forth in
boldface type the first time they are used.
3Statement 141(R) and Statement 164 address the initial recog-
nition and measurement of intangible assets acquired in a busi-
ness combination or in an acquisition of a business or nonprofit
activity by a not-for-profit entity. Statement 164 also addresses
the initial measurement of intangible assets by the new entity
resulting from the merger of two or more not-for-profit entities.
4This Statement applies to a business enterprise, a mutual en-
terprise, and a not-for-profit organization, each of which is
referred to herein as an entity.

d. Paragraph 6 and its related footnote 5, as
amended:

This Statement applies to goodwill and other in-
tangible assets that were recognized on the ac-
quisition of some or all of the noncontrolling in-
terests in a subsidiary before the effective date of
FASB Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Busi-
ness Combinations (or before the effective date
of FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit Enti-
ties: Mergers and Acquisitions)—whether ac-
quired by the parent, the subsidiary itself, or an-
other affiliate.5 This Statement, including its
transition provisions, applies to amounts recog-
nized as goodwill in applying the equity method
of accounting and to the excess reorganization
value recognized by entities that adopt fresh-
start reporting in accordance with AICPA State-
ment of Position 90-7, Financial Reporting by
Entities in Reorganization Under the Bank-
ruptcy Code. That excess reorganization value
shall be reported as goodwill and accounted for
in the same manner as goodwill.

5FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Con-
solidated Financial Statements, which is effective for fiscal
years, and the interim periods within those fiscal years, begin-
ning on or after December 15, 2008, requires acquisitions of
noncontrolling interests to be accounted for as equity transac-
tions. Thus, no goodwill or other intangible assets would be
recognized on acquisitions of noncontrolling interests after the
effective date of that Statement. For not-for-profit entities, the
amendments to ARB No. 51, Consolidated Financial State-
ments, made by Statement 160 are effective for fiscal years, and
the interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or
after December 15, 2009.

e. Paragraph 9 and its related footnote 7, as
amended:

An intangible asset that is acquired either indi-
vidually or with a group of other assets (but not
those acquired in a business combination) shall
be initially recognized and measured based on
the guidance included in paragraphs D2−D7 of
Statement 141(R) or paragraphs A135−A140 of
Statement 164. its fair value. The fair value of an
intangible asset shall be determined based on the
assumptions that market participants would use
in pricing the asset. An asset that the entity does
not intend to use or intends to use in a way that is
not its highest and best use, such as a brand
name or a research and development asset, shall
nevertheles be measured at its fair value. Gen-
eral concepts related to the initial measurement
of assets acquired in exchange transactions, in-
cluding intangible assets, are provided in para-
graphs D2−D7 of Statement 141(R).6 As indi-
cated in paragraph D6 of Statement 141(R) or in
paragraph A139 of Statement 164, theThe cost
of a group of assets acquired in a transaction
other than a business combination or an acquisi-
tion of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity shall be allocated to the indi-
vidual assets acquired based on their relative fair
values and shall not give rise to goodwill.7 In-
tangible assets acquired in a business combina-
tion are initially recognized and measured in ac-
cordance with Statement 141(R). Intangible
assets acquired in an acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity are
initially recognized and measured in accordance
with Statement 164.

6Although those paragraphs refer to determining the cost of the
assets acquired, paragraph 18 of APB Opinion No. 29, Ac-
counting for Nonmonetary Transactions, note that, in general,
cost should be measured based on the fair value of the consider-
ation given or the fair value of the net assets acquired, which-
ever is more reliably measurable.
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7Statement 141(R) requires intangible assets acquired in a busi-
ness combination that do not meet certain criteria to be included
in the amount initially recognized as goodwill. Statement 164
has similar requirements except that in an acquisition of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity, under certain
conditions the amount of goodwill is written off. Those recog-
nition criteria in Statements 141(R) and 164 do not apply to in-
tangible assets acquired in transactions other than business
combinations or acquisitions of businesses or nonprofit activi-
ties by a not-for-profit entity.

f. Paragraph 10:

Costs of internally developing, maintaining, or
restoring intangible assets (including goodwill)
that are not specifically identifiable, that have in-
determinate lives, or that are inherent in a con-
tinuing business or nonprofit activity and re-
lated to an entity as a whole, shall be recognized
as an expense when incurred (Opinion 17,
paragraph 24).

g. Footnote 11 of paragraph 12, as amended:

Statement 2 requires amounts assigned to intan-
gible assets acquired in a transaction other than a
business combination or an acquisition of a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit en-
tity that are to be used in a particular research
and development project and that have no alter-
native future use to be charged to expense at the
acquisition date.

h. Paragraph 16, as amended:

If an intangible asset is determined to have an
indefinite useful life, it shall not be amortized
until its useful life is determined to be no longer
indefinite. An entity shall evaluate the remaining
useful life of an intangible asset that is not being
amortized each reporting period to determine
whether events and circumstances continue to
support an indefinite useful life. If an intangible
asset that is not being amortized is subsequently
determined to have a finite useful life, the asset
shall be tested for impairment in accordance
with paragraph 17. That intangible asset shall
then be amortized prospectively over its esti-
mated remaining useful life and accounted for in
the same manner as other intangible assets that
are subject to amortization. Intangible assets ac-
quired in a business combination or in an acqui-
sition of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity that are used in research and
development activities (regardless of whether
they have an alternative future use) shall be con-
sidered indefinite lived until the completion or

abandonment of the associated research and de-
velopment efforts. During the period those as-
sets are considered indefinite lived they shall not
be amortized but shall be tested for impairment
in accordance with paragraph 17. Once the re-
search and development efforts are completed or
abandoned, the entity shall determine the useful
life of the assets based on the guidance in this
Statement. Consistent with the guidance in para-
graph 28 of Statement 144, intangible assets ac-
quired in a business combination or in an acqui-
sition of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity that have been temporarily idled
shall not be accounted for as if abandoned.

i. Paragraph 21 and its related footnote 14, as
amended:

The implied fair value of goodwill shall be de-
termined in the same manner as the amount of
goodwill recognized in a business combination
or in an acquisition by a not-for-profit entity was
determined. That is, an entity shall assign the
fair value of a reporting unit to all of the assets
and liabilities of that unit (including any unrec-
ognized intangible assets) as if the reporting unit
had been acquired in a business combination or
in an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activ-
ity by a not-for-profit entity.14 The excess of the
fair value of a reporting unit over the amounts
assigned to its assets and liabilities is the implied
fair value of goodwill. That assignment process
shall be performed only for purposes of testing
goodwill for impairment; an entity shall not
write up or write down a recognized asset or li-
ability, nor should it recognize a previously un-
recognized intangible asset as a result of that al-
location process.

14The relevant guidance in paragraphs 12–33 of State-
ment 141(R) and paragraphs 27–49 of Statement 164 shall be
used in determining how to assign the fair value of a reporting
unit to the assets and liabilities of that unit. Included in that allo-
cation would be research and development assets that meet the
criteria in paragraph 32 of this Statement.

j. Paragraph 30 and its related footnote 18:

A reporting unit is an operating segment or one
level below an operating segment (referred to as
a component).17 A component of an operating
segment is a reporting unit if the component
constitutes a business or nonprofit activity18 for
which discrete financial information is available
and segment management19 regularly reviews

FAS164Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions

FAS164–115



the operating results of that component. How-
ever, two or more components of an operating
segment shall be aggregated and deemed a
single reporting unit if the components have
similar economic characteristics.20An operating
segment shall be deemed to be a reporting unit if
all of its components are similar, if none of its
components is a reporting unit, or if it comprises
only a single component. The relevant provi-
sions of Statement 131 and related interpretive
literature shall be used to determine the report-
ing units of an entity.

17For purposes of determining reporting units, an operating
segment is as defined in paragraph 10 of FASB Statement
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information.
18Statement 141(R) includes guidance on determining whether
an asset group constitutes a business. Statement 164 includes
guidance on determining whether an asset group constitutes a
nonprofit activity.
19Segment management consists of one or more segment man-
agers, as that term is defined in paragraph 14 of Statement 131.
20Paragraph 17 of Statement 131 shall be considered in deter-
mining if the components of an operating segment have similar
economic characteristics.

k. Paragraph 32:

For the purpose of testing goodwill for impair-
ment, acquired assets and assumed liabilities
shall be assigned to a reporting unit as of the
acquisition date if both of the following criteria
are met:

a. The asset will be employed in or the liability
relates to the operations of a reporting unit.

b. The asset or liability will be considered in
determining the fair value of the reporting
unit.

Assets or liabilities that an entity considers part
of its corporate assets or liabilities shall also be
assigned to a reporting unit if both of the above
criteria are met. Examples of corporate items
that may meet those criteria and therefore would
be assigned to a reporting unit are environmental
liabilities that relate to an existing operating fa-
cility of the reporting unit and a pension obliga-
tion that would be included in the determination
of the fair value of the reporting unit. This provi-
sion applies to assets acquired and liabilities as-
sumed in a business combination or in an acqui-
sition of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity and to those acquired or
assumed individually or with a group of other
assets.

l. Paragraph 34:

For the purpose of testing goodwill for impair-
ment, all goodwill acquired in a business combi-
nation or in an acquisition of a business or non-
profit activity by a not-for-profit entity shall be
assigned to one or more reporting units as of the
acquisition date. Goodwill shall be assigned to
reporting units of the acquiring entity that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
business combination (or acquisition) even
though other assets or liabilities of the acquired
entity may not be assigned to that reporting unit.
The total amount of acquired goodwill may be
divided among a number of reporting units. The
methodology used to determine the amount of
goodwill to assign to a reporting unit shall be
reasonable and supportable and shall be applied
in a consistent manner. In addition, that method-
ology shall be consistent with the objectives of
the process of assigning goodwill to reporting
units described in paragraph 35.

m. Paragraph 35 and its related footnote 21, as
amended:

In concept, the amount of goodwill assigned to a
reporting unit would be determined in a manner
similar to how the amount of goodwill recog-
nized in a business combination or in an acquisi-
tion of a business or nonprofit activity by a not-
for-profit entity is determined. An entity would
determine the fair value of the acquired business
(or portion thereof) or nonprofit activity (or por-
tion thereof) to be included in a reporting
unit—the fair value of the individual assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed that are assigned
to the reporting unit.21 Any excess of the fair
value of the acquired business (or portion
thereof) or nonprofit activity (or portion thereof)
over the fair value of the individual assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed that are assigned
to the reporting unit is the amount of goodwill
assigned to that reporting unit. However, if
goodwill is to be assigned to a reporting unit that
has not been assigned any of the assets acquired
or liabilities assumed in that acquisition, the
amount of goodwill to be assigned to that unit
might be determined by applying a “with and
without” computation. That is, the difference be-
tween the fair value of that reporting unit before
the acquisition and its fair value after the acqui-
sition represents the amount of goodwill to be
assigned to that reporting unit.
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21Paragraphs 12–33 of Statement 141(R) provide guidance on
assigning the fair value of the acquiree to the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Para-
graphs 27–49 of Statement 164 provide guidance on assigning
the fair value of the acquiree to the assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed in an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity.

n. Paragraph 39:

When a reporting unit is to be disposed of in its
entirety, goodwill of that reporting unit shall be
included in the carrying amount of the reporting
unit in determining the gain or loss on disposal.
When a portion of a reporting unit that consti-
tutes a business or nonprofit activity23 is to be
disposed of, goodwill associated with that busi-
ness or nonprofit activity shall be included in the
carrying amount of the business or nonprofit ac-
tivity in determining the gain or loss on disposal.
The amount of goodwill to be included in that
carrying amount shall be based on the relative
fair values of the business or nonprofit activity to
be disposed of and the portion of the reporting
unit that will be retained. For example, if a busi-
ness or nonprofit activity is being sold for $100
and the fair value of the reporting unit excluding
the business or nonprofit activity being sold is
$300, 25 percent of the goodwill residing in the
reporting unit would be included in the carrying
amount of the business or nonprofit activity to
be sold. However, if the business or nonprofit
activity to be disposed of was never integrated
into the reporting unit after its acquisition and
thus the benefits of the acquired goodwill were
never realized by the rest of the reporting unit,
the current carrying amount of that acquired
goodwill shall be included in the carrying
amount of the business or nonprofit activity to
be disposed of. That situation might occur when
the acquired business or nonprofit activity is op-
erated as a standalone entity or when the busi-
ness or nonprofit activity is to be disposed of
shortly after it is acquired. When only a portion
of goodwill is allocated to a business or non-
profit activity to be disposed of, the goodwill re-
maining in the portion of the reporting unit to be
retained shall be tested for impairment in ac-
cordance with paragraphs 19–22 (using its ad-
justed carrying amount).

o. Paragraph 39A, as added:

If a reporting unit is less than wholly owned, the
fair value of the reporting unit and the implied

fair value of goodwill shall be determined in the
same manner as it would be determined in a
business combination or in an acquisition of a
business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit
entity accounted for in accordance with State-
ment 141(R) or Statement 164, respectively.
Any impairment loss measured in the second
step of the goodwill impairment test shall be at-
tributed to the parent and the noncontrolling in-
terest on a rational basis. For example, before
Statements 141(R) wasand 164 were effective,
generally only the goodwill attributable to the
parent was recognized. If the reporting unit in-
cludes only goodwill attributable to the parent,
the goodwill impairment loss would be attrib-
uted entirely to the parent. However, if the re-
porting unit includes goodwill attributable to
both the parent and the noncontrolling interest,
the goodwill impairment loss would be attrib-
uted to both the parent and the noncontrolling
interest. Similarly, when all or a portion of a
less-than-wholly-owned reporting unit is dis-
posed of, the gain or loss on disposal shall be
attributed to the parent and the noncontrolling
interest.

p. Paragraph 42:

At a minimum, all intangible assets shall be ag-
gregated and presented as a separate line item in
the statement of financial position. However,
that requirement does not preclude presentation
of individual intangible assets or classes of in-
tangible assets as separate line items. The amor-
tization expense and impairment losses for in-
tangible assets shall be presented in income
statement (statement of activities) line items
within continuing operations (or a similar cap-
tion) as deemed appropriate for each entity.
Paragraphs 14 and 16 require that an intangible
asset be tested for impairment when it is deter-
mined that the asset should no longer be amor-
tized or should begin to be amortized due to a re-
assessment of its remaining useful life. An
impairment loss resulting from that impairment
test shall not be recognized as a change in ac-
counting principle.

q. Paragraph 43:

The aggregate amount of goodwill shall be pre-
sented as a separate line item in the statement of
financial position. The aggregate amount of
goodwill impairment losses shall be presented
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as a separate line item in the income statement
(statement of activities) before the subtotal in-
come from continuing operations (or similar
caption) unless a goodwill impairment loss is as-
sociated with a discontinued operation. A good-
will impairment loss associated with a discon-
tinued operation shall be included (on a net-of-
tax basis) within the results of discontinued
operations.

r. Paragraph 44, as amended:

For intangible assets acquired either individually
or as part of a group of assets (in either an asset
acquisition or , a business combination, or an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity by a
not-for-profit entity), the following information
shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements in the period of acquisition:

a. For intangible assets subject to amortization:
(1) The total amount assigned and the

amount assigned to any major intan-
gible asset class

(2) The amount of any significant residual
value, in total and by major intangible
asset class

(3) The weighted-average amortization pe-
riod, in total and by major intangible as-
set class

b. For intangible assets not subject to amortiza-
tion, the total amount assigned and the
amount assigned to any major intangible as-
set class

c. The amount of research and development
assets acquired in a transaction other than a
business combination or an acquisition of a
business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity and written off in the period and
the line item in the income statement (state-
ment of activities) in which the amounts
written off are aggregated

d. For intangible assets with renewal or exten-
sion terms, the weighted-average period
prior to the next renewal or extension (both
explicit and implicit), by major intangible
asset class.

This information also shall be disclosed sepa-
rately for each material business combination or
acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity by
a not-for-profit entity or in the aggregate for in-
dividually immaterial business combinations or
acquisitions of businesses or nonprofit activit-

ies by not-for-profit entities that are material col-
lectively if the aggregate fair values of intan-
gible assets acquired, other than goodwill, are
significant.

s. Paragraph 47(b):

The amount of the impairment loss and the
method of determining the fair value of the asso-
ciated reporting unit (whether based on quoted
market prices, prices of comparable businesses
or nonprofit activities, a present value or other
valuation technique, or a combination thereof)

t. Paragraph 48(c) and its related footnote 24:

This Statement shall not be applied to previously
recognized goodwill and intangible assets ac-
quired in a combination between not-for-profit
organizations or arising from the acquisition of a
for-profit business entity by a not-for-profit or-
ganization until interpretive guidance related to
the application of the acquisition method to
those transactions is issued (refer to para-
graph 52).24Not-for-profit entities shall apply
the provisions of this Statement, as amended by
paragraphs 95, 96, and 100 of Statement 164, to
previously recognized goodwill as of the begin-
ning period of the initial or first annual reporting
period beginning on or after December 15, 2009
(paragraph 92 of Statement 164).

24The Board is considering issues related to application of the
acquisition method to combinations between not-for-profit or-
ganizations and the acquisition of a for-profit business entity by
a not-for-profit organization in a separate project.

u. Paragraph 52, as amended:

Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a
combination between not-for-profit organiza-
tions or arising from the acquisition of a for-
profit business entity by a not-for-profit organi-
zation for which the acquisition date is after June
30, 2001, shall continue to be accounted for in
accordance with Opinion 17 until the Board’s
project on accounting for combinations between
not-for-profit organizations is completed (refer
to footnote 24).

v. Paragraphs 53A and 53B are added as follows:

53A. A not-for-profit entity that previously rec-
ognized intangible assets other than goodwill in
a transaction accounted for using the purchase
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method in APB Opinion No. 16, Business Com-
binations, shall reassess the useful lives of those
intangible assets using the guidance in para-
graph 11 of this Statement and adjust the re-
maining amortization periods as necessary. For
example, the amortization period for a previ-
ously recognized intangible asset might be in-
creased if its original useful life was estimated to
be longer than the 40-year maximum amortiza-
tion period allowed by Opinion 17. That reas-
sessment shall be completed before the end of
the first interim period of the fiscal year in which
this Statement is initially applied.

53B. The entity shall test previously recognized
intangible assets deemed to have indefinite use-
ful lives for impairment as of the beginning of
the fiscal year in which this Statement is initially
applied in accordance with paragraph 17. That
transitional intangible asset impairment test
shall be completed in the first interim period in
which this Statement is initially applied, and any
resulting impairment loss shall be recognized as
the effect of a change in accounting principle. A
not-for-profit entity shall present that transitional
impairment loss, net of any related income tax
effects, in a separate line item outside a perform-
ance indicator or any intermediate measure of
operations, if one is presented.

w. Paragraph 54:

Except for those circumstances in which the
provisions of paragraph 58A apply, Aat the date
this Statement is initially applied, an entity shall
establish its reporting units based on its report-
ing structure at that date and the guidance in
paragraphs 30 and 31. Recognized net assets,
excluding goodwill, shall be assigned to those
reporting units using the guidance in para-
graphs 32 and 33. Recognized assets and liabili-
ties that do not relate to a reporting unit, such as
an environmental liability for an operation pre-
viously disposed of, need not be assigned to a re-
porting unit. All goodwill recognized in an enti-
ty’s statement of financial position at the date
this Statement is initially applied shall be as-
signed to one or more reporting units. Goodwill
shall be assigned in a reasonable and support-
able manner. The sources of previously recog-
nized goodwill shall be considered in making
that initial assignment as well as the reporting
units to which the related acquired net assets

were assigned. The guidance in paragraphs 34
and 35 may be useful in assigning goodwill to
reporting units upon initial application of this
Statement.

x. Paragraphs 58A–58D are added as follows:

58A. At the date this Statement is initially ap-
plied, a not-for-profit entity that is predomi-
nantly supported by contributions and returns on
investments shall write off previously recog-
nized goodwill by a separate charge in the state-
ment of activities for the effect of the accounting
change. That charge shall be presented as re-
quired by paragraphs 58C and 58D.

58B. An entity that is not predominantly sup-
ported by contributions and returns on invest-
ments shall establish its reporting units on the
basis of the guidance in paragraph 54 of this
Statement, which sometimes may result in a
single reporting unit for the entire entity. After
establishing its reporting units, an entity that is
not predominantly supported by contributions
and returns on investments shall subject previ-
ously recognized goodwill in each reporting unit
to the transitional impairment evaluation re-
quired by paragraphs 55–58 of this Statement.

58C. An entity shall present a write-off of good-
will in accordance with paragraph 58A or an im-
pairment loss recognized as a result of a transi-
tional goodwill impairment evaluation, and the
related income tax effects, if any, in a separate
line item in the statement of activities. A not-for-
profit entity shall present that transitional impair-
ment loss outside a performance indicator or any
intermediate measure of operations, if one is
presented.

58D. A not-for-profit entity that reports on an
interim basis shall recognize a write-off of good-
will or a transitional impairment loss for good-
will in the first interim period regardless of the
period in which an impairment loss is measured.
Interim periods of the fiscal year that precede the
period in which the write-off of goodwill or tran-
sitional goodwill impairment loss is measured
shall be restated to reflect the accounting change
in those periods. The aggregate amount of the
accounting change shall be included in restated
changes in net assets of the first interim period of
the year of initial application (and in any year-to-
date or last-12-months-to-date financial reports
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that include the first interim period). Whenever
financial information is presented that includes
the periods that precede the period in which the
transitional goodwill impairment loss is meas-
ured, it shall be restated.

y. Paragraph 61:

In the period of initial application and thereafter
until goodwill and all other intangible assets
have been accounted for in accordance with this
Statement in all periods presented, the following
information shall be displayed either on the face
of the income statement (statement of activities)
or in the notes to the financial statements: in-
come before extraordinary items (or a similar
caption) and net income (changes in net assets)
for all periods presented adjusted to exclude am-
ortization expense (including any related tax ef-
fects) recognized in those periods related to
goodwill, intangible assets that are no longer be-
ing amortized, any deferred credit related to an
excess over cost (amortized in accordance with
Opinion 16), and equity method goodwill. The
adjusted income before extraordinary items (or a
similar caption) and net income (changes in net
assets) also shall reflect any adjustments for
changes in amortization periods for intangible
assets that will continue to be amortized as a re-
sult of initially applying this Statement (includ-
ing any related tax effects). In addition, the notes
to the financial statements shall disclose a recon-
ciliation of reported net income (changes in net
assets) to the adjusted net income (changes in
net assets). Similarly adjusted earnings-per-
share amounts for all periods presented may
be presented either on the face of the income
statement or in the notes to the financial state-
ments. Illustration 2 in Appendix C provides
an example of those transitional disclosure
requirements.

E13. FASB Statement No. 146, Accounting for
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, is
amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 2, as amended:

This Statement applies to costs associated with
an exit activity1 including exit activities associ-
ated with an entity newly acquired in a business
combination (or acquisition of a business or
nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity) or
with a disposal activity covered by FASB State-

ment No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.3 Those costs in-
clude, but are not limited to, the following:

a. Termination benefits provided to current
employees that are involuntarily terminated
under the terms of a benefit arrangement
that, in substance, is not an ongoing benefit
arrangement or an individual deferred com-
pensation contract (hereinafter referred to as
one-time termination benefits)4

b. Costs to terminate a contract that is not a
capital lease5

c. Costs to consolidate facilities or relocate
employees.

This Statement does not apply to costs associ-
ated with the retirement of a long-lived asset
covered by FASB Statement No. 143, Account-
ing for Asset Retirement Obligations.

E14. FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measure-
ments, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 2, as amended:

This Statement applies under other accounting
pronouncements1 that require or permit fair
value measurements, except as follows:

a. This Statement does not apply under ac-
counting pronouncements that address
share-based payment transactions: FASB
Statement No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-
Based Payment, and its related interpretive
accounting pronouncements that address
share-based payment transactions.

b. This Statement does not eliminate the practi-
cability exceptions to fair value measure-
ments in accounting pronouncements within
the scope of this Statement.2

c. This Statement does not apply under FASB
Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases,
and other accounting pronouncements that
address fair value measurements for pur-
poses of lease classification or measurement
under Statement 13. This scope exception
does not apply to assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed in a business combination that
are required to be measured at fair value un-
der Statement 141 or Statement 141(R), re-
gardless of whether those assets and liabili-
ties are related to leases. This scope
exception also does not apply to assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed in an acquisi-
tion of a business or nonprofit activity by a
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not-for-profit entity that are required to be
measured at fair value under FASB State-
ment No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Merg-
ers and Acquisitions, regardless of whether
those assets and liabilities are related to
leases.

E15. FASB Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling In-
terests in Consolidated Financial Statements, is
amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 2:

This Statement applies to all entities that prepare
consolidated financial statements, except not-
for-profit organizations. Not-for-profit organi-
zations shall continue to apply the guidance in
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, before the amend-
ments made by this Statement, and any other ap-
plicable standards, until the Board issues
interpretative guidance.

b. Paragraph C1:

The following amendments do not apply to not-
for-profit organizations. Not-for-profit organiza-
tions shall continue to apply ARB No. 51, Con-
solidated Financial Statements, before the
amendments made by this Statement until the
Board issues interpretive guidance.

c. Paragraph D2:

The following amendments do not apply to not-
for-profit organizations. Not-for-profit organiza-
tions shall continue to apply ARB No. 51, Con-
solidated Financial Statements, before the
amendments made by this Statement until the
Board issues interpretive guidance.

E16. FASB Interpretation No. 21, Accounting for
Leases in a Business Combination, is amended as
follows:

a. Paragraph 15, as amended, and its related foot-
note 2:

In a business combination or combination of
not-for-profit entities—that is, an acquisition of
a business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity or a merger of not-for-profit entities,
the acquiring or merged enterprise shall retain
the previous classification in accordance with

FASB Statement No. 13 for the leases of an ac-
quired or merged enterprise unless the provi-
sions of the lease are modified as indicated in
paragraph 13 above.2 (At the acquisition or
merger date, an acquirer or merged enterprise
may contemplate renegotiating and modifying
leases of the business or nonprofit activity ac-
quired. Modifications made after the acquisition
or merger date, including those that were
planned at the time of the business combination,
are postcombination events that should be ac-
counted for separately by the acquirer (or
merged not-for-profit enterprise) in accordance
with the provisions of Statement 13.) The
amounts assigned to individual assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition (or
merger) date shall be determined in accordance
with the general guides for that type of asset or
liability in FASB Statement No. 141 (revised
2007), Business Combinations, or No. 164, Not-
for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions.
Subsequent to the recording of the amounts
called for by Statement 141(R) or 164, the leases
shall thereafter be accounted for in accordance
with Statement No. 13.3 Paragraph 16 below ex-
plains the application of this paragraph to a le-
veraged lease by an enterprise that acquires a
lessor.

2If the acquired (or merged not-for-profit) enterprise has not ap-
plied FASB Statement No. 13 retroactively at the date of the
business combination, the acquiring (or merged not-for-profit)
enterprise shall classify the leases of the acquired (or merged
not-for-profit) enterprise as they would have been classified if
the acquired (or merged not-for-profit) enterprise had applied
Statement No. 13 retroactively at that date.
3FASB Statement No. 13 does not address the subsequent ac-
counting for amounts recorded for favorable or unfavorable op-
erating leases. Accordingly, present practice is not changed
with respect to the amortization of those amounts.

b. Paragraph 16, as amended:

In a business combination or combination of
not-for-profit entities—that is, an acquisition of
a business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity or a merger of not-for-profit entities,
the acquiring or merged enterprise shall apply
the following procedures to the acquired (or
merged) enterprise’s investment as a lessor in a
leveraged lease. The acquiring (or merged) en-
terprise shall retain the classification of a lever-
aged lease at the date of the combination. The
acquiring enterprise shall assign an amount to
the acquired net investment in the leveraged
lease in accordance with the general guides in
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Statement 141(R) or Statement 164, based on
the remaining future cash flows and giving
appropriate recognition to the estimated future
tax effects of those cash flows (but under State-
ment 164, a merged not-for-profit entity will use
the carryover method as specified by that State-
ment). Once determined, that net investment
shall be broken down into its component parts,
namely, net rentals receivable, estimated re-
sidual value, and unearned income including
discount to adjust other components to present
value. The acquiring or merged enterprise there-
after shall account for that investment in a lever-
aged lease in accordance with the provisions of
FASB Statement No. 13. Appendix A illustrates
the application of this paragraph.

E17. FASB Interpretation No. 26, Accounting for
Purchase of a Leased Asset by the Lessee during the
Term of the Lease, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 5, as amended:

The termination of a capital lease that results
from the purchase of a leased asset by the lessee
is not the type of transaction contemplated by
paragraph 14(c) of FASB Statement No. 13 but
rather is an integral part of the purchase of the
leased asset. The purchase by the lessee of prop-
erty under a capital lease shall be accounted for
like a renewal or extension of a capital lease that,
in turn, is classified as a capital lease,1 that is,
any difference between the purchase price and
the carrying amount of the lease obligation shall
be recorded as an adjustment of the carrying
amount of the asset. The provisions of this Inter-
pretation do not apply to leased assets acquired
in a business combination or in an acquisition of
a business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-
profit entity.

E18. FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Ac-
counting and Disclosure Requirements for Guaran-
tees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness
of Others, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 7(c), as amended:

A guarantee issued in a business combination or
an acquisition of a business or nonprofit activity
by a not-for-profit entity that represents contin-
gent considerations (as addressed in FASB
Statements No. 141 (revised 2007), Business
Combinations, and No. 164, Not-for-Profit Enti-
ties: Mergers and Acquisitions).

E19. FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 12A, as added:

The tax bases used in the calculation of deferred
tax assets and liabilities as well as amounts due
to or receivable from taxing authorities related to
prior tax positions at the date of a business com-
bination or combination of not-for-profit enti-
ties—that is, an acquisition of a business or non-
profit activity by a not-for-profit entity or a com-
bination of not-for-profit activities—shall be cal-
culated in accordance with this Interpretation.

E20. FASB Technical Bulletin 84-1, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Acquire the Results of a Research and
Development Arrangement, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 6, as amended:

When an enterprise that is or was a party to a re-
search and development arrangement acquires
the results of the research and development ar-
rangement in exchange for cash, common stock
of the enterprise, or other consideration, the
transaction is a purchase of tangible or intan-
gible assets resulting from the activities of the
research and development arrangement. Al-
though such a transaction is not a business com-
bination or acquisition of a business or nonprofit
activity by a not-for-profit organization, para-
graphs D2–D7 of FASB Statement No. 141
(revised 2007), Business Combinations, and
paragraphs A135–A140 of FASB Statement
No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and
Acquisitions, describe the general principles that
apply in recording the purchase of such an asset.

E21. FASB Staff Position FAS 157-1, Application of
FASB Statement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13
and Other Accounting Pronouncements That Ad-
dress Fair Value Measurements for Purposes of
Lease Classification or Measurement under State-
ment 13, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 1:

This FASB Staff Position (FSP) amends FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements,
to exclude FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting
for Leases, and other accounting pronounce-
ments that address fair value measurements for
purposes of lease classification or measurement
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under Statement 13. However, this scope excep-
tion does not apply to assets acquired and liabili-
ties assumed in a business combination that are
required to be measured at fair value under
FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combina-
tions, or No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Com-
binations, regardless of whether those assets and
liabilities are related to leases. This scope excep-
tion also does not apply to assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed in an acquisition of a business
or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit entity
that are required to be measured at fair value un-
der FASB Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit En-
tities: Mergers and Acquisitions, regardless of
whether those assets and liabilities are related to
leases.

E22. EITF Issue No. 02-7, “Unit of Accounting for
Testing Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible
Assets,” is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 5(b):

The unit of accounting cannot represent a group
of indefinite-lived intangible assets that collec-
tively constitute a business (or nonprofit activity
of a not-for-profit entity).

E23. EITF Issue No. 02-13, “Deferred Income Tax
Considerations in Applying the Goodwill Impair-
ment Test in FASB Statement No. 142,” is amended
as follows:

a. Paragraph 1:

Statement 142 requires goodwill to be tested for
impairment at the reporting unit level at least an-
nually using a two-step impairment test. Step 1
of the test is a screen used to identify whether a
goodwill impairment may exist. In Step 1, an
entity compares the fair value of a reporting unit
with its carrying amount. If a reporting unit’s
carrying amount exceeds its fair value, a good-
will impairment may exist. Step 2 of the test
must then be performed to measure the amount
of impairment, if any. In Step 2, an entity com-
pares the implied fair value of goodwill with its
carrying amount. An impairment loss is meas-
ured by the excess of the carrying amount of
goodwill over its implied fair value. The implied
fair value of goodwill should be determined in
the same manner that goodwill is measured in a
business combination under Statement 141(R)
or in an acquisition of a business or nonprofit

activity by a not-for-profit entity under State-
ment 164. That is, an entity must allocate the fair
value of a reporting unit to the assets and liabili-
ties of that unit (including any unrecognized in-
tangible assets) as if the reporting unit had been
acquired in a business combination or in an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity by a
not-for-profit entity and the fair value of the re-
porting unit was the price paid to acquire the re-
porting unit.

b. Paragraph 2:

Pursuant to Statement 142, all goodwill ac-
quired in a business combination or in a combi-
nation of not-for-profit entities—that is, in an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity by a
not-for-profit entity or a merger of not-for-profit
entities—must be assigned to one or more re-
porting units. In addition, an entity’s assets (ex-
cluding goodwill) and liabilities, including cor-
porate assets and liabilities, should be assigned
(or allocated) to one or more reporting units if
both of the following two criteria are met:

a. The asset will be employed in or the liability
relates to the operations of a reporting unit.

b. The asset or liability will be considered in
determining the fair value of the reporting
unit.

In the context of recognizing and measuring im-
pairment of goodwill, questions have arisen re-
garding how an entity should account for differ-
ences between the book and tax bases of assets
and liabilities (that is, deferred tax balances) in
determining (a) a reporting unit’s fair value, (b)
a reporting unit’s carrying amount, and (c) the
implied fair value of goodwill.

c. Paragraph 8:

The Task Force observed that in performing
Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test, the im-
plied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is
determined in the same manner that the amount
of goodwill recognized in a business combi-
nation accounted for in accordance with State-
ment 141(R) is determined. (This also is the
method by which the amount of goodwill recog-
nized in an acquisition of a business or nonprofit
activity by a not-for-profit entity is determined
in accordance with Statement 164.) Para-
graph 3826 of Statement 141(R) indicates that a

FAS164Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and Acquisitions

FAS164–123



deferred tax liability or asset shall be recognized
for differences between the assigned values and
the income tax bases of the recognized assets ac-
quired and liabilities assumed in a business com-
bination in accordance with paragraph 30 of
Statement 109. [Note: See STATUS section.
(Paragraph 43 of Statement 164 provides similar
guidance.) To the extent present, tax attributes
that will be transferred in the assumed tax struc-
ture, such as operating loss or tax credit carry-
forwards, should be valued consistent with
the guidance contained in paragraph 135 of
Statement 109.

E24. EITF Topic No. D-101, “Clarification of Re-
porting Unit Guidance in Paragraph 30 of FASB
Statement No. 142,” is amended as follows:

a. References to business and businesses are
amended also to refer to nonprofit activity and
nonprofit activities, respectively.

E25. AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Health
Care Organizations, is amended as follows:

a. Footnote || to the heading APB Opinion
No. 16, Business Combinations preceding
paragraph 1.50:

In June 2001, the FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 141, Business Combinations, which super-
sedes several pronouncements including APB
Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations. How-
ever, FASB Statement No. 141 does not apply to
certain combinations, including a combination
involving two or more not-for-profit organiza-
tions or the acquisition of a for-profit business
entity by a not-for-profit organization. For those
combinations, the guidance in APB Opinion
No. 16 still applies. Thus, GAAP does not
change for those types of combinations. Not-for-
profit health care organizations should continue
to follow the guidance in this guide and in APB
Opinion No. 16, as amended by pronounce-
ments prior to the issuance of FASB Statement
No. 141. Pronouncements that were amended
by FASB Statement No. 141 should be applied
by those entities as though that statement had
not amended them. In addition, in applying the
guidance included in APB Opinion No. 16, not-
for-profit health care organizations should con-
tinue to apply the amendments to that opinion
that were included in FASB Statement No. 121,
Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived

Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Dis-
posed Of, even though FASB Statement No. 121
was superseded by FASB Statement No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets. (FASB Statement No. 144
did not carry forward those amendments to APB
Opinion No. 16 because APB Opinion No. 16
had been superseded.)

In December 2007, FASB issued Statement
No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations.
The objective of FASB Statement No. 141(R) is
to improve the relevance and representative
faithfulness of an entity’s financial statements
when reporting a business combination. FASB
Statement No. 141(R) establishes the following
requirements:

1. Use the acquisition method of accounting for
all business combinations.

2. Recognize and measure goodwill acquired in
a business combination, or from a bargain
purchase.

3. Determine what information to disclose to
enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of
the combination.

FASB Statement No. 141(R) defines the key
terms associated with a business combination,
for example, acquiree. The statement also re-
quires entities to record assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed as a result of a business combi-
nation at fair value, as defined by FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measure-
ments. The effective date of FASB Statement
No. 141(R) is for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008, with early adoption
prohibited.

Also, FASB Statement No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets, is not applicable to
goodwill and other intangible assets arising from
combinations between not-for-profit organiza-
tions or arising from the acquisition of a for-
profit business entity by a not-for-profit organi-
zation until the FASB completes its deliberation
with respect to application of the purchase
method by those entities.

In May 2009, FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 164 which supersedesAPB Opinion No. 16,
Business Combinations, and provides guidance
on an acquisition of a business or nonprofit ac-
tivity by a not-for-profit entity. The guidance in
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FASB Statement No. 164 relating to combina-
tions of not-for-profit entity combinations shall
be applied prospectively to:

a. Mergers for which the merger date is on or
after the beginning of an initial reporting pe-
riod beginning on or after December 15,
2009

b. Acquisitions for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after De-
cember 15, 2009.

In addition, the guidance makes effective for
not-for-profit entities:

a. FASB Statement No. 142’s requirements
on subsequent accounting for goodwill
and other intangible assets acquired in an
acquisition

b. The amendments FASB Statement No. 160,
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements, made to ARB No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, and to
other existing pronouncements

c. The amendments Appendix D of FASB
Statement No. 164 made to ARB No. 51 on
disclosure and presentation of noncontrolling
interests

d. The amendments FASB Statement No. 141
(revised 2007), Business Combinations,
made to existing pronouncements.

Those provisions are effective for reporting peri-
ods beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

Until the effective date of the provisions of
FASB Statement No. 164, not-for-profit entities
shall continue to apply the provisions of APB
Opinion No. 16 as well as the guidance in this
guide and the guidance in other pronouncements
superseded by FASB Statement No. 141(R).
Pronouncements that were amended by FASB
Statement Nos. 141, Business Combinations,
and 141(R) should be applied as though FASB
Statement Nos. 141 and 141(R) had not
amended them. In addition, in applying the
guidance included in APB Opinion No. 16, not-
for-profit organizations should continue to apply
the amendments to that Opinion that were in-
cluded in FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting
for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, even

though FASB Statement No. 121 was super-
seded by FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.

b. Paragraph 1.50:

Because the conditions for applying the pooling
of interests method of accounting for a business
combination generally include an exchange of
common stock of the combining entities, not-
for-profit organizations generally would not
meet the conditions for applying that method.
The AICPA Accounting Standards Executive
Committee (AcSEC) believes that circum-
stances exist under which reporting on the com-
bination of two or more not-for-profit organiza-
tions (or that of a not-for-profit organization
with a formerly for-profit entity) by the pooling
of interests method better reflects the substance
of the transaction than reporting by the purchase
method. Therefore, not-for-profit organizations
are, under certain circumstances, permitted to
report by the pooling of interests method, even
though they generally do not issue common
stock. Such circumstances include the combina-
tion of two or more entities to form a new entity
without the exchange of consideration. See para-
graph 11.38 for further guidance.Not-for-profit
entities shall apply the guidance in FASB State-
ment No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers
and Acquisitions, to account for an acquisition
of a business or nonprofit activity or a merger of
not-for-profit entities.

c. Paragraph 1.51:

An example of acceptable practice, in some cir-
cumstances, for reporting business combina-
tions by not-for-profit organizations if there has
been no exchange of consideration is to report
the (a) assets, (b) liabilities, and (c) net asset bal-
ances of the combined entities as of the begin-
ning of the year and disclose the information
that would be required to be disclosed for a
pooling of interests under APB Opinion No. 16.

d. Paragraph 10.21(f), as amended:

Items that are required to be reported separately
under specialized not-for-profit standards. These
include extraordinary items and the effect of dis-
continued operations, pursuant to the provisions
of FASB Statement No. 117; a recognized inher-
ent contribution received that is temporarily or
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permanently restricted pursuant to the provi-
sions of FASB Statement No. 164; and unreal-
ized gains and losses on investments not re-
stricted by donors or by law (except for those
investments classified as trading securities) and
investment returns restricted by donors or by
law, as discussed in paragraphs 4.07–.10 of this
guide. FASB Statement No. 154, Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections—a replacement
of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement
No. 3, changed the accounting and reporting re-
quirements for changes in accounting principle.
Voluntary changes in accounting principle are
not reported as a cumulative-effect adjustment
through the income statement of the period of
change. Generally, FASB Statement No. 154 re-
quires retrospective application to prior periods’
financial statements or to the beginning of the
earliest period for which retrospective applica-
tion is practicable. Offsetting adjustments, if any,
are made to the opening balance for net assets.

e. Footnote * to the heading Business Combina-
tions preceding paragraph 11.38:

See footnote ||.In December 2007, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued
Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business
Combinations. The objective of FASB State-
ment No. 141(R) is to improve the relevance
and representative faithfulness of an entity’s fi-
nancial statements when reporting a business
combination. FASB Statement No. 141(R) es-
tablishes the following requirements:

1. Use the acquisition method of accounting for
all business combinations.

2. Recognize and measure goodwill acquired in
a business combination, or from a bargain
purchase.

3. Determine what information to disclose to
enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of
the combination.

FASB Statement No. 141(R) defines the key
terms associated with a business combination
(for example, acquiree). The statement also re-
quires entities to record assets acquired and li-
abilities assumed as a result of a business combi-
nation at fair value, as defined by FASB
Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements.

The effective date of FASB Statement
No. 141(R) is for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008, with early adoption
prohibited.

In December 2007, FASB issued Statement
No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements—an amendment of
ARB No. 51. The objective of FASB Statement
No. 160 is to improve comparability and trans-
parency of consolidated financial statements by
establishing accounting and reporting standards
that require

1. reporting of ownership interest in subsidiar-
ies held by parties other than the parent be
clearly identified, labeled, and presented in
the consolidated balance sheet within equity
but separate from the parent’s equity.

2. consolidated net income should clearly iden-
tify the portion of income attributable to the
parent and the noncontrolling interest on the
face of the income statement.

3. changes in ownership interest should be ac-
counted for consistently.

4. when a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any re-
tained noncontrolling equity investment in
the former subsidiary should be measured at
fair value.

5. entities should provide all appropriate disclo-
sures to distinguish between interest of the
parent and the interests of the noncontrolling
owners.

FASB Statement No. 160 is effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
Early adoption is prohibited. FASB Statement
No. 160 should be applied prospectively as of
the beginning of the fiscal year in which the
statement is initially adopted. Presentation and
disclosure requirements shall be applied retro-
spectively for all periods presented.

f. Paragraph 11.38 and its related footnotes:

As discussed in paragraph 11.01, the dynamics
of change in the health care industry have re-
sulted in increased business combinations as
new organizational structures are being formed.
Not-for-profit entities shall apply the guidance in
FASB Statement No. 164 to account for an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity or a
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merger of not-for-profit entities.FASB State-
ment No. 141 addresses financial accounting
and reporting for business combinations. FASB
Statement No. 141 prescribes the use of the pur-
chase method for those business combinations.
FASB Statement No. 141, however, does not ap-
ply to certain combinations, including a combi-
nation involving 2 or more not-for-profit organi-
zations, or the acquisition of a for-profit business

by a not-for-profit organization. For those com-
binations, the guidance in APB Opinions Nos.
16 and 17, Intangible Assets, still apply and pro-
vides a useful framework when evaluating simi-
lar transactions entered into by not-for-profit
health care business organizations.fn# A list of
possible factors to be considered when evaluat-
ing these transactions in relation to APB Opin-
ion No. 16 is summarized as follows:

See paragraphs 1.50–.51 for additional guidance
regarding the application of APB Opinion
No. 16 to not-for-profit organizations. Also see
footnote † in the section “APB Opinion No. 16,
Business Combinations” in chapter 1 in this
guide regarding pronouncements that were su-
perseded by FASB Statement No. 141, includ-
ing APB Opinion No. 16.

#On October 9, 2006, the FASB issued an exposure draft of a
proposed FASB statement, Not-for-Profit Organizations:
Mergers and Acquisitions, which would eliminate the use of the
pooling-of-interests method of accounting by not-for-profit or-
ganizations and would require that they apply the acquisition
method to any merger or acquisition. The acquisition method
would require a not-for-profit organization to identify the ac-
quirer, recognize the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed that compose the business or nonprofit activity ac-
quired at their fair values as of the acquisition date (with certain
exceptions), and recognize either goodwill or the contribution
inherent in the transaction. The proposed FASB Statement
would amend APB Opinion Nos. 16 and 29, Accounting for
Nonmonetary Transactions, and FASB Statement Nos. 116,
Accounting for Contributions Received and Contributions
Made, and 117, Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organi-
zations. Concurrently, the FASB also issued an exposure draft
of a proposed FASB statement, Not-for-Profit Organizations:
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets Acquired in a Merger or
Acquisition, which would amend FASB Statement No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, to provide guidance to
not-for-profit organizations for testing goodwill for impairment
and applying FASB Statement No. 142’s provisions (as
amended) to identified intangible assets recognized as the result
of a merger or acquisition. Readers should be alert to the issu-
ance of final standards.
27FASB Statement No. 141 supersedes AICPAAccounting In-
terpretation No. 39 of APB Opinion No. 16. Appendix D of
FASB Statement No. 141 carries forward without reconsidera-
tion guidance in APB Opinion No. 16 and an interpretation that
has been used in past practice to account for transfers of net as-
sets or exchanges of shares between entities under common
control. Paragraph D12 of FASB Statement No. 141 discusses
the accounting for a transfer of assets or exchange of shares be-
tween entities under common control.

E26. AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Not-for-
Profit Organizations, is amended as follows:

a. Footnotes NIS and BCR to paragraph 1.11:

NIS In December 2007, FASB issued FASB
Statement No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements—an amend-
ment of ARB No. 51, which establishes account-
ing and reporting standards for the noncontrol-
ling interest in a subsidiary (sometimes called
minority interests) and for the deconsolidation
of a subsidiary. Neither FASB Statement
No. 160 nor its amendments to ARB No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, APB Opin-
ion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting
for Investments in Common Stock, and No. 29,
Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,
FASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Re-
porting by Insurance Enterprises, No. 89, Fi-
nancial Reporting and Changing Prices,
No. 128, Earnings per Share, No. 130, Report-
ing Comprehensive Income, and No. 142, Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets, FASB Inter-
pretation No. 37, Accounting for Translation
Adjustments upon Sale of Part of an Investment
in a Foreign Entity—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 52, and No. 46(R), Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities (revised December
2003)—an interpretation of ARB No. 51, AICPA
Accounting Interpretation No. 1, AICPA
SOP 04-2, Accounting for Real Estate Time-
Sharing Transactions (AICPA, Technical Prac-
tice Aids, ACC sec. 10,910), and to several EITF
issues, apply to not-for-profit organizations. In
May 2009, FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Mergers and
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Acquisitions. That Statement makes the provi-
sions of FASB Statement No. 160 and its
amendments to ARB No. 51, Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements, and other authoritative guid-
ance applicable to not-for-profit entities for re-
porting periods beginning after December 15,
2009. Until the effective date of FASB State-
ment No. 164, Nnot-for-profit organizations
should continue to apply the guidance in Ac-
counting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, before
the amendments made by FASB Statement
No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements—an amendment of
ARB No. 51, SOP 94-3, Reporting of Related
Entities by Not-for-Profit Organizations
(AICPA, Technical Practice Aids, ACC sec.
10,610), and other applicable standards, until
FASB issues interpretative guidance. FASB
Statement No. 160 is effective for fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2006. Ear-
lier adoption is prohibited.

BCR In December 2007, FASB issued FASB
Statement No. 141 (revised 2007), Business
Combinations, which replaces FASB Statement
No. 141, Business Combinations. Like its prede-
cessor, FASB Statement No. 141(R) is not appli-
cable to combinations between not-for-profit or-
ganizations or the acquisition of a for-profit
business by a not-for-profit organization. The
nullifications or amendments to other standards
made by FASB Statement No. 141(R) also are
not applicable to not-for-profit organizations.
Thus, not-for-profit organizations should con-
tinue to apply FASB Statement No. 72, Ac-
counting for Certain Acquisitions of Banking or
Thrift Institutions—an amendment of APB
Opinion No. 17, an interpretation of APB Opin-
ions 16 and 17, and an amendment of FASB In-
terpretation No. 9, and No. 147, Acquisitions of
Certain Financial Institutions—an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 72 and 144 and FASB
Interpretation No. 9, and FASB Interpretation
No. 4, Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to
Business Combinations Accounted for by the
Purchase Method—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 2, and No. 9, Applying APB
Opinions No. 16 and 17 When a Savings and
Loan Association or a Similar Institution is Ac-
quired in a Business Combination Accounted for
by the Purchase Method—an interpretation of
APB Opinions No. 16 and 17, as indicated in
paragraphs 1.24–.28 of this guide. Not-for-profit

organizations also should continue to apply the
following standards as indicated in para-
graphs 1.24–.28 of this guide without regard to
the amendments made by FASB Statement
No. 141(R): ARB No. 43, Restatement and Re-
vision of Accounting Research Bulletins, APB
Opinion No. 14, Accounting for Convertible
Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase War-
rants, No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting
for Investments in Common Stock, No. 28, In-
terim Financial Reporting, No. 29, Accounting
for Nonmonetary Transactions, and No. 30, Re-
porting the Results of Operations Reporting the
Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,
and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions, FASB
Statement No. 2, Accounting for Research and
Development Costs, No. 5, Accounting for Con-
tingencies, No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and
Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings,
No. 45, Accounting for Franchise Fee Revenue,
No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation, No. 60,
No. 68, Research and Development Arrange-
ments, No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of Com-
puter Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed, No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions, No. 97, Accounting and Reporting by
Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-
Duration Contracts and for Realized Gains and
Losses from the Sale of Investments, No. 106,
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Ben-
efits Other Than Pensions, No. 109, Accounting
for Income Taxes, No. 113, Accounting and Re-
porting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and
Long-Duration Contracts, No. 120, Accounting
and Reporting by Mutual Life Insurance Enter-
prises and by Insurance Enterprises for Certain
Long-Duration Participating Contracts—an
amendment of FASB Statements 60, 97, and 113
and Interpretation No. 40, No. 123(R), Share-
Based Payment, No. 133, Accounting for De-
rivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,
No. 142, No. 144, Accounting for the Impair-
ment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, No. 146,
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities, No. 150, Accounting for
Certain Financial Instruments with Character-
istics of both Liabilities and Equity, and No. 154,
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—a
replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB
Statement No. 3, and FASB Interpretation
No. 21, Accounting for Leases in a Business
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Combination—an interpretation of FASB State-
ment No. 13, No. 26, Accounting for Purchase
of a Leased Asset by the Lessee during the Term
of the Lease—an interpretation of FASB State-
ment No. 13, No. 46(R), and No. 48, Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpre-
tation of FASB Statement No. 109. In addition,
the amendments made by FASB Statement
No. 141(R) to FASB Technical Bulletin 84-1,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Acquire the Re-
sults of a Research and Development Arrange-
ment, SOP 78-9, Accounting for Investments in
Real Estate Ventures (AICPA, Technical Prac-
tice Aids, ACC sec. 10,240), SOP 90-7, Finan-
cial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Un-
der the Bankruptcy Code (AICPA, Technical
Practice Aids, ACC sec. 10,460), SOP 93-6,
Employers’ Accounting for Employee Stock
Ownership Plans (AICPA, Technical Practice
Aids, ACC sec. 10,580), SOP 96-1, Environ-
mental Remediation Liabilities (AICPA, Techni-
cal Practice Aids, ACC sec. 10,680), SOP 00-3,
Accounting by Insurance Enterprises for Demu-
tualizations and Formations of Mutual Insur-
ance Holding Companies and for Certain Long-
Duration Participating Contracts (AICPA,
Technical Practice Aids, ACC sec. 10,810),
SOP 01-6, Accounting by Certain Entities (In-
cluding Entities With Trade Receivables) That
Lend to or Finance the Activities of Others
(AICPA, Technical Practice Aids, ACC sec.
10,850), SOP 03-3, Accounting for Certain
Loans or Debt Securities Acquired in a Transfer
(AICPA, Technical Practice Aids, ACC sec.
10,880), and SOP 05-1, Accounting by Insur-
ance Enterprises for Deferred Acquisition Costs
in Connection With Modifications or Exchanges
of Insurance Contracts (AICPA, Technical
Practice Aids, ACC sec. 10,920), and AICPA
Practice Bulletin No. 4, Accounting for Foreign
Debt/Equity Swaps (AICPA, Technical Practice
Aids, PB sec. 12,040), Practice Bulletin No. 6,
Amortization of Discounts on Certain Acquired
Loans (AICPA, Technical Practice Aids, PB sec.
12,060), and Practice Bulletin No. 14, Account-
ing and Reporting by Limited Liability Compa-
nies and Limited Liability Partnerships (AICPA,
Technical Practice Aids, PB sec. 12,140), do not
apply to not-for-profit organizations, nor do the
changes made by Statement No. 141(R) to

FASB Technical Bulletin 85-5, Issues Relating
to Accounting for Business Combinations, FSP
FAS No. 141-1 and 142-1, Interaction of FASB
Statements No. 141 and No. 142 and EITF Issue
No. 04-2, and Practice Bulletin No. 11, Account-
ing for Preconfirmation Contingencies in Fresh-
Start Reporting (AICPA, Technical Practice
Aids, PB sec. 12,110), many EITF Issue consen-
suses, and several responses in the FASB Staff
Q&A on FASB Statement No. 109.

b. Footnotes * and MAA to the heading APB
Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations pre-
ceding paragraph 1.15:

*In June 2001, FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 141 which supersedes several pronounce-
ments including APB Opinion No. 16. In De-
cember 2007, FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 141(R), which replaces FASB Statement
No. 141. However, neither FASB Statement
No. 141 nor its replacement, FASB Statement
No. 141(R), applies to combinations of two or
more not-for-profit organizations or the acquisi-
tion of a for-profit business entity by a not-for-
profit organization. Thus, GAAP does not
change for those types of combinations. Not-for-
profit organizations should continue to follow
the guidance in this guide and in APB Opinion
No. 16 as amended by pronouncements prior to
the issuance of FASB Statement No. 141, as
well as the guidance in the other pronounce-
ments superseded by FASB Statement Nos. 141
and 141(R). Pronouncements that were
amended by FASB Statement Nos. 141 and
141(R) should be applied as though Statement
Nos. 141 and 141(R) had not amended them. In
addition, in applying the guidance included in
APB Opinion No. 16, not-for-profit organiza-
tions should continue to apply the amendments
to that Opinion that were included in FASB
Statement No. 121, Accounting for the Impair-
ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of, even though FASB
Statement No. 121 was superseded by FASB
Statement No. 144. (FASB Statement No. 144
did not carry forward the amendments to APB
Opinion No. 16 because APB Opinion No. 16
had been superseded.) For additional guidance,
refer to footnotes BCR and NIS in this chapter.
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In May 2009, FASB issued FASB Statement
No. 164 which supersedes APB Opinion No. 16
and provides guidance on an acquisition of a
business or nonprofit activity by a not-for-profit
entity. The guidance in the Statement relating to
combinations of not-for-profit entity combina-
tions shall be applied prospectively to:

a. Mergers for which the merger date is on or
after the beginning of an initial reporting pe-
riod beginning on or after December 15,
2009

b. Acquisitions for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after De-
cember 15, 2009.

In addition, the guidance makes effective for
not-for-profit entities:

a. The requirements of FASB Statement
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, on subsequent accounting for good-
will and other intangible assets acquired in an
acquisition

b. The amendments FASB Statement No. 160
made to ARB No. 51 and to other existing
pronouncements

c. The amendments Appendix D of FASB
Statement No. 164 made to ARB No. 51 on
disclosure and presentation of noncontrolling
interests

d. The amendments FASB Statement No. 141
(revised 2007), Business Combinations,
made to existing pronouncements.

Those provisions are effective for reporting peri-
ods beginning on or after December 15, 2009.

Until the effective date of the provisions of
FASB Statement No. 164, not-for-profit entities
shall continue to apply the provisions of APB
Opinion No. 16 as well as the guidance in this
guide and the guidance in other pronouncements
superseded by FASB Statement No. 141(R).
Pronouncements that were amended by FASB
Statement Nos. 141, Business Combinations,
and 141(R) should be applied as though FASB
Statement Nos. 141 and 141(R) had not
amended them. In addition, in applying the
guidance included in APB Opinion No. 16, not-
for-profit organizations should continue to apply
the amendments to that Opinion that were in-
cluded in FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting

for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, even
though FASB Statement No. 121 was super-
seded by FASB Statement No. 144, Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.

MAA On October 9, 2006, FASB issued an ex-
posure draft of a proposed FASB statement, Not-
for-Profit Organizations: Mergers and Acquisi-
tions, which would eliminate the use of the
pooling-of-interests method of accounting by
not-for-profit organizations and would require
that they apply the acquisition method to any
merger or acquisition. The acquisition method
would require a not-for-profit organization to
identify the acquirer, recognize the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed that com-
pose the business or nonprofit activity acquired
at their fair values as of the acquisition date
(with certain exceptions), and recognize either
goodwill or the contribution inherent in the
transaction. The proposed FASB statement
would amend APB Opinion No. 16, Business
Combinations, and No. 29 and FASB Statement
Nos. 116 and 117. Concurrently, FASB also is-
sued an exposure draft of a proposed FASB
statement, Not-for-Profit Organizations: Good-
will and Other Intangible Assets Acquired in a
Merger or Acquisition, which would amend
FASB Statement No. 142 to provide guidance to
not-for-profit organizations for testing goodwill
for impairment and applying FASB Statement
No. 142’s provisions (as amended) to identified
intangible assets recognized as the result of a
merger or acquisition. Readers should be alert to
the issuance of final standards.

c. Paragraph 1.15:

Because the conditions for applying the pooling
of interests method of accounting for a business
combination generally include an exchange of
common stock of the combining entities, not-
for-profit organizations generally would not
meet the conditions for applying that method.
The AICPA Accounting Standards Executive
Committee (AcSEC) believes that circum-
stances exist under which reporting on the com-
bination of two or more not-for-profit organiza-
tions (or that of a not-for-profit organization
with a formerly for-profit entity) by the pooling
of interests method better reflects the substance
of the transaction than reporting by the purchase
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method. Therefore, not-for-profit organizations
are, under certain circumstances, permitted to
report by the pooling of interests method, even
though they generally do not issue common
stock. Such circumstances include the combina-
tion of two or more entities to form a new entity
without the exchange of consideration.Not-for-
profit entities shall apply the guidance in FASB
Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities:
Mergers and Acquisitions, to account for an ac-
quisition of a business or nonprofit activity or a
merger of not-for-profit entities.

d. Paragraph 1.16:

An example of acceptable practice, in some cir-
cumstances, for reporting business combina-
tions by not-for-profit organizations if there has
been no exchange of consideration is to report
the (a) assets, (b) liabilities, and (c) net asset bal-
ances of the combined entities as of the begin-
ning of the year and disclose the information
that would be required to be disclosed for a
pooling of interests under APB Opinion No. 16,
Business Combinations.
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